The University of Maine DigitalCommons@UMaine

Electronic Theses and Dissertations

Fogler Library

8-2008

The Effect of Wild Blueberries on Endothelium-Dependent Vasodilation in Spontaneously Hypertensive Rats

Aleksandra S. Kristo

Follow this and additional works at: http://digitalcommons.library.umaine.edu/etd Part of the <u>Food Science Commons</u>

Recommended Citation

Kristo, Aleksandra S., "The Effect of Wild Blueberries on Endothelium-Dependent Vasodilation in Spontaneously Hypertensive Rats" (2008). *Electronic Theses and Dissertations*. 79. http://digitalcommons.library.umaine.edu/etd/79

This Open-Access Thesis is brought to you for free and open access by DigitalCommons@UMaine. It has been accepted for inclusion in Electronic Theses and Dissertations by an authorized administrator of DigitalCommons@UMaine.

THE EFFECT OF WILD BLUEBERRIES ON ENDOTHELIUM-DEPENDENT VASODILATION IN SPONTANEOUSLY HYPERTENSIVE RATS

By

Aleksandra S. Kristo

B.S. Harokopio University of Athens, Greece, 2004

A THESIS

Submitted in Partial Fulfillment of the

Requirements of the Degree of

Master of Science

(in Food Science and Human Nutrition)

The Graduate School

The University of Maine

August, 2008

Advisory Committee:

Dorothy J. Klimis-Zacas, PhD, Professor of Clinical Nutrition, Advisor

Anastasia Z. Kalea, PhD, Postdoctoral Research Scientist

Dale A. Schuschke, PhD, Professor of Physiology and Biophysics

Mary E. Rumpho, PhD, Professor of Biochemistry

Rodney J. Bushway, PhD, Chair and Professor of Food Science and Human Nutrition

THE EFFECT OF WILD BLUEBERRIES ON ENDOTHELIUM-DEPENDENT VASODILATION IN SPONTANEOUSLY HYPERTENSIVE RATS

By Aleksandra S. Kristo

Thesis Advisor: Dr. Dorothy Klimis-Zacas

An Abstract of the Thesis Presented in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree of Master of Science (in Food Science and Human Nutrition) August, 2008

The effect of wild blueberries on major endothelium-dependent vasodilation pathways and arterial blood pressure (BP) was examined in the young adult Spontaneously Hypertensive rat (SHR), used as a model of endothelial dysfunction, and the Wistar Kyoto (WK) rat, with functional endothelium, used as the control. Male SHR and WK rats were fed a control (SHR-C and WK-C), or a wild blueberry-enriched (SHR-B and WK-B) diet for nine weeks. By the age of 21 weeks, thoracic aortae were excised and 3mm arterial rings were prepared and immersed in Radnoti tissue baths. Rings were precontractred with phenylephrine (Phe) (10⁻⁶M), followed by cumulative acetylcholine (Ach) doses (10⁻⁹M to 3x10⁻⁶M) to generate dose-response curves in the absence or in the presence of either a nitric oxide synthase (NOS) inhibitor (L-NMMA at 10⁻⁴M), a cyclooxygenase (COX) inhibitor (MFA at 10⁻⁵M) or both inhibitors added simultaneously. The maximum Ach-induced vasodilation force (Fmax) and vessel sensitivity (pD₂) were determined for each treatment group.

A two-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) demonstrated no significant difference in the Fmax between the WK-B and WK-C groups. However, wild blueberries were found to reduce the pD₂ in response to Ach in the young adult WK rat (WK-B: 7.41 \pm 0.02 vs. WK-C 7.49 \pm 0.02, p≤0.05, n=9). In the young adult SHR, wild blueberries were shown to reduce Fmax in response to Ach (SHR-B: 92.13 \pm 0.56 vs. SHR-C: 94.63 \pm 0.56, p≤0.05, n=10). This effect is mediated by the COX pathway, as shown by the increased Fmax in response to Ach with the COXpathway inhibition (SHR-B: 102.17 \pm 0.57 vs. SHR-C: 97.76 \pm 0.57, p≤0.05, n=10). Furthermore, wild blueberries were shown to increase the pD₂ of the young adult SHR aorta, when COX and NO pathways were inhibited separately, SHR-B: 7.72 \pm 0.02 vs. SHR-C: 7.63 \pm 0.02, p≤0.05, n=10, and SHR-B: 7.17 \pm 0.02 vs. SHR-C: 7.04 \pm 0.02, p≤0.05, n=10, respectively. Finally, wild blueberries did not have a significant effect on the systolic, diastolic or mean arterial BP in either strain.

Hence, the effect of wild blueberries on vasodilation depends on the physiological state of the aorta (functional vs. dysfunctional endothelium), as shown by the differential effect upon the functional endothelium of WK rat and dysfunctional endothelium of SHR. It is possible that the beneficial effect of wild blueberries on Ach-induced vasodilation may be masked by the high activity of COX-derived vasoconstrictor factors in the SHR model of endothelial dysfunction. Additionally, the effect of wild blueberries on vasodilation is not associated with blood pressure in the young adult SHR and WK rat.

Further studies are required to determine whether these observations are modelspecific or reflect a general effect of wild blueberries on vasodilation during endothelial dysfunction.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

First and foremost, I would like to express my deepest and sincerest gratitude to my advisor and mentor, Dr. Klimis-Zacas, for her precious guidance and unique insight during the last two years, but also for her continuous support, generosity and kindness. I would also like to thank my advisory committee, Dr. Kalea, Dr. Schuschke, Dr. Bushway and Dr. Rumpho for their input, advice and thorough review of my thesis. Special thanks to Dr. Kalea (Natassa), for the initial training in vascular ring experiments, her warm welcome in Orono, her continuous support and friendship, and to Dr. Schuschke and Sharon Gordon at the University of Louisville, for their training in the blood pressure experiments. I would also like to extend a special thank you to Dr. Bushway for his support and genuine interest in my progress, and to Dr. Rumpho, also my instructor in BMB 464, for making my first lab course in the graduate school a unique learning experience and a smooth transition to the challenges of graduate school. Many thanks to the faculty, staff and students of the Department of Food Science and Human Nutrition for their kindness, support and encouragement. Special thanks to Judy Polyot, the administrator of our department for resolving practical issues related to my research project.

I have the special privilege of being a Greek State Scholarship Foundation (IKY) recipient for the last two years and I could only be deeply indebted to IKY for supporting financially my graduate studies in the US. I wouldn't be able to pursue my higher academic goals without the benevolence of this institution. Moreover,

ij

receiving support from my home country has strengthened my motivation for greater achievements.

I would also like to thank the Wild Blueberry Commission for enabling my research in this fascinating area, and the Graduate Student Government for also funding part of this project and supporting the first presentation of my work in Experimental Biology 2008 Meeting.

Last, but not least, I would like to express my immense gratitude to my family, Spiro, Marika, Stela and Georgia, and to all my friends, for their love, care, and belief in me, for being the greatest source of inspiration and for giving meaning and beauty to my life.

iii

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	ⁱⁱ
LIST OF TABLES	viii
LIST OF FIGURES	ix
CHAPTER 1 INTRODUCTION	1
CHAPTER 2 LITERATURE REVIEW	4
2.1. Cardiovascular Disease and Endothelial Dysfunction	4
2.1.1. Endothelial Function	4
2.1.1.1. Vasodilators	5
2.1.1.2. Vasoconstrictors	11
2.1.2. Endothelial Dysfunction	12
2.1.2.1. Spontaneously Hypertensive Rat as a	
Model of Endothelial Dysfunction	15
2.1.2.2. Endothelial Dysfunction in	
Essential Hypertension	21
2.2. Wild Blueberry Composition and Bioactive Components	24
2.3. Flavonoids	26
2.3.1. Flavonoid Structure	26
2.3.2. Dietary Intake of Flavonoids	30
2.3.3. Flavonoid Absorption, Metabolism and Bioavailability	31
2.3.4. Flavonoids and Cardiovascular Health	36
2.3.5. Flavonoids and Vasomotor Function	42

TABLE OF CONTENTS

CHAPTER 3 METHODS AND MATERIALS	49
3.1. Animal Models	49
3.2. Animal Diet Composition	50
3.3. Drugs and Solutions	52
3.4. Aortic Ring Preparation	52
3.5. Experimental Design	53
3.5.1. Physiological Assessment of Arterial Functional	
Properties	53
3.5.1.1. Vasodilation in the Absence of Inhibitors	54
3.5.1.2. Vasodilation in the Presence of Inhibitors	54
3.5.2. Blood Pressure Measurement	56
3.6. Statistical Analysis	
CHAPTER 4 RESULTS	58
4. 1. Wistar Kyoto Rats	58
4.1.1. Rat Growth and Weight	58
4.1.2. Effect of Diet on Maximum Vasodilation Force (Fmax)	59
4.1.3. Effect of Inhibitors on Maximum Vasodilation Force	
(Fmax)	60
4.1.4. Effect of Diet on Vasodilation Force, Ach Dose-Respons	e
Curves	61
4.1.5. Effect of Diet on Vessel Sensitivity (pD ₂)	64

4.2. Spontaneously Hypertensive Rats	66
4.2.1. Rat Growth and Weight	_66
4.2.2. Effect of Diet on Maximum Vasodilation Force (Fmax)	67
4.2.3. Effect of Inhibitors on Maximum Vasodilation Force	
(Fmax)	68
4.2.4. Effect of Diet on Vasodilation Force, Ach Dose-Response	
Curves	69
4.2.5. Effect of Diet on Vessel Sensitivity (pD ₂)	72
4.3. Blood pressure (BP)	74
CHAPTER 5 DISCUSSION	.77
5.1. Summary of Results	77
5.2. Wistar Kyoto Rats	79
5.2.1. Effect of Wild Blueberries on Endothelium-Dependent	
Vasodilation in Response to Ach	79
5.2.2. Vessel Reactivity	.83
5.3. Spontaneously Hypertensive Rats	85
5.3.1. Effect of Wild blueberries on Endothelium-Dependent	
Vasodilation in Response to Ach	85
5.3.2. Vessel Reactivity	91
5.4. Blood Pressure	92
5.5. Limitations and Future Recommendations	97
5.6. Significance	.98

BIBLIOGRAPHY	
APPENDIX Arterial Functional Property Experiments	
BIOGRAPHY OF THE AUTHOR	122

LIST OF TABLES

Table 2.1. Flavonoid Content of Blueberries	26
Table 2.2. Chemical Structure of the Major Blueberry Anthocyanins	29
Table 3.1. Diet Composition	51
Table 3.2. Experimental Parameters	56
Table 4.1. Effect of Diet on the Fmax in the Absence or Presence of Inhibitors	\$
in the WK Rats	59
Table 4.2. Effect of Diet on the pD_2 of WK Rat Aorta in the Absence	
and Presence of Inhibitors	65
Table 4.3. Effect of Diet on the Fmax in the Absence or Presence of Inhibitor	s
in the SHRs	67
Table 4.4. Effect of Diet on the pD_2 of SHR Aorta in the Absence and	
Presence of Inhibitors	73
Table 4.5. Effect of Diet on the Systolic, Diastolic and Mean Arterial BP in	
the WK Rats	76
Table 4.6. Effect of Diet on the Systolic, Diastolic and Mean Arterial BP in	
the SHRs	76

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 2.1. Basic Flavonoid Structure	26
Figure 2.2. Basic Anthocyanin Structure	28
Figure 3.1. Vascular Ring Study Experimental Design	55
Figure 3.2. Two Ach Dose-Response Curves	55
Figure 4.1. Growth Rate of WK Rats	58
Figure 4.2. Effect of Diet on the Fmax in the Absence or Presence of Inhib	oitors
in the WK Rats	60
Figure 4.3. Fmax in the Absence or Presence of Inhibitors in the WK Rats	61
Figure 4.4. Ach Dose-Response Curve in the Absence of Inhibitors in the	WK
Rat Aorta	62
Figure 4.5. Ach Dose-Response Curve in the Presence of MFA in the WK	
Rat Aorta	62
Figure 4.6. Ach Dose-Response Curve in the Presence of L-NMMA in the	
WK Rat Aorta	63
Figure 4.7. Ach Dose-Response Curve in the Presence of both MFA and	
L-NMMA in the WK Rat Aorta	64
Figure 4.8. Effect of Diet on the pD_2 of WK Rat Aorta in the Absence or	
Presence of Inhibitors	65
Figure 4.9. Growth Rate of SHRs	66
Figure 4.10. Effect of Diet on the Fmax in the Absence or Presence of	
Inhibitors in the SHRs	68
Figure 4.11. Fmax in the Absence or Presence of Inhibitors in the SHRs	69

Figure 4.12. Ach Dose-Response Curve in the Absence of Inhibitors in the	
SHR Aorta	70
Figure 4.13. Ach Dose-Response Curve in the Presence of MFA in the	
SHR Aorta	71
Figure 4.14. Ach Dose-Response Curve in the Presence of L-NMMA in the	
SHR Aorta	71
Figure 4.15. Ach Dose-Response Curve in the Presence of both MFA and	
L-NMMA in SHR Aorta	72
Figure 4.16. Effect of Diet on pD_2 of SHR Aorta in the Absence or	
Presence of Inhibitors	73
Figure 4.17. Systolic, Diastolic and Mean Arterial BP in WK-C and SHR-C	75
Figure 4.18. Systolic, Diastolic and Mean Arterial BP in WK-B and SHR-B	78

.

CHAPTER 1

INTRODUCTION

Cardiovascular disease (CVD) claims more lives each year than cancer, chronic lower respiratory diseases, accidents, and diabetes mellitus combined, with one in three American adults having one or more types of CVD. Furthermore, the economic impact of CVD is not to be ignored; only for 2007, the estimated direct and indirect cost of CVD was \$431.8 billion (Rosamond *et al.*, 2007). In patients with all types of CVD, including coronary heart disease (CHD), peripheral arterial disease, chronic heart failure, and stroke, the vascular endothelium is the primary site of dysfunction (Brown *et al.*, 2001).

Since abnormal endothelial function is an early marker of CVD, the endothelium appears to be an ideal target for preventive therapy. Emerging evidence suggests the important role dietary factors play in modulating endothelial function in patients at risk and those with existing CVD. Various dietary components are hypothesized to influence CVD risk; antioxidants and flavonoids in particular, are favorably associated with vascular health (Brown *et al.*, 2001).

Blueberries contain anthocyanins, polyphenols and flavonoids and have the highest antioxidant capacity among tested fruits and vegetables (Prior *et al.*, 1998). Previous studies conducted in our laboratory demonstrated the positive effect of wild blueberries on endothelial function. In a study using young male normotensive Sprague-Dawley (SD) rats, wild blueberries incorporated into the diet, affected the vascular smooth muscle contractile machinery by suppressing the α -1 adrenergic receptor-agonist-mediated contraction through an

endothelium-dependent pathway (Norton *et al.*, 2005). In another study, wild blueberry consumption altered the structure of the extracellular matrix (EC) of male SD rat aortas, by increasing the concentration of glycosaminoglycans (GAGs) and decreasing the sulfation of all GAG type molecules, suggesting a possible effect of wild blueberries on endothelial and vascular smooth muscle signal transduction pathways (Kalea *et al.*, 2005). In addition, results of a more recent study suggested that wild blueberries affected the endothelium-dependent vasodilation of rat aorta by modulating cell membrane-agonist interactions in response to acetylcholine (Ach) in both young male SD rats and spontaneously hypertensive rats (SHR). Wild blueberries affected the endothelial-dependent vasodilation in SHR aorta most likely, by modulating a key pathway of endothelial function, the cyclooxygenase (COX) pathway (Clark, 2007).

In the proposed research, the effect of wild blueberries on endotheliumdependent vasodilation will be further investigated in **young adult** male SHRs and their normotensive control, the Wistar Kyoto (WK) rats.

The *goal* of this project is to study the effect of wild blueberries on the aortic functional properties of **young adult** hypertensive (SHRs) and normotensive (WK) rats, and to further investigate the mechanism(s) by which wild blueberries exert their action on the endothelium-mediated vasodilation of rat aorta.

The *objectives* are to determine:

1. whether wild blueberries affect Ach-induced endothelium-mediated vasodilation in young adult, 21 weeks of age, SHR and WK rats, and

2. the mechanisms of wild blueberry action on the COX and nitric oxide (NO) pathways by the use of COX and NO synthase (NOS) inhibitors, mefenamic acid (MFA) and L-NG-mono-methyl (L-NMMA) respectively, and

3. to determine the effect of wild blueberries on blood pressure (BP) regulation This study is unique, because it is the first *ex vivo* dietary study to date that attempts to elucidate the effect of wild blueberries on endothelial function in **young adult** hypertensive and normotensive animals and probe their mechanisms of action on the COX and NO pathways. The SHRs will be utilized as a model of endothelial dysfunction that by the age of 21 weeks has developed full-blown hypertension. The WK rat will be used as a model of functional endothelium (control). Results from this project will further clarify the relationship between endothelial dysfunction and CVD and determine the potential use of wild blueberries on CVD prevention and/or therapy.

CHAPTER 2

LITERATURE REVIEW

2.1. Cardiovascular Disease and Endothelial Dysfunction

2.1.1. Endothelial Function

After the discovery of Furchgott and Zawadzki that Ach requires the presence of endothelial cells to elicit vasodilation (Furchgott and Zawadzki, 1980), the endothelial cell layer has gained all the more greater appreciation. The endothelium is now considered an indispensable organ that regulates the vascular tone and maintains the vascular homeostasis in a paracrine, endocrine and autocrine fashion. A healthy endothelium promotes vasodilation and also has antioxidant, anti-inflammatory, anticoagulant and profibrinolytic properties. Additionally, leukocyte adhesion and migration, as well as vascular smooth muscle cell (VSMC) proliferation and migration are inhibited by the endothelium under normal physiological conditions (Bonetti *et al.*, 2003).

The endothelium, located in the interface off the vessel wall and the blood stream, releases substances that regulate vasomotor function, trigger inflammatory processes and affect vascular homeostasis, in response to pressure, shear force or vasoactive factors (Endemann and Schiffrin, 2004).

The endothelium contributes to the physiological regulation of vasomotor control through maintaining equilibrium in releasing endothelium-derived relaxing factors (EDRF) and endothelium-derived contracting factors (EDCF). The EDRF such as nitric oxide (NO), prostacyclin or prostaglandin I_2 (PGI₂) and endothelium-derived hyperpolarizing factor (EDHF) counteract the effect of the EDCF, such as

endothelin-1 (ET-1), thromboxane A_2 (TXA₂) and prostaglandin H_2 (PGH₂) in maintaining a physiological vascular tone (Vanhoutte, 2003). Two major biochemical pathways of the endothelium that determine the vascular tone are the NO synthesis pathway and the COX pathway, which generates both vasodilator and vasoconstrictor prostanoids via the metabolic conversion of arachidonic acid (AA) (Moncada and Higgs, 2006).

2.1.1.1. Vasodilators

The principal vasodilatory substance released by the endothelial cells is NO, a free radical molecule, which was discovered to be a potent vasodilator (Vallance et al., 1989). At the vascular level, NO, which is chemically equivalent to EDRF (discovered by Furghott and Zawadski, 1980), mediates endothelium-dependent relaxation of vascular smooth muscle (Ignarro et al., 1987; Palmer et al., 1987). Nitric oxide is a key signaling molecule in physiological and pathological processes; both NO and its reactive nitrogen species products are implicated in all aspects of normal and disease conditions (Mollace et al., 2005). Nitric oxide is formed in the endothelial cells from the guanine-nitrogen terminal of L-arginine, by the constitutive endothelial NOS (eNOS, NOS III) via an oxidative reaction that yields NO and citrulline. Endothelial NOS is Ca²⁺-calmodulin-dependent, i.e. its activation depends on the intracellular concentration of calcium ions in the endothelial cell. The activity of the enzyme requires cofactors such as nicotinamide-adenine-dinucleotide phosphate (NADPH) and 5.6.7.8-tetrahydrobiopterin (BH₄). Endothelial NO synthase can be inhibited competitively by

L-arginine analogues such as N^G-monomethyl-L-arginine (L-NMMA) or N^G-nitro -L-arginine (Vanhoutte, 2003). The identification of L-NMMA as an inhibitor of the synthesis of NO provided the most important pharmacological tool for investigating the presence and roles of NO in biological systems (Rees *et al.*, 1989).

Nitric oxide generation via the NOS pathway does not occur solely in the vascular wall, indicating the biological significance of NO molecule in other systems as well. So far, NO has been primarily studied with regard to cardiovascular, nervous, and the immune system. There are three major isoforms of NOS, originally named after the tissues in which they were first identified: two calcium/calmodulin dependent; constitutive isoforms, eNOS and neuronal NOS (nNOS, NOS I), and calcium-independent, inducible NOS (iNOS, NOS II), which is expressed in macrophages and other tissues following immunological stimulation (Moncada and Higgs, 2006).

It is now well established that eNOS is important for cardiovascular homeostasis, vessel remodeling, and angiogenesis. Endothelial NOS cellular location favors high local concentrations of NO in the vicinity of circulating blood cells and vascular smooth muscle (Fulton *et al.*, 2001).

Nitric oxide is a major vasodilator in large arteries such as the coronary, systemic, mesenteric, pulmonary and cerebral arteries, indicated by the finding that NOS inhibition results in vasoconstriction and an increase in systemic arterial pressure in both animals and humans (Vanhoutte, 2003).

Besides the fundamental role in vasodilation, NO inhibits VSMC growth, platelet and leukocyte adhesion to the endothelium, and prevents the production of the vasoconstrictor ET-1 (Vanhoutte, 2003).

Physical and humoral stimuli regulate NO production. The shear stress exerted by blood flow on the endothelial cell is one of the main factors that determines the local release of NO and thereby the flow-dependent vasodilation (Vanhoutte, 2003). The endogenous substances that stimulate the release of NO include catecholamines, vasopressin, bradykinin, histamine, serotonin or adenosine diphosphate (ADP) released by aggregating platelets, or thrombin, formed during blood coagulation (Vanhoutte, 2003). These hormones and autocoids, activate endothelial cell membrane receptors, coupled to different G-proteins, to induce NO generation (Vanhoutte, 2003). Once synthesized, NO diffuses to the VSMC and induces its relaxation via a cascade of events that starts with activation the cytosolic enzyme soluble guanylate cyclase (sGC). Soluble GC catalyzes the production of cyclic 3, 5-guanosine monophosphate (cGMP). Cytosolic Ca²⁺ removal from the cell and inhibition of the contractile apparatus follows the activation of a cGMP-dependent protein kinase G. The action of protein kinase G has direct influence on the phosphorylation of gap junctions and activity of potassium and calcium channels. Phosphorylation of potassium channels causes K⁺ outflow from the cell, while phosphorylated calcium channels decrease Ca²⁺ influx. Calcium release from calmodulin, due to the reduced cytoplasmic Ca²⁺concentration, leads to dephosphorylation of myosin light chain, which prevents

myosin head binding to actin and thereby produces relaxation of smooth muscle (Lincoln *et al.*, 1994).

In contrast, iNOS is calcium independent and once expressed produces NO in large amounts for a prolonged period of time (Nathan, 1992). Inducible NOS is thought to mediate the vast majority of pathological effects attributed to NO, having a fundamental role in the inflammatory process (Mollace *et al.*, 2005).

Another important vasodilator secreted by the endothelium is PGI₂, a major product of arachidonic acid (AA) metabolism (Moncada et al., 1979). Cyclooxygenase or prostaglandin endoperoxide synthase (PGHS) is the key enzyme of AA conversion into prostanoids that starts with AA release from the cell membrane phospholipids under the action of phospholipase A₂ (PLA₂), followed by its conversion, first into the cyclic endoperoxide prostaglandin G₂ (PGG_2) and subsequently into the endoperoxide prostaglandin H₂ (PGH₂), with both steps catalyzed by COX. These unstable intermediate products of AA metabolism are rapidly converted into the biologically active prostaglandins PGD₂, PGE₂, PGF_{2a}, PGI₂ and TxA₂ via specific synthases (Mollace et al., 2005). Two distinct COX enzymes have been identified to date, COX-1, the constitutive form found in virtually all organs, and COX-2, the inducible form detected under inflammatory conditions in various cells (Mollace et al., 2005). The ubiquitous COX-1 has clear physiological functions. Basal COX-1 activation is responsible for PGI₂ production and therefore the vasodilatory, antithrombotic and cytoprotective effect of this prostanoid (Moncada et al., 1976). In contrast, COX-2 is induced by proinflammatory cytokines and growth factors and expressed in

many cells during inflammatory processes (e.g. macrophages, monocytes, fibroblasts (Mollace *et al.*, 2005).

Prostacyclin was first described as an EDRF in 1979 (Moncada et al., 1979). The vasodilation and inhibition of platelet aggregation induced by PGI₂ are correlated with an activation of the adenylyl cyclase (AC), leading to a rise in intracellular cyclic adenosine monophosphate (cAMP) (Moncada et al., 1987). The vasorelaxing effect of prostacyclin is determined by the specific VSMC relaxant prostacyclin receptors (IP), which mediate an increase in cAMP. Cyclic AMP induces vascular smooth muscle relaxation by reducing intracellular Ca²⁺ levels and inhibiting of myosin light chain kinase (MLCK), the enzyme that phosphorylates myosin and induces contraction (Narumyia et al., 1999). The effect of NO and PGI₂ in VSMC relaxation appears to be connected. The increase of both cGMP and cAMP induces VSMC relaxation by reducing intracellular Ca2+ concentrations (Lincoln et al., 1990). Cyclic GMP has been proposed to enhance the accumulation of cAMP, due to the cGMP-mediated inhibition of phosphodiesterase enzyme which degrades cAMP (Maurice et al., 1991). The above mechanism also mediates the NO and PGI₂ interaction for the inhibition of platelet aggregation, with the cGMP promoting cAMP accumulation in the platelets (Maurice and Haslam, 1990).

Prostaglandin E_2 (PGE₂) is another vasodilatory factor which produces smooth muscle relaxation through interaction with the EP₂ and EP₄ relaxant prostanoid receptors that are responsible for cAMP increase (Narumiya *et al.*, 1999).

Yet, another factor that contributes to the endothelium-dependent relaxation causing hyperpolarization in response to Ach and other vasodilators is the endothelium-derived hyperpolarizing factor (EDHF), a diffusible substance, different from NO and PGI₂. The exact nature of EDHF still remains to be determined, while several candidates such as epoxyeicosatrienoic acids (EETs), potassium ions and hydrogen peroxide have been proposed (Feletou and Vanhoutte, 2000).

Accumulating evidence indicates that a constant cross-talk occurs in the endothelium between NO and prostanoids. Produced at low levels, NO appears to regulate the COX pathway towards COX-derived vasodilator release (Salvemini et al., 1996). There is also an indirect relationship between NO and prostanoids in the VSMC, due to the interaction of cAMP with cGMP in the phosphodiesterase pathway (Delpy et al., 1996). Under normal physiological conditions, the basal release of NO and PGs by constitutive NOS and COX respectively, has been shown to protect against vascular diseases via enhanced vasodilation and antiplatelet activity (Mollace et al., 2005). The increase in endogenous NO following treatment with L-arginine may enhance the vasodilator PG level. Moreover, the enhanced release of NO may compensate for the attenuation of prostacyclin production that follows COX-inhibition. Contrastingly, the vasodilator PGs seem to have no capacity to modulate NO (Vassale et al., 2003). However, in the presence of reduced NO availability, alternative pathways, including hyperpolarization, account for endothelium-dependent vasodilation (Taddei et al., 1999).

2.1.1.2. Vasoconstrictors

The role of the endothelium in vascular tone regulation, besides relaxing factors, entails the generation of vasoconstricting factors (Furghott and Vanhoutte, 1989). These vasoconstricting factors include AA metabolites such as TXA₂ and PGH₂, reactive oxygen species (ROS), ET-1 and angiotensin II (Heymes et al., 2000). The first observations of endothelium-dependent contractions were made in canine arteries, where AA and thrombin, which are endothelium-dependent dilators in isolated arteries, potentiated endothelium-dependent contraction mediated by a1-adrenoreceptor agonist. This endothelium-mediated response was attributed to the release of a diffusible factor(s) named EDCF (De Mey and Vanhoutte, 1982). Incubation of canine veins with COX inhibitors could prevent the endothelium-dependent contractions in response to catecholamines (Miller and Vanhoutte, 1985). Inhibitors of COX were also shown to prevent endothelium-dependent contractions or to normalize endothelium-dependent relaxations in various arterial preparations (Katusic et al., 1988; Luscher and Vanhoutte, 1986; Miyamoto et al., 1999), leading to the conclusion that COX product(s) play a key role in the EDCF-mediated responses (Vanhoutte et al., 2005).

Cyclooxygenase mediated contractions so far are attributed to oxygen free radicals, mainly superoxide anions (O_2^-), generated by the hydroperoxidase activity of the enzyme, and prostanoids such as TXA₂ or PGH₂ (Vanhoutte *et al.*, 2005). These vasoconstrictor prostanoids act through activating the endoperoxides/ thromboxane receptors (Narumyia *et al.*, 1999). While

prostanoids act exclusively as direct vasoconstrictors, oxygen free radicals have a direct vasoconstricting effect, possibly via PGH₂ receptors, but also act indirectly by compromising NO bioavailability (Taddei *et al.*, 2003).

Endothelin is a potent vasoconstrictor released by the endothelium to oppose the vasodilatory effect of NO. Endothelin contribution to vascular tone is mediated by the endothelin receptors ETA and ETB, which trigger the phosphatidylinositol pathway and thereby Ca²⁺ release from intracellular stores and vasoconstriction (Marasciulo *et al.*, 2006). Under physiological conditions ET-1 is highly regulated via inhibition or stimulation from endothelium. Factors such as shear stress or thrombin, epinephrine, angiotensin II and free radicals enhance ET-1 release, whereas mediators such as NO, PGI₂ and cGMP attenuate ET-1 generation. However, with endothelial dysfunction and the subsequent decrease in NO bioavailability, ET-1 synthesis, release or activity is relatively augmented (Marasciulo *et al.*, 2006).

Overall, vascular homeostasis depends on the balance of the bioactive factors released by the endothelium. A dysfunction of the endothelial cell disrupts this balance and leads to so called endothelial dysfunction (Verma and Anderson, 2002).

2.1.2. Endothelial Dysfunction

Endothelial dysfunction is a condition characterized by a shift in the actions of the endothelium toward reduced vasodilation, proinflammatory conditions and prothrombotic properties. It is associated with most forms of CVD, such as

hypertension, coronary heart disease, chronic heart failure, peripheral heart disease, diabetes and chronic renal failure (Endeman and Schiffrin, 2004). Endothelial dysfunction, presenting a systemic nature, plays a major role in the development and progress of the atherosclerotic processes (Bonetti *et al.*, 2003). Endothelial dysfunction constitutes an independent predictor of cardiovascular events (Vita and Keaney, 2002), by predisposing the vessel wall to vasoconstriction, leukocyte adherence, platelet activation, mitogenesis, oxidative stress, thrombosis, impaired coagulation, inflammation and development of atherosclerotic lesions (Verma and Anderson, 2002).

The dysfunction of the endothelial cells is evidenced by impairment in endothelium-dependent relaxation, mainly due to a reduced release of EDRF, and NO in particular, although EDCF production may also contribute (Vanhoutte, 2003). Nitric oxide reduction and the subsequent endothelial dysfunction seem to precede any other evidence of CVD in humans with a family history of atherosclerosis risk factors such as essential hypertension (Moncada and Higgs, 2006). Reduced activity of eNOS due to endogenous or exogenous inhibition, reduced L-arginine availability and reactive species that attenuate NO bioavailability, adversely affect NO levels (Endeman and Schiffrin, 2004). Nitric oxide has been shown to regulate the synthesis of prostanoid vasodilators such as PGI₂, as well as vasoconstrictor prostanoids. Changes of vasodilator to vasoconstrictor ratio are important for the development of vascular dysfunction (Shimokawa, 1999).

Endothelial dysfunction accompanied by the increased production of vasoconstrictor seems to play a key role in the progression of CVD (Vanhoutte et al., 2005). Both animal and human data so far, suggest that the production of COX-dependent EDCF is a major mechanism that leads to an impaired availability of NO, at least in age-related or essential hypertension (Vanhoutte et al., 2005). Additionally, increased vascular ROS play an important role in the process leading to endothelial dysfunction (Cai and Harrison, 2000). For instance, ROS generated by COX, reduce the biological activity of NO directly and indirectly by contributing to lipid peroxidation, products of which might also decrease NO synthesis and bioavailability (Keaney and Vita, 1995; Sherman et al., 2000). Major predisposing conditions to atherosclerosis present an increased vascular superoxide production (Cai and Harrison, 2000). Enzymes such as nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide phosphate (NADPH) oxidase and xanthine oxidase have been implicated in the superoxide generation in the vasculature, especially under pathological conditions that trigger a greater activity and expression of these enzymes (Cai and Harrision, 2000). Another source of O₂⁻ in the vasculature is the vascular cytochrome P₄₅₀ enzymes. Inhibition of these enzymes appears to improve endothelium-dependent vasodilation mediated by NO in patients with coronary heart disease (Cai and Harrision, 2000).

The activity of NO is deteriorated through the formation of peroxynitrite anion (ONOO⁻), generated by the reaction of O_2^- with NO (Landmesser *et al.*, 2004). Peroxynitrite anion is a powerful oxidant species implicated in established clinical conditions such as hypercholesterolemia, diabetes and coronary heart disease

(Greenacre and Ischiropoulos, 2001). In such disorders an increased ROS formation is observed in blood vessels. Treatment with antioxidants enhances endothelium dependent-vasodilation in the forearm and the coronary circulation of individuals with coronary artery disease and diabetes (Moncada and Higgs, 2006). Moreover, peroxynitrite leads to degradation of the eNOS cofactor, BH₄ and therefore eNOS "uncoupling". The "uncoupling" of eNOS is the process of activation of the reductase function of the enzyme leading to ROS formation (Landmesser *et al.*, 2003), reported to occur in several pathological conditions such as diabetes, hypercholesterolemia and hypertension (Cai and Harrison, 2000; Moncada, 2006). Additionally, ONOO⁻ plays an important role in regulating the COX pathway enzymes. It can increase both COX-1 and COX-2 activity, modify AA yielding PGF₂-like compounds with powerful vasoconstrictor effects and also attenuate PGl₂ production (Mollace *et al.*, 2005).

In general, a reduced level of vasodilators, mainly NO, combined with an increased vasoconstrictor activity, attributed to both COX-derived vasoconstrictor prostanoids and ROS, disrupts the homeostasis of endothelial cell and lead to an impairment of the endothelium dependent relaxations, which is a basic feature of endothelial dysfunction.

2.1.2.1. Spontaneously Hypertensive Rat as a Model of Endothelial Dysfunction

The SHR has been broadly used as a model of essential hypertension and endothelial dysfunction not only in pharmacological studies (Luscher and

Vanhoutte, 1986; Xiao and Pang, 1994; Yang et al., 2002), but in dietary studies as well (Duarte et al., 2001; Machha et al., 2005; Rodriguez-Iturbe et al., 2003). The strain of SHRs was developed in 1963 from outbred WK rats (Okamoto and Aoki, 1963). The SHR develops hypertension spontaneously with no exception at the age of 7 to 15 weeks. The systolic blood pressure (BP) plateaus at approximately 200 mmHg (Yamori, 1984). The age of 10 weeks in SHR is considered as the early hypertensive stage, with a systolic BP at approximately 170 mmHg (Tanase et al., 1982). The increased peripheral vascular resistance of the SHR is mostly determined by neurogenic mechanisms related to a disorder of central BP regulation. Structural changes in the vasculature of SHR, due to the increased BP and neurogenic tone, contribute to the maintenance of the hypertension. In the SHR, VSMCs seem to be genetically predisposed to hyperplastic growth and β -adrenergic stimulation (Yamori, 1984). Additionally, SHRs present increased levels of noraderanline, but not of total catecholamines (Grobecker et al., 1975), as well as an abnormal electrolyte balance (Dietz et al., 1984). In the SHR, environmental and dietary factors can influence the degree of hypertension (Yamori, 1984). Caloric restriction has been observed to lower BP (Young et al., 1978), while a high salt diet seems to increase systolic BP (Adams and Blizard, 1991).

The endothelial dysfunction and the high BP in the SHR is also attributed to decreased NO availability, enhanced oxidative stress and an overall increased formation of COX-derived EDCF that lead to inhibition of endothelium-dependent vasodilation (Vanhoutte, 2003). The pharmacological concentrations of Ach

(3x10⁻⁷ to 3x10⁻⁵M) can cause endothelium dependent contraction in the aorta of the SHR, but not in the normotensive rats, suggesting an impaired production and/or diminished bioavailability of NO in essential hypertension (Luscher and Vanhoutte, 1986). Endothelial NOS activity seems to be preserved, and even increased in the SHR, probably as a compensatory mechanism for the increased BP (Xiao and Pang, 1994). However, the NO bioavailability is attenuated; further so due to an increased superoxide generation by NADPH. Therefore, the endothelium-dependent vasodilation is impaired in the SHR (Zalba *et al.*, 2001, a). The reduced NO bioavailability amplifies the endothelium-dependent contractions (Yang *et al.*, 2002; 2003).

Product(s) of COX pathway play a key role in vasoconstriction, since the COX inhibitor indomethacin seems to normalize endothelium-dependent relaxations in the aorta of the SHR (Luscher and Vanhoutte, 1986; Ito *et al.*, 1991). Preferential inhibitors of COX-1, but not of COX-2 prevented the endothelium-dependent contractions to Ach (Ge *et al.*, 1995; Yang *et al.*, 2002). The constitutive isoform of COX is responsible for the blunted endothelium-dependent relaxation to Ach in the SHR aorta, suggested by the finding that COX-1 expression was significantly greater in the aorta of adult SHRs than in that of normotensive WK controls (Ge *et al.*, 1995). Although indomethacin cancelled the Ach-induced endothelium-dependent contraction in the SHR, TXA₂ synthase selective inhibition, did not modulate endothelium dependent contraction, suggesting that some AA product(s), other than TXA₂, are responsible for the vascular contractions in the SHR (Luscher and Vanhoutte, 1986). The COX-derived EDCF could be the

unstable endoperoxides that produce contraction by stimulating the TXA₂/PGH₂ receptors on the VSMC, since the inhibition of TP receptors was shown to improve to some extent the vasodilation in the SHR (Luscher and Vanhoutte, 1986). Prostacyclin has been also implicated, at least in part, in the endothelium-dependent contractions induced by Ach in the SHR aorta. This particular effect of PGI₂ in the SHR seems to be mediated through the activation of TP receptors in the VSMC (Gluais *et al.*, 2005). Prostacyclin, acting as a vasoconstrictor, was also found to be the main culprit for the endothelial dysfunction in the SHR aorta treated with aldosterone. In the same study, other prostanoids were also involved in the aldosterone-induced endothelial dysfunction in the WK rat (Blanco-Rivero *et al.*, 2005).

Besides prostanoids, COX-derived ROS seem to contribute to the pathogenesis of endothelial dysfunction in experimental hypertension (Katusic and Vanhoutte, 1989; Yang *et al.*, 2002). The increased O_2^- , may mediate Ach-induced endothelium-dependent contractions and endothelial dysfunction in the SHR (Kerr *et al.*, 1999; Yang *et al.*, 2002; Cuzocrea *et al.*, 2004). Superoxide anions can stimulate COX-1 to convert AA into endoperoxides, which activate TP-receptors of the vascular smooth muscle. A greater activity of COX-1 and a greater TP-receptor response are both required for endothelium-dependent contractions (Ge *et al.*, 1995; 1999).

The endothelium-dependent contractions can be depressed by scavenging or depleting superoxide anions (Yang *et al.*, 2002; 2003). Furthermore, anti-oxidant

dietary treatment has been shown to improve endothelial function in the SHR (Maccha and Mustafa, 2005; Rodriguez-Iturbe et al., 2003; Ulker et al., 2003). An important factor that determines the impaired vasodilation and the progression of endothelial dysfunction in the SHR is age. In SHR younger than 14 weeks, the endothelium-mediated vasorelaxation seems to be similar to normotensive rats of the same age. Hence young SHRs can be considered as normotensive before full development of hypertension (Cappelli-Bigazzi et al., 1997). The aging effect on the old SHR and WK rat aorta is reflected through various changes in the endothelium and smooth muscle as well. While in the young adult SHR (12 to 14 weeks), PGH₂ accounts for the reduced endotheliumdependent relaxation, in old (72 weeks) WK rat and SHR, reduced NO levels, due to either impaired formation or increased inactivation, seem to be involved (Kung and Luscher, 1995). Age, does not seem to affect contractions of ET-1 in the WK rat, whereas the response is diminished in 72 week vs. 12 week-old SHR (Kung and Luscher 1995). In 30-week adult SHRs, the reduced NO availability induced by NADPH superoxide production seems to play a critical role in the impaired endothelial function in comparison with the 14-week old SHR (Zalba et al., 2001, b). Furthermore, in one year old SHR, PGI₂ released by Ach was shown to act as a contracting and not a relaxing factor (Gluais et al., 2005), probably due to a decreased response of the IP receptor. In the aorta of older than 15-week WK or SHR, IP receptor agonists cannot evoke relaxations (Levy, 1980; Rapoport and Williams, 1996). The expression of the IP receptor decreases with age, but in the SHR the receptor is less expressed than in the

WK rat at any age (Numaguchi et al., 1999). The endothelium-dependent contraction in response to Phe is increased, whereas the endothelium-dependent relaxation is reduced in aging SHR (12 weeks vs. 16 months). Alterations in the sGC-NO pathway are involved in the age-related changes in vascular contractions and relaxations. However, long-term treatment with vitamins E and C or tempol, a superoxide dismutase (SOD) mimetic, was shown to partially reverse the age-related inhibition of vascular relaxation (Payne et al., 2003). Acetylcholine-mediated vasorelaxation, even after treatment with a non-selective COX inhibitor, did not differ significantly among WK rats and SHR between 3 to 6 months of age, while the release of COX-dependent vasoconstrictors occurred only in vessels of aged (12 to 25 months) normotensive or SHR animals and in response to higher concentrations of Ach (Koga et al., 1989). Treatment with simvastatin, an inhibitor of the rate-limiting enzyme in the cholesterol biosynthesis, was associated with reduced COX-1, but not COX-2 expression in the aorta from aged WK rat and SHR. The capacity of the aged aorta to release COX-2-derived vasoconstrictors was reduced, whereas PGI₂ release was not altered with the simvastatin treatment (de Sotomayor et al., 2005). In support of the above finding, COX-1 expression was significantly increased in aortas of the older WK rats and SHRs (Ge et al., 1995; 1999).

Therefore, the aging process in the SHR is characterized by a further deterioration of endothelial dysfunction, adversely affecting NO bioavailability and shifting the COX pathway effect on vasomotion towards an increased vasoconstrictor and a reduced vasodilator activity.

Despite the complexity of the endothelial defects of the SHR, this animal model is considered suitable to study endothelial dysfunction and essential hypertension, due to the great similarity the SHR shows with humans with essential hypertension.

2.1.2.2. Endothelial Dysfunction in Essential Hypertension

Essential or primary hypertension is a multifactorial and complex disease not well-understood so far. However, a strong association of essential hypertension with endothelial dysfunction has been documented (John and Schmieder, 2000). Similar to experimental hypertension, endothelium NO-dependent vasodilation is impaired in human hypertension as well. Administration of L-arginine can increase the vasodilating effect of Ach in normotensive patients, but not in essential hypertensive patients (Taddei et al., 1997). In addition L-NMMA can blunt the response to Ach in normotensive, but not in hypertensive patients (Panza et al., 1995). Endothelial dysfunction is attributable not only to a defect in the L-arginine-NO pathway (Taddei et al., 1997), but to the production of COXdependent EDCF(s) as well (Taddei et al., 1998). In essential hypertensive patients, the vasodilation to Ach is blunted and not affected by inhibition of NO synthase (Dohi et al., 1990). However, indomethacin was shown to increase and almost normalize the vasodilator response to Ach in these patients (Taddei et al., 1998). These findings demonstrate that in essential human hypertension, vasoconstrictor products of COX are mainly responsible for the abnormal reaction to endothelium-dependent vasodilators (Vanhoutte et al., 2005).

However, the production of COX-derived EDCF(s) may not be implicated in all forms of hypertension since COX inhibitors were shown to improve vasodilation in human subjects with essential hypertension, but not in secondary forms of hypertension (Taddei and Salvetti, 2002).

Oxidative stress seems to account for the impaired NO availability that characterizes the endothelial dysfunction associated with human essential hypertension. The antioxidant vitamin C was shown to improve the endothelium-dependent vasodilation by restoring NO availability in the forearm microcirculation of essential hypertensive patients (Taddei *et al.*, 1998).

The impaired endothelium-dependent vasodilation in essential hypertension may not necessarily be a causal mechanism responsible for the development or maintenance of increased BP. Available evidence seems to indicate dissociation between the degree of endothelial dysfunction and arterial BP values (John and Schmieder, 2000). Impaired endothelium-dependent vasodilation appears to be at least partially genetically pre-determined (Rossi *et al.*, 2003). Moreover it seems that there is no correlation between BP values and endotheliumdependent vasodilation (Panza *et al.*, 1993). Finally, BP reduction per se is not associated with improvement of endothelium-dependent vasodilation (Panza *et al.*, 1993; Taddei and Salvetti, 2002). Therefore, endothelial dysfunction, although associated with essential hypertension, may not be related to hemodynamic load.

On the other hand, endothelial dysfunction is not specific to essential hypertension, but commonly observed in connection with the major
cardiovascular risk factors (Vita *et al.*, 1990; Taddei and Salvetti, 2002). The exact relationship between endothelial dysfunction and cardiovascular events in essential hypertension patients remains to be elucidated (Taddei *et al.*, 2003). Independent of essential hypertension, a continuous impairment of the endothelium occurs with age. In normotensive human subjects a defect in the NO pathway seems to be the main cause of age-related endothelium dysfunction as EDCF contribution is minimal up to 60 years of age. Above the age of 60, EDCF seems to participate in the process, while the defect on the NO pathway is aggravated (Taddei *et al.*, 1997). In contrast, the contribution of COX-derived vasoconstrictors to the endothelium impairment starts at an earlier age (31-45 years) and increases even more with age in humans with essential hypertension (Taddei *et al.*, 1997).

Vitamin C and indomethacin improved Ach-induced vasodilation in normotensive humans above the age of 60 years, indicating that COX-derived ROS contribute to the EDCF-mediated endothelium responses in aging and hypertension (Taddei *et al.*, 2001). The aging blood vessel wall is characterized by the production of COX-derived EDCF, but essential hypertension causes an earlier onset and a greater progress of the dysfunctional endothelium (Vahoutte *et al.*, 2005). Decreased NO synthesis was also shown in aged human umbilical vein endothelial cells (HUVECs), where upregulation of eNOS expression induced by shear stress was impaired. Furthermore, aging of the endothelial cells resulted in enhanced apoptosis due to the loss of eNOS expression (Hoffmann *et al.*, 2001).

Overall, a progressive reduced expression and activity of eNOS, as well as increased release of ROS and COX-derived contracting prostanoids alters the equilibrium between vasorelaxing and vasoconstricting endothelium-derived factors and results in the age-related endothelial dysfunction (Matz and Andriantsitohaina, 2003).

2.2. Wild Blueberry Composition and Bioactive Components

Wild blueberries (*Vaccinium angustifolium*) have exhibited one of the highest recorded *in vitro* antioxidant capacity among various fruits and vegetables tested (Prior *et al.*, 1998). Also, the wild blueberry has a higher *in vitro* antioxidant capacity than the cultivated highbush blueberry (*Vaccinium corymbosum*) (Kalt *et al.*, 2001). Consumption of blueberries has been associated with an increase of total serum anthocyanins and serum antioxidant status in human subjects (Mazza *et al.*, 2002; Kay and Holub, 2002). Prior *et al.* (1998) confirmed a direct relationship between the total oxygen radical absorbance capacity (ORAC) and the total phenolic content of several *Vaccinium* species *in vitro* (Prior *et al.*, 1998). The ORAC assay is a method developed to quantify the total antioxidant activity of a biological sample (Cao *et al.*, 1993).

Anthocyanins are among the most abundant flavonoids in wild blueberries (Kalt and McDonald, 1996). Five major anthocyanins were identified in the lowbush blueberry: malvidin, delphinidin, cyanidin, petunidin and peonidin (Table 2.1). Anthocyanins in wild blueberry are found as 3-glucosides, 3-galactosides and 3arabinosides (Gao and Mazza, 1995). Chlorogenic acid is the major phenolic

acid in lowbush blueberries, while other major organic acids include citric, malic and quinic acids (Kalt and McDonald, 1996). The major flavonols detected in blueberries are quercetin and myricetin (Hakkinen et al., 1999) (Table 2.1). Wild blueberries also contain proanthocyanins, which are higher molecular weight tannin components, shown to inhibit the initiation stage of chemically induced carcinogenesis (Smith et al., 2000). The stilbene compound resveratrol is also found in lowbush blueberries (863 ng/g dry weight) (Rimando et al., 2004). According to Bushway et al. (1983), wild blueberries contain a variety of vitamins and minerals. A 100g wet weight portion of wild blueberries offers approximately 7, 3, 2, 11 and 2% of the dietary reference intake (DRI) for niacin, riboflavin, thiamin, vitamin C and A respectively. With regards to mineral composition, the eleven elements of blueberries are calcium, potassium, magnesium, phosphorus, aluminium, boron, copper, iron, manganese, sodium and zinc. The DRI for these minerals are 3% or less, with the exception of manganese, which is found in wild blueberry composition at levels of 50-100% of the DRI, making them an excellent source of manganese (Bushway et al., 1983).

In humans, the daily intake of the total antioxidants from fruit and vegetables was significantly correlated with the fasting plasma antioxidant capacity (ORAC) (Cao *et al.*, 1998). Since wild blueberries are relatively low in antioxidant vitamins and minerals (Bushway *et al.*, 1983), their *in vitro* antioxidant capacity has been attributed to their high concentration of phenolic compounds, particularly anthocyanins (Kalt *et al.*, 1999; Prior *et al.*, 1998; Smith *et al.*, 2000).

Anthocyanidins	Malvidin	49.21	
	Delphinidin	29.54	
	Cyanidin	15.02	
	Petunidin	11.73	
	Peonidin	7.05	
Flavonols	Quercetin	3.11	
	Myricetin	0.82	

Table 2.1. Flavonoid Content of Blueberries

Adapted from USDA database for the flavonoid content of selected foods, 2003 (mg/100 g edible portion)

2.3. Flavonoids

2.3.1. Flavonoid Structure

Flavonoids comprise the most common and widely distributed group of the polyphenolic compounds that occur naturally in plants. The common structure of flavonoids consists of two aromatic benzene rings (A and B ring) linked through a three carbon oxygenated heterocycle (C ring) (Figure 2.1) (Bravo, 1998).

Figure 2.1. Basic Flavonoid Structure (flavan nucleus)



(Adapted from Erdman et al., 2007)

Variations in the heterocyclic ring C account for the different classes of flavonoids, namely flavonols, flavones, catechins (flavan-3-ols), flavanones, anthocyanidins and isoflavonoids. Additionally, the basic structure of the flavonoid molecule allows for a wide range of substitutions in the benzene rings, A and B, within each class of flavonoids: phenolic hydroxyls, O-sugars, methoxy

groups, sulfates and glucorunides (Hollman and Katan, 1999). The hydroxyl groups of all rings are potential sites for linkage to carbohydrates. Flavonoids that have at least one sugar molecule comprise the flavonoid glycosides, whereas those that are not bound to a sugar molecule are called aglycones. Attachment of acetyl and malonyl groups to the sugar conjugates further increases the structural complexity of the flavonoids (Beecher, 2003). The most common form of flavonoids found in plants is the glycoside derivatives (Bravo, 1998). Glucose is the most typical glycosidic unit; other sugar units include glucorhamnose, galactose, arabinose and rhamnose (Cook and Samman, 1996).

The chemical structure of flavonoids affects their metabolism and biological activity (Heim *et al.*, 2002). Sugar molecules or other functional groups attached to the basic flavonoid structure or flavan nucleus affect flavonoid absorption and metabolism (Hollman and Katan, 1999). The radical scavenging and chelating activities are influenced by the number, position and types of substitution molecules of the basic flavan nucleus (Heim *et al.*, 2002).

The antioxidant activity of flavonoids is mainly attributed to the presence of phenolic hydroxyl groups (Kandaswami and Middleton, 1994). The B-ring hydroxyl group in particular is the most significant factor for ROS scavenging ability. Additionally, the resonance of electrons between the A and B rings is an important determinant of antioxidant and other biological activities of flavonoids (Burda and Oleszek, 2001). Recent findings suggest that the structural features required for antioxidant activity may be unrelated to those needed for anti-inflammatory activity of compounds such as guercetin and related flavonoids

(Loke *et al.*, 2008). The 2,3 double bond of the C-ring is essential for leukotriene inhibitory activity (Loke *et al.*, 2008), as well as inhibition of adhesion molecule expression in endothelial cells (Lotito and Frei, 2006) whereas the absence of the C-3 hydroxyl group significantly reduces antioxidant properties (Loke *et al.*, 2008).

Anthocyanins are distinguished from other flavonoids as a separate class due to their ability to form flavylium cations (Prior *et al.*, 2006) (Figure 2.2).

Figure 2.2. Basic Anthocyanin Structure (flavylium cation)



(Adapted from Prior et al., 2006)

Anthocyanins (Greek: anthos = flower and kyanos = blue), are the water soluble colorful compounds that provide the red, purple and blue colors of many vegetables and fruits. The structural variations of anthocyanins stem from differences in the number of hydroxyl groups, the degree of methylation of these hydroxyl groups, the nature and the number of the sugar moiety attached to the phenolic (aglycone) molecule and the position of attachment, and finally the nature and the number of aliphatic or aromatic acids attached to the sugars (Kong *et al.*, 2003) (Table 2.2). The basic anthocyanin structure is comprised of the aglycone part, named anthocyanidin, and a sugar moiety mainly attached at the 3-position on the C-ring or the 5, 7-position on the A-ring (Prior *et al.*, 2006).

Position/	3	5	6	7	3'	4'	5'
Anthocyanin							
Cyanidin	OH	OH	Н	OH	OH	OH	Н
Delphinidin	OH	OH	Н	OH	OH	OH	OH
Malvidin	ОН	OH	Н	OH	OMe	OH	OMe
Peonidin	OH	OH	Н	OH	OMe	OH	Н
Petunidin	OH	ОН	Н	OH	OMe	ОН	OH

 Table 2.2. Chemical Structure of the Major Blueberry Anthocyanins

Adapted from Kong et al., 2003

OH: hydroxyl; H: hydrogen; OMe: methyl

Glucose, galactose, arabinose, rhamnose and xylose are the most common sugars linked to the anthocyanidins as mono-, di- or tri-saccharide forms. Among the 17 anthocyanidins found in nature, the six most widely distributed are cyanidin (Cy), delphinidin (Dp), petunidin (Pt), peonidin (Pn), pelargonidin (Pg) and malvidin (Mv) (Prior *et al.*, 2006).

In comparison with other flavonoid compounds anthocyanins show a more complex biochemistry. In aqueous solutions anthocyanins occur in a dynamic equilibrium of four different molecular forms (flavylium cation, quinoidal base, hemiacetal base and chalcone), the amounts of which vary according to solution, pH and structure of the anthocyanins. Anthocyanins exist in the stable flavylium cation form only when the pH < 2. This unique feature is a key factor that affects absorption, bioavailability, metabolism, and therefore the biological activity of anthocyanins (Prior *et al.*, 2006).

The biological effects of anthocyanins are determined by their structural characteristics. Delphinidin and cyanidin, but not pelargonidin, peonidin or malvidin, inhibit lipopolysacharide-induced COX-2 expression (Hou *et al.*, 2005). The inhibitory actions and the anti-inflammatory properties of delphinidin and cyanidin seem to be related to the *ortho*-dihydroxyphenyl structure of these

anthocyanidins (Hou *et al.*, 2005). Delphinidin and cyanidin, both having a hydroxyl residue at the 3' position, inhibited platelet derived growth factor $_{AB}$ ⁻ (PDGF_{AB}) induced vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) expression in the VSMC, but malvidin and peonidin had no effect. In the same study delphinidin and cyanidin directly scavenged ROS and prevented the PDGF_{AB}-induced formation of ROS in the VSMC, whereas malvidin and peonidin did not scavenge ROS, but prevented their cellular formation (Oak *et al.*, 2006).

There is great research interest on the structure-activity relationships of flavonoid compounds and flavonoid activity in general, as well as health benefits of flavonoid-rich foods, as flavonoids are one of the most widely distributed groups of plant metabolites and constitute an important part of the human diet (Bravo, 1998).

2.3.2. Dietary Intake of Flavonoids

The primary dietary sources of flavonoids include tea, red wine, fruits and berries, cocoa, chocolate, vegetables and legumes (Manach *et al.*, 2004). Their wide distribution in food sources and the variations in the flavonoid content in a given food, as well as the structural diversity of plant flavonoids complicate the assessment of their dietary intake (Scalbert and Williamson, 2000). Data from Western European studies show that total flavonoid intake varies considerably in western populations, with crude estimates of average intake ranging between 65 to 250mg/day (Erdman *et al.*, 2007). Estimates for individual classes of flavonoid also show great variation among different populations. For instance,

anthocyanidin consumption in Germany is estimated to be 6.5 mg/day (Linseisen *et al.*, 1997). In the US anthocyanidin consumption is estimated to be 1.3 mg/day (Chun *et al.* 2007) and the average proanthocyanidin intake is 58 mg (Gu *et al.*, 2004). The daily intake of anthocyanins in the US, according to the data for anthocyanin concentration and updated food intake from NHANES 2001-2002, is estimated to be 12.5 mg/day/person (Wu *et al.*, 2006).

The average dietary intake of polyphenols in the US was estimated by Kuhnau (1976) to be 1g/day, exceeding the intake of other common antioxidants such as vitamin C (90 mg/day), vitamin E (12 mg/day) and carotenoids (5mg/day). The main sources of polyphenols evaluated for this study were fruits, tea, coffee and wine (Kuhnau, 1976). These data continue to serve as a reference for daily polyphenol intake, even though they are now known to be rather incomplete and inaccurate. Progress has been made in the development of polyphenol profiles of certain foods. However, the accurate determination of intake is not feasible due to lack of a comprehensive food composition database (Erdman *et al.*, 2007).

2.3.3. Flavonoid Absorption, Metabolism and Bioavailability

The rate of absorption and bioavailability of the ingested flavonoids determines their biological functions. The extent to which their metabolism interferes with the antioxidant capacity further dictates their health effects (Hollman and Katan, 1999). In general, bioavailability varies widely among polyphenols, with several factors, such as the dietary source, the food matrix or background diet and the structure of the compound, explaining the variation of bioavailability among different polyphenolic compounds (Manach *et al.*, 2005).

At the cellular level, the absorption mechanism of a certain flavonoid is determined by its structure. Flavonoids naturally occur mostly in a glycosylated state. The glycosylated flavonoids can be hydrolyzed at the brush border and subsequently the aglycones diffuse across the cell membrane. The glycosylated form may also enter the enterocyte via a sodium-dependent glucose transporter. In the enterocyte, the cytosolic β -glycosidase cleaves the carbohydrate off the flavonoid (Tapiero *et al.*, 2002).

In the intestinal cells, after hydrolysis to the free aglycone, flavonoids are conjugated by methylation, sulfation, glucuronidation or a combination, and bound to albumin for transport to the liver. Further methylation or sulfation of the flavonoid may occur in the liver (Harborne and Williams, 2000). Methylation, sulfation, glucuronidation or a combination are all conjugation reactions that may occur after hydrolysis of a glycosidic flavonoid. The involved metabolic pathways normally follow drug metabolism patterns and are controlled by the distribution and specificity of the catalyzing enzymes. The end result is altered biological properties of the circulating metabolites. After ingestion, flavonoids are quickly eliminated via urine or bile excretion (Scalbert and Williamson, 2000). However, the half-life of conjugated flavonoids is rather long, suggesting that regular flavonoid intake may result in accumulation of these metabolites over time (Young *et al.*, 1999). Microorganisms in the colon can hydrolyze and extensively degrade dietary flavonoids (Kuhnau, 1976). However, some of the anthocyanin

glycosides can be absorbed and excreted unchanged in their glycosidic form (Cao *et al.*, 2001, Mazza *et al.*, 2002; Kahkonen and Heinonen, 2003).

The presence of anthocyanins, rutin and quercetin glycosides was detected in human plasma, confirming that flavonoids can be absorbed in their glycosylated form in vivo (Paganga and Rice-Evans, 1997). Oral administration of quercetin resulted in detectable levels of the flavonoid and its derivatives in the plasma and urine of human subjects receiving 200 ml or more of grape juice. In mice, the cumulative amounts of quercetin excreted in the urine after concentrated grape juice administration for four days were 0.7% of the ingested dose (Meng et al., 2004). In pigs, quercetin and quercetin glycosides were shown to be metabolized in the intestinal mucosa. Total bioavailability of guercetin glycoside was higher than the aglycone. However, total bioavailability of quercetin glycoside is dependent on diet composition, as shown by enhanced absorption of the glycoside when meat was incorporated into the animal diet (Cermak et al., 2003). Bioavailability of several flavonoids from almond skins was also investigated in hamsters. All five flavonoids from almond skin (catechin, epicatechin, kaempherol, quercetin and isorhamnetin) were detected in hamster plasma and liver (Chen et al., 2005).

The absorption and bioavailability of the different classes of flavonoids shows a great variation. Most of the research to date suggests that the anthocyanins are the least absorbed flavonoids. However, the low anthocyanin bioavailability observed in various human studies could have been underestimated. On the one hand, some important metabolites might have been ignored or the methods used

for analysis might need to be optimized (Manach *et al.*, 2005). Several studies indicate that anthocyanin absorption starts from the stomach (Ichiyanagi *et al.*, 2004; Ichiyanagi *et al.*, 2006; Felgines *et al.*, 2006). Similar to other flavonoids, the absorption of anthocyanins is greatly affected by the structure of the aglycone and the sugar attached. More free hydroxyl groups and less methoxyl groups can decrease absorption, whereas glucose seems to increase absorption versus galactose (Yi *et al.*, 2006).

The individual anthocyanin content of the dietary source and the form of administration also affect their absorption and bioavailability. A lower rate of anthocyanin excretion after blueberry vs. elderberry consumption was observed in elderly women, although the total amount of anthocyanins consumed was nearly the same (Wu *et al.*, 2002). The administrated dose is another factor to consider in anthocyanin bioavailability. The 24 h excretion of red cabbage anthocyanins increased with higher dose, whereas the urinary recovery of intact anthocyanins decreased, also in a dose-dependent manner (Charron *et al.*, 2007). Metabolic conversion in the liver or kidney accounts for the difference between anthocyanin profiles in these organs and blood plasma, after bilberry extract administration in rats (Ichiyanagi *et al.*, 2006).

Anthocyanins that are not absorbed in the stomach or the small intestine may be transferred to the colon, whereas, absorbed anthocyanins can also reach the colon through bile excretion. Extensive degradation and hydrolysis of anthocyanins by the intestinal microflora has been shown *in vitro* (Aura *et al.*, 2005; Keppler *et al.*, 2005). The anthocyanin metabolites produced by the

intestinal microflora are likely to contribute to the biological effects of the anthocyanins, but they are often overlooked (Prior *et al.*, 2006). For instance, in a study by Tsuda *et al.*, (1999) it was proposed that cyanidin-3-O- β -D-glucoside (C3G) administered orally in rats is first hydrolyzed in the intestine by β -glucosidase and the aglycone part produced (cyanidin) is degraded to protocatechuic acid, which may have a higher antioxidant activity (Tsuda *et al.*, 1999). In a recent study in humans, protocatechuic acid was found to be the major metabolite of cyanidin glycosides from blood orange juice, accounting for approximately 73% of the ingested dose. Hence, it was proposed that protocatechuic acid may be responsible for the health effects attributed to cyanidin intake (Vitaglione *et al.*, 2007).

It is also noteworthy that blueberry and blackberry anthocyanins can cross the blood-brain barrier. Anthocyanins from blueberry supplementation were detected in different brain regions related to learning and memory (Andres-Lacueva *et al.*, 2005), while both native and methylated anthocyanins from blackberry were shown to be transported from the blood to the brain tissue (Talavera *et al.*, 2005). A profound knowledge and understanding of the absorption, metabolism and bioavailability of anthocyanins and flavonoids in general can substantially contribute to clarify the role these bioactive compounds play in health and disease. Additional research studies relating the results of *in vitro* studies with the actual *in vivo* effects and acclaimed health benefits of flavonoids are needed.

In general, flavonoids are known to protect health in several ways due to their antioxidant, anti-inflammatory, antiallergic, hepatoprotective, antithrombotic, antiviral, and anticarcinogenic activities (Middleton *et al.*, 2000).

Most flavonoid-related health claims are based on their antioxidant properties. This is also the case for cardiovascular health, since oxidative stress is an important determinant of CVD.

2.3.4. Flavonoids and Cardiovascular Health

Oxidative stress induced by ROS plays a causative role in various CVDs such as atherosclerosis, ischemic heart disease, hypertension, cardiomyopathies, cardiac hypertrophy and congestive heart failure (Kukreja and Hess, 1992).

In the SHR, long term consumption of an antioxidant diet enriched with vitamin E and C, zinc and selenium, was shown to reduce oxidative stress and improve hypertension (Rodriguez-Iturbe *et al.*, 2003). Additionally, antioxidant treatment with vitamins E and C was shown to reverse the impaired endothelium-dependent vascular relaxation in the SHR. The effects of these antioxidant vitamins were associated with enhanced eNOS activity and increased NO generation, as well as reduced NADPH activity and O_2^- production (Ulker *et al.*, 2003). However, the existing scientific evidence does not justify routine use of antioxidant supplements for prevention or treatment of CVD in humans, as more research is needed to clarify the discrepancies between randomized clinical trials and population studies. Instead of antioxidant supplementation, consumption of food sources such as fruits, vegetables, whole grains and nuts that are rich in

antioxidants and other cardioprotective nutrients is recommended (Kris-Etherton *et al.*, 2004).

The Women's Health Study revealed a lower risk of CVD, and especially, myocardial infarction, for women with higher fruit and vegetable consumption (Liu et al., 2000). A high fruit, berry and vegetable intake was also associated with reduced CVD risk factors and overall mortality in men (Rissanen et al., 2003). Therefore, increased fruit and vegetable consumption is considered a primary preventive measure against CVD. Many commonly consumed fruits and vegetables, as well as grains, herbal products and beverages, contain significant amounts of phenolic compounds. The relationship between foods rich in flavonoids, such as tea, berries, cocoa, chocolate and wine, and CVD has been examined by epidemiological and experimental studies that overall suggest a protective role of flavonoids (Erdman et al., 2007). The association between flavonoid intake and CHD assessed in a prospective cohort study revealed a much lower cardiovascular risk in individuals with the highest flavonoid intake (Hertog et al., 1993). Furthermore, Finish women and men with lower flavonoid consumption over a 20-year period were shown to have higher CHD risk (Knekt et al., 1996). Flavonoids demonstrate protective effects against the initiation and progression of atherosclerosis. The "French paradox" originally described in 1979 (Renaud and de Lorgeril, 1992), resulted in many studies of grape flavonoids, followed later on by studies of tea, chocolate or pomegranate (Erdman et al., 2007). The "paradox" was that the French had a much lower CHD mortality rate, despite a higher consumption of saturated fat. Hence, it was postulated that the

daily consumption of red wine with meals provides cardiovascular protection. The flavonoids from red wine, particularly flavan-3-ols, anthocyanins, flavonols and proanthocyanidins, and not solely the alcohol, are now considered the primary protective components (Erdman *et al.*, 2007). Red wine polyphenols are shown to protect against oxidative stress, platelet aggregation and thrombogenesis. With regard to blood vessels, these compounds are powerful vasodilators and play an important role in preservation of endothelium integrity by inhibiting endothelial and muscle cell proliferation and migration, and angiogenesis processes (Cordova *et al.*, 2005).

Other foods or juices rich in polyphenols have also been shown to have beneficial effect on various factors related to CVD including LDL-oxidation, platelet activity or inflammation (Stein et al., 1999; Aviram et al., 2004; Demrow et al., 1995; Pearson et al., 1999; Fuhrman et al., 2005; Freedman et al., 2001; lijima et al., 2002; Holt et al., 2006; Murphy et al., 2003; Youdim et al., 2000; Youdim et al., 2002; Bagchi et al., 2004). Short term ingestion of purple grape flavan-3-ols, juice. which contains flavonols, anthocyanins and proanthocyanidins, improved endothelial function and reduced LDL susceptibility oxidation in patients with established CAD (Stein et al., 1999). Similarly, pomegranate juice, which is rich in specific flavonoids such as punicalagin and anthocyanins, was shown to have a protective effect against the atherosclerotic process. Long term pomegranate juice intake by patients with carotid artery stenosis reduced LDL oxidation, but also BP and intima-media thickness of the carotid artery; an effect attributed to the potent antioxidant properties of the juice

flavonoids (Aviram et al., 2004). Red wine was shown to inhibit in vivo plateletmediated experimental coronary thrombosis, whereas equal amounts of pure alcohol or alcohol-free grape juice had no effect (Demrow et al., 1995). Apple juice was shown to inhibit in vitro copper catalyzed human LDL oxidation (Pearson et al., 1999). Incubation of macrophages with pomegranate juice caused a significant reduction in cellular uptake of oxidized LDL and cholesterol biosynthesis, as well as lower levels of cellular oxidative stress (Fuhrman et al., 2005). Oral supplementation by healthy volunteers for two weeks, and in vitro incubation of platelets with purple grape juice, were shown to decrease platelet aggregation and superoxide production and to increase platelet-derived NO release. The observed effect was dose-dependent, related to partial inhibition of protein kinase C stimulation and attributed to antioxidant and/or a direct effect of selected flavonoids (Freedman et al., 2001). Grape flavonoids can also inhibit the abnormal proliferation of VSMCs, a process involved in atheroma development and intimal thickening. Additionally, platelet-derived growth factor-BB (PDGF-BB) and the subsequent migration of VSMC was inhibited by grape flavonoids through inactivation of the phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase (PI3K) and p38 mitogen activated protein kinase (MAPK) pathway (lijima et al., 2002). The consumption of flavonoid-rich cocoa and chocolate has been associated with a reduction in platelet activity (Holt et al., 2006). Supplementation for 28 days with cocoa flavanols and related procyanidin oligomers significantly increased plasma epicatechin and catechin concentrations and decreased in vivo human platelet activation and aggregation (Murphy et al., 2003). Incubation of red blood cells

with blueberry anthocyanins was found to significantly enhance cell resistance to ROS production (Youdim *et al.*, 2000). The protective effect of anthocyanins against ROS was also observed *in vivo* after oral supplementation in rats (Youdim *et al.*, 2000). Blueberry and cranberry polyphenols were able to enter endothelial cells and thereby reduce cell vulnerability to increased oxidative stress at both the membrane and cytosol level (Youdim *et al.*, 2002). A reduction of tumor necrosis factor- α (TNF- α)-induced upregulation of inflammatory mediators, such as interleukin-8 (IL-8), monocyte chemoattractant protein-1 (MCP-1) and intercellular adhesion molecule-1 (ICAM-1), was also observed in this *in vitro* study (Youdim *et al.*, 2002). These inflammatory mediators are involved in the recruitment of leukocytes to sites of damage or inflammation along the endothelium (Youdim *et al.*, 2002). An anthocyanin-rich berry extract cocktail from wild blueberry, bilberry, cranberry, elderberry, raspberry seeds and strawberry tested *in vitro* was shown to possess antioxidant, antiangiogenic and anticarcinogenic properties (Bagchi *et al.*, 2004).

Individual flavonoids appear to act upon several enzymatic systems related to the development of CVD in a fashion presumably dictated by their structural characteristics (Gryglewski *et al.*, 1987; Loke *et al.*, 2008; Chung *et al.*, 1993; Hou *et al.*, 2005; Lamy *et al.*, 2006; Oak *et al.*, 2006; Adhikari *et al.*, 2005; Yan *et al.*, 2002; Serraino *et al.*, 2003; Rechner and Croner, 2005). The flavonols, quercetin and rutin, as well as the flavanes, cyanidol and meciadonol, inhibited platelet lipoxygenase activity, but only quercetin and rutin inhibited

platelet thrombi adherent to the rabbit aortic endothelium and prevented platelet aggregation (Gryglewski et al., 1987). At least two of the major in vivo metabolites of quercetin were shown to retain significant inhibitory activity of proinflammatory eicosanoids such as PGE₂ and leukotriene B₄ (LTB₄) derived from the COX and lipoxygenase enzymatic pathways respectively (Loke et al., 2008). Additionally, guercetin and related compounds were shown to inhibit platelet aggregation, while guercetin also showed vasorelaxant action in the thoracic rat aorta (Chung et al., 1993). In a recent study, delphinidin and cyanidin, but not pelargonidin, peonidin or malvidin, inhibited lipopolysacharide-induced COX-2 expression. The ortho-dihydroxyphenyl structure of anthocyanidins seems to be related to the inhibitory actions and the anti-inflammatory properties. Furthermore, delphinidin, the most potent inhibitor among the anthocyanidins tested, suppressed COX-2 by blocking several MAPK-mediated pathways (Hou et al., 2005). Delphinidin was also found to be the most potent inhibitor of vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) receptor phosphorylation in vitro and in vivo among six isolated anthocyanins (cyanidin, delphinidin, pelargonidin, peonidin and petunidin) (Lamy et al., 2006). Delphinidin and cyanidin, both having a hydroxyl residue at the 3' position, inhibited platelet-derived growth factor AB⁻ (PDGFAB) induced VEGF expression by preventing activation of p38 MAPK and C-Jun N-terminal kinase (JNK) in the VSMC. In the same study, red wine polyphenols, delphinidin and cyanidin directly scavenged ROS and prevented the PDGF_{AB} -induced formation of ROS in the VSMC, whereas malvidin and peonidin did not scavenge ROS, but prevented their cellular

formation (Oak et al., 2006). Cyanidin, cyanidin 3-galactoside and cyanidin 3glucoside from Amelanchier fruits were shown to inhibit in vitro COX-1 and -2, as well as lipid peroxidation in a dose-dependent manner (Adhikari et al., 2005). Cyanidin-3 galactoside and several guercetin glycosides isolated from cranberry were found to possess comparable antioxidant activity to vitamin E. However, the capacity of cvanidin-3-galactoside and free guercetin to prevent Cu²⁺ catalyzed LDL oxidation was superior to vitamin E (Yan et al., 2002). Cyanidin-3-Oglucoside from blackberry juice had a protective in vitro effect against endothelial dysfunction and vascular failure, induced by peroxynitrite. By scavenging the free radical, cyanidin-3-O-glucoside reduced the peroxynitrite-induced suppression of mitochondrial respiration, DNA damage and the nuclear enzyme poly (ADPribose) synthase (PARS) activation in HUVECs. Energy depletion and cellular injury is the end result of massive ADP-ribosylation of nuclear proteins by PARS (Serraino et al., 2003). Anthocyanins such as delphinidin and cyanidin as well as various colonic metabolites of a representative phenolic mixture were also shown to inhibit in vitro platelet function (Rechner and Croner, 2005).

The research evidence for the cardioprotective effects of flavonoid-rich foods as well as their individual bioactive compounds is mounting and promising, so is the evidence for the benefits of flavonoids on vasomotor function more specifically.

2.3.5. Flavonoids and Vasomotor Function

Flavonoid-rich foods and isolated flavonoids have been shown to have a positive effect on endothelium-dependent vasodilation and BP in both *in vitro* and *in vivo*

studies. A series of dietary ex vivo studies on the wild blueberry fruit conducted in Dr. Klimis-Zacas' laboratory have shown the potential of wild blueberries in protecting the endothelial function (Norton et al., 2005; Kalea et al., 2005; Clark, 2007). According to Norton et al., wild blueberries incorporated into the diet affected the vascular smooth muscle contractile machinery by suppressing the a-1 adrenergic receptor-agonist-mediated contraction through an endotheliumdependent pathway (Norton et al., 2005). Furthermore, wild blueberry consumption altered the structure of the extracellular matrix of Sprague Dawley (SD) rat aortas, by increasing the concentration of glycosaminoglycans (GAGs) and decreasing the sulfation of all GAG type molecules, suggesting a possible effect of blueberries on endothelial and vascular smooth muscle signal transduction pathways (Kalea et al., 2005). Results of a most recent study documented that wild blueberries appeared to affect the endothelium-dependent vasodilation of the aorta by modulating cell membrane-agonist interactions in response to Ach in young normotensive SD rats and SHRs. Wild blueberries affected the endothelial-dependent vasodilation in young SHR aorta most likely, by modulating a key pathway of endothelial function, the cyclooxygenase (COX) pathway (Clark 2007).

To our knowledge, the above studies are the only ones that investigate the dietary effect of wild blueberries on endothelium-dependent vasodilation *ex vivo*. Numerous studies have been conducted on other flavonoid–rich foods or isolated compounds and have indicated the potential role of flavonoids in maintenance and improvement of vasomotor tone. Short-term ingestion of purple grape juice

improved flow mediated vasodilation and reduced LDL susceptibility to oxidation in CAD patients (Stein et al., 1999). The beneficial effect of purple grape juice on endothelium function was confirmed by another study in CAD patients (Chou et al., 2001). Consumption of flavonol-rich dark chocolate decreased blood pressure and improved endothelium-dependent relaxation in patients with essential hypertension. Furthermore, insulin resistance and serum LDL cholesterol were reduced (Grassi et al., 2005). Moreover, short term intervention with flavonoid-rich chocolate increased plasma epicatechin concentration and improved endothelium-dependent vasodilation in healthy adults independent of changes in oxidative stress and lipid profiles (Engler et al., 2004). When patients with at least one cardiovascular risk factor were administered a single dose of cocoa drink rich in flavan-3-ols, NO bioactivity was transiently increased over a 2 hour period. Endothelial vasodilation, measured by brachial flow mediated dilation (FMD), was also increased (Heiss et al., 2003). Short and long-term black tea consumption could reverse endothelial dysfunction in CAD patients as reflected by increased flow-mediated dilation (Duffy et al., 2001). Similarly, in healthy subjects endothelium-dependent vasodilation was significantly and consistently increased by regular tea consumption (Hodgson et al., 2002). A recent study suggested that the flavanol compound epicatechin, mediates, at least in part, the beneficial vascular effects associated with the consumption of flavanol-rich cocoa in humans, based on the finding that pure epicatechin ingested by humans closely and quantitatively mimicked the vascular effects of flavanol-rich cocoa (Schroeter et al., 2006).

In SD rats, a diet rich in dealcoholated red wine, quercetin or catechin induced endothelium dependent vasodilation via the NO-cGMP pathway (Benito et al., 2002). Black currant concentrate, consisted of 10.83% anthocyanins, mostly delphinidin and cyanidin, induced endothelium-dependent vasodilation and NO release in SD rat aorta. It was suggested that the histamine receptor H₁ may be involved in the process (Nakamura et al., 2002). Extract of wine phenolics was shown to reduce the elevation of blood pressure in Stroke-Prone Spontaneously Hypertensive Rat (SHRSP), presumably through the observed increase in the vasorelaxation activity (Mizutani et al., 1999). Incubation of femoral arterial rings of Wistar Kyoto rats with red wine polyphenol powder, particularly rich in proanthocyanidins, increased NO synthase activity and thereby, vasorelaxation (Zenebe et al., 2003). Anthocyanin-enhanced extracts from chokeberry and bilberry, but not elderberry produced dose-dependent vasorelaxation of porcine coronary arteries. Even low concentrations of anthocyanins showed a significant capacity to prevent loss of endothelium-dependent vasodilation due to exogenous ROS exposure (Bell and Gochenaur, 2006). The isolated flavonoids baicalein, flavone and quercetin administered in SHRs for four weeks significantly decreased endothelium-dependent vasodilation in response to Ach (Machha et al., 2005). Acute exposure of the SHR aorta to guercetin (20 min incubation with 10 µmol/L) was shown to improve endothelium-dependent relaxation and reduce the α_1 -adrenergic receptor-mediated contractile response with potency greater than vitamin C (Ajay et al., 2006). Daily guercetin oral administration (10 mg/kg) for five weeks reduced significantly systolic and

diastolic blood pressure and elicited functional vascular changes in the SHR, but not in the WK rat. Reduced cardiac and renal hypertrophy were also observed in the SHR after the long term exposure to quercetin (Duarte et al., 2001). In addition to lowering BP and heart rate of SHR, and enhancing endotheliumdependent vasodilation, quercetin enhanced eNOS activity and decreased NADPH oxidase-mediated superoxide generation (Sanchez et al., 2006). Delphinidin, but not malvidin or cyanidin, elicited endothelium-dependent vasodilation in WK rat aorta. The vasodilatory effect was completely mediated by NO activity. The results indicated that, among anthocyanins, specific structures are needed to modulate endothelium-dependent relaxation (Andriambeloson et al., 1998). Red wine flavonoids were shown to up-regulate eNOS expression. increase NO production in vitro, and therefore, improve endothelial dysfunction (Diebolt *et al.*, 2001). Wine, grape juice and grape skin extracts were shown to produce endothelium-dependent relaxation in vitro, which was mediated by the NO-cGMP pathway (Fitzpatrick et al., 1993). Several plant extracts also caused endothelium-dependent vasodilation through an increase in cGMP levels (Fitzptrick et al., 1995). Long term incubation of HUVECs with the crude extract or organic subfraction of artichoke leafs, rich in flavonoids, increased eNOS expression and NO production. Additionally ex vivo incubation of aortic rings with the organic subfraction of artichoke leafs enhanced the NO mediated vasodilator response to Ach (Li et al., 2004). Anthocyanin-rich berry extracts showed considerable inhibitory effects on NO production from macrophages, and their inhibitory effects were significantly correlated with the content of total phenolics,

tartaric ester, flavonols, and anthocyanins (Wang and Mazza, 2002). The flavonols quercetin and myricetin, and the anthocyanins/anthocyanidins pelargonidin, cyanidin, delphinidin, peonidin, malvidin, malvidin 3-glucoside, and malvidin 3,5-diglucosides, demonstrated >50% inhibition on NO production without affecting cell viability (Wang and Mazza, 2002). Cyanidin and delphinidin were both shown to significantly decrease ET-1 production and increase eNOS activity in HUVECs. Delphinidin activity upon eNOS increase was dosedependent and greater in comparison with cyanidin (Lazze et al., 2006). The superior vasoprotective effect of delphinidin was positively correlated with the greater antioxidant activity due to the presence of three hydroxyl groups in the Bring (Lazze et al., 2006). Cyanidin-3-glucoside induced eNOS expression and NO release in bovine vascular endothelial cells (Xu et al., 2004a). The same research team suggested that cyanidin-3-glycoside can regulate phosphorylation of eNOS and the protein kinase Akt, which induces NO release via eNOS activation. Cyandin-3-glucoside also affects the interaction of eNOS with sGC increasing the cGMP production and subsequently inducing vasorelaxation (Xu et al., 2004b). The inhibition of protein kinase C and cAMP release was proposed by Duarte et al. (1993) as the main vasodilatory mechanism of flavonoids. The potency of the flavonoids to induce vasorelaxation correlated with the potency to inhibit protein kinase C. Inhibition of cyclic nucleotide phosphodiesterase or decreased Ca²⁺ may also contribute to the vasodilatory effect. Additionally, the structure seems to determine flavonoid activity with the flavonols guercetin,

kaempherol and 5-O-methyl-quercetin being the most potent, followed by flavones and lastly flavanols (Duarte *et al.*, 1993).

The studies discussed above, suggest a great potential of flavonoids and anthocyanins in particular, for improvement of endothelial function. However, the exact molecular and biochemical mechanisms of action of these bioactive substances remain to be elucidated. With regard to the cardiovascular health effect of wild blueberries, human or animal studies are limited. Moreover, the vast majority of the research conducted thus far, was aimed at studying the polyphenolic extracts of blueberries rather than the whole fruit added to the diet. In addition, research on the blueberry extracts has been conducted mainly *in vitro* (Bagchi *et al.*, 2004; Youdim *et al.*, 2000; Youdim *et al.*, 2002).

In the present dietary study, the potential role of wild blueberries and their possible mechanism of action on endothelium-dependent vasodilation in response to Ach were investigated in SHR and normotensive WK rats in an *ex vivo* experimental setting.

CHAPTER 3

METHODS AND MATERIALS

3.1. Animal Models

Twenty male young adult Spontaneously Hypertensive rats (SHR) were used as a model of endothelial dysfunction and 20 male young adult Wistar Kyoto rats (WK) were used as a model of functional endothelium (controls). The Animal Care and Use Committee of the University of Maine approved the animal care and the experimental procedures.

Numerous pharmacological (Luscher and Vanhoutte, 1986; Xiao and Pang, 1994; Yang *et al.*, 2002) and dietary studies (Duarte *et al.*, 2001; Machha *et al.*, 2005; Rodriguez-Iturbe *et al.*, 2003) have utilized the SHR as a model of endothelial dysfunction. The normotensive WK, presenting a functional endothelium, is used as a control to the SHR, since SHR as a strain was developed from outbred WK rats (Okamoto and Aoki, 1963).

Spontaneously Hypertensive rats were purchased from Charles River Laboratories (Wilmington, MA), while the WK rats were purchased from Taconic Farm (Hudson, NY). All rats were purchased at the age of 12 weeks, placed on dietary treatments for nine weeks and sacrificed at the age of 21 weeks.

The age of 10 weeks in the SHR is considered as the early hypertensive stage, with a systolic BP at approximately 170 mmHg (Tenase *et al.*, 1982). Spontaneously hypertensive rats are expected to develop hypertension at the age of 7 to 15 weeks and their systolic BP has been shown to plateau at

approximately 200 mmHg (Yamori, 1984). Therefore, by 21 weeks of age SHRs have developed full-blown hypertension.

The animals were housed in the Small Animal Facility at the University of Maine in individual stainless-steel mesh-bottomed cages in an environmentally controlled room maintained at 22°C with a 12:12-hour light: dark cycle. In order to avoid possible infection, each strain was housed in separate rooms. All animals were weighed weekly to determine possible differences in growth rate within treatment groups. Also food consumption was measured daily to determine possible differences in food intake among diet groups. Tap water and food was provided *ad libitum*.

For the **functional arterial property experiments**, rats from each strain, SHR and WK, were randomly assigned to one of two diets: control diet (C) and blueberry diet (B) (control + 8% w/w wild blueberry powder substituting for dextrose) for a period of nine weeks (Norton *et al.*, 2005, Kalea *et al.*, 2006, Clark 2006). Similarly, for the **blood pressure measurement experiments**, rats from each strain, SHR and WK, were randomly assigned to one of the two diets: C and B, as mentioned above, for a period of nine weeks. The C diet groups were SHR-C and WK-C, n=10 each, and the B diet groups were SHR-B and WK-B, n=10 each.

3.2. Animal Diet Composition

The animal diets were prepared in our lab, stored at 4°C and used within 5 to 7 days. The purified diet ingredients used were dextrose, egg white solids, vitamin

mix, D,L-methionine, biotin, mineral mix, and corn oil (Table 3.1). The mineral mix was purchased from ICN Biomedicals (Cleveland, OH), whereas all the other ingredients were purchased from Harlan Teklad (Madison, WI). For the **functional arterial property experiments**, a wild blueberry composite was provided by Wayman's (Cherryfiled, ME) and was freeze-dried with standard procedures by Oregon Freeze Dry (Albany, OR). For the **blood pressure measurement experiments**, the freeze-dried wild blueberry powder 1.5% N11 from Van Drunen Farms (Momence, IL) was utilized instead of the composite due to lack of availability. The N11 wild blueberry powder from Van Drunen Farms is standardized to contain a minimum 1.5% of total anthocyanins. For both experiments, the wild blueberry powder was provided as 8% (w/w) of total diet content, which is approximately equivalent to daily human consumption of a half cup of fresh wild blueberries (Norton *et al.*, 2005). The diet composition is presented in Table 3.1.

Dietary Component	Control Diet (g)	Blueberry Diet (g)
Dextrose	691	611
Wild Blueberry	0	80
Egg white solids	200	200
Mineral mix (1 g/kg Mn)	35	35
Vitamin mix	10	10
Biotin	0.002	0.002
D-L-Methionine	4	4
Corn oil	60	60
(Total weight)	1000	1000

Table	3.1.	Diet	Com	position
-------	------	------	-----	----------

3.3. Drugs and Solutions

The chemicals for the Physiologic Salt Solution (PSS), as well as the drugs used, acetylcholine chloride (Ach), L-Phenylephrine (Phe), L-N^G-monomethyl arginine (L-NMMA), mefenamic acid (MFA) and pentobarbital sodium salt, were purchased from Sigma Aldrich (St. Louis, MO). The heparin sodium injection USP (1000 USP units/ml), was purchased from Baxter (Deerfiled, IL). The PSS composition was the following: NaCl 118 mM, KCl 4.7 mM, CaCl₂ 2.5 mM, MgSO₄ 1.2 mM, KH₂PO₄ 1.2 mM, NaHCO₃ 12.5 mM and dextrose 11.1 mM.

3.4. Aortic Ring Preparation

The use of animal arterial rings is an established experimental approach for studying the role of the endothelium on arterial functional properties. Findings from animal ring studies agree with those from isolated human vessels (Vanhoutte, 1999).

Rats were anesthetized with 95%CO₂/ 5%O₂ for approximately 2 min. Blood samples were collected via cardiac puncture. The thoracic aorta was excised and placed in a silicon–coated petri dish, filled with PSS and cleaned from the surrounding connective tissues and blood clots. The middle part of the aorta was divided into four rings, each 3 mm of length, with surgical scissors (George Tiemann & Co. Hauppauge, NY). The shape, length, or any damage of the aorta during ring preparation were documented.

Each aortic ring was suspended by two stainless steel wire triangles and mounted in a Radnoti tissue bath (Radnoti Glass Technology Inc. Monrovia, CA),

containing PSS at 37°C and aerated with a gas mix of 95%O₂/ 5%CO₂ (pH 7.45). The aortic rings were connected to Tissue Force Analyzers (TFA) (model 410, Micro-Med Louisville, KY), that measured the force developed in the aorta in response to the different drugs added in the tissue bath. The TFAs were connected to a computer system that recorded via Digimed software, DMSI-210 (Micro-Med Louisville, KY) the force developed in the aorta, which as used to estimate the experimental parameters, maximum force of vessel relaxation (Fmax) and vessel reactivity (pD₂). All rings from each animal were mounted in the tissue baths within 60 min from the administration of anesthesia.

3.5. Experimental Design

3.5.1. Physiological Assessment of Arterial Functional Properties

Preliminary experiments were conducted to determine the Phe dose for the maximal contraction of the aortic rings for each of the two strains by constructing Phe dose-response curves. Following preconditioning of rings with Ach $(10^{-8}M)$ and Phe $(10^{-8}M)$ for a period of 10 min, ten cumulative Phe doses were utilized $(10^{-9}, 3\times10^{-9}, 10^{-8}, 3\times10^{-8}, 10^{-7}, 3\times10^{-7}, 10^{-6}, 3\times10^{-6}, 10^{-5}, 3\times10^{-5}M)$ for constructing a Phe dose-response curve. A drug-tissue contact-time of six min was allowed for each Phe dose to achieve maximum contraction. The Phe dose that resulted in the maximal contraction of arterial rings was found in both strains to be $10^{-6}M$.

3.5.1.1. Vasodilation in the Absence of Inhibitors

Following a 45 min equilibration period under 1.5 g preload, rings were preconditioned with Ach (10^{-8} M) and Phe (10^{-8} M) for a period of 10 min and then washed out with PSS. The rings were then precontracted with one maximal dose of the α_1 -adrenergic agonist Phe (10^{-6} M). All the rings reached plateau of maximal contraction within 10 min. Following the 10-min Phe precontraction, eight concentrations of Ach (10^{-9} , 3×10^{-9} , 10^{-8} , 3×10^{-7} , 3×10^{-7} , 10^{-6} , 3×10^{-6} M) were applied in order to construct the dose-response curve. A drug-tissue contact-time of 6 min was allowed for each Ach concentration to achieve the maximum relaxation to the initial precontraction (Figure 3.2).

3.5.1.2. Vasodilation in the Presence of Inhibitors

Inhibitors used were: L-NMMA (10⁻⁴M) (NOS inhibitor) and MFA (10⁻⁵M) (nonselective COX inhibitor). Inhibitors were added after washing with PSS and were allowed to stay in the tissue bath for 25 min before adding the Phe precontraction dose (10⁻⁶M). Two separate Ach dose-response curves were generated. For the first Ach dose-response curve, two of the rings were challenged with MFA (COXpathway inhibition), while no inhibitor was added in the other two aortic rings. For the second Ach dose-response curve, L-NMMA only was added in two of the rings (NOS-pathway inhibition), while both L-NMMA and MFA were added to the other two aortic rings (COX and NOS-pathway inhibition). Thus, the effect of the inhibitors on the NO and COX pathways was studied separately and simultaneously (Figure 3.1, 3.2).



Figure 3.1. Vascular Ring Study Experimental Design





The digitized raw data were used to generate individual dose-response curves and the following experimental parameters: maximal force of vessel relaxation (Fmax), dose that inhibits 50% of vessel response (EC₅₀) and vessel reactivity (pD₂). The force of relaxation at each Ach dose was determined as the percent relaxation of the initial precontraction and used to construct dose-response curves for each treatment. Among the values of vasorelaxation force at each of the eight Ach doses, the highest from each treatment group, was picked as the Fmax. The EC₅₀ values were obtained by transforming the dose response curve to semi-log curves. Finally, the pD_2 values were calculated as the - log EC₅₀ in order to give normally distributed data and used as an index of receptor agonist interaction (Beach *et al.*, 2001).

Experimental Parameter	Biological Interpretation	Assessment Method
Fmax	Maximal force of vessel relaxation	Dose-response curve
EC ₅₀	Dose to inhibit 50% of vessel response	Transforming dose- response curves to semi log curves
pD ₂	Vessel reactivity (receptor-agonist interaction)	Negative log EC ₅₀ to give normally distributed data

Table 3.2. Experimental Parameters

3.5.2 Blood Pressure Measurement

After the nine week period of dietary treatment, rats were anesthetized with sodium pentobarbital solution (60 mg/ml saline), (60mg/kg body weight) intraperitoneally. A blunt dissection technique was used to dissect the neck area of the animal, identify the carotid bundle and separate the left carotid artery from nerve and muscle tissue (Whitesall *et al.*, 2004). The left carotid artery was cannulated with polyethylene tubing (PE-50) filled with heparinized saline (100 USP units/ 5 ml saline) and connected to a CyQ 103 pressure transducer (Cybersense Inc. Nicholasville, KY) for the recording of systolic, diastolic and mean arterial BP on a CyQ 302 recorder (Cybersense Inc. Nicholasville, KY). Values for systolic, diastolic and mean arterial BP were recorded over a period of 30 min after connecting the animal to the transducer. After BP data were

obtained, blood was collected through the cannula, centrifuged at 2500 rpm for 10 min and stored at - 80°C for further analysis.

3.6. Statistical Analysis

A Student t-test was used to determine the possible effect of diet on rat body weights and food consumption between the diet groups within each strain (WK-B vs. WK-C and SHR-B vs. SHR-C).

The Fmax and pD₂ values in the absence or presence of inhibitors were compared between treatment groups to determine the possible effect of diet. Two-way Analysis of Variance (ANOVA) was used to compare equal number of rank ordered observations for the Fmax and pD₂ measurements. Two-way ANOVA, was used to determine the possible effect of diet on systolic, diastolic and mean BP between the diet groups within each strain (WK-B vs. WK-C and SHR-B vs. SHR-C), as well as to determine the differences in blood pressure between strains within each treatment group (WK-C vs. SHR-C and WK-B vs. SHR-B).

The Sigmastat Statistical Program Package (SAS Institute Cary, NC) was used to perform the statistical analysis. All values were given as mean \pm SEM (standard error of mean); differences were considered statistically significant at p≤0.05.

CHAPTER 4

RESULTS

4. 1. Wistar Kyoto Rats

4.1.1. Rat Growth and Weight

Figure 4.1 represents the growth rate of WK rats fed control (WK-C) and wild blueberry-enriched (WK-B) diet from 12 to 21 weeks of age. The rate of growth during the nine week time-period was not significantly different between the two diet groups. The final mean body weights at the end of the diet study were 576 \pm 16.50 g and 552 \pm 22.04 g for the WK-C and WK-B group respectively, which were not significantly different, (p = 0.39). Additionally, no statistically significant difference was found in the food intake of the two diet groups, 26 \pm 0.63 g in the WK-C group and 26 \pm 0.63 g in the WK-B group, (p = 0.58).



Figure 4.1. Growth Rate of WK Rats (Weekly Weight*)

* Mean ± SEM (g) WK-C: control group, (n = 10); WK-B: blueberry group, (n = 10)
4.1.2. Effect of Diet on Maximum Vasodilation Force (Fmax)

The effect of diet on the Fmax in response to Ach a) in the absence of inhibitors or in the presence of b) the COX-pathway inhibitor mefenamic acid (MFA) or c) the NO-pathway inhibitor L-N^G-monomethyl arginine (L-NMMA) or d) both inhibitors added simultaneously is presented in Table 4.1 and Figure 4.2. No significant difference was found between diet groups for any of the drug treatments. The Fmax in response to Ach observed in the WK-B group (97.40 ± 1.78), was not significantly different from the Fmax observed in WK-C group (97.92 ± 1.78), (p = 0.84). The Fmax observed in the WK-B group in the presence of MFA (98.44 ± 1.20) tended to be higher than in the WK-C group (95.60 ± 1.20), but the difference was not statistically significant, (p = 0.13). In the WK-B group in the presence of L-NMMA (49.41 ± 1.91), Fmax was not significantly different from the WK-C (50.36 ± 1.91) group, (p = 0.73). Similarly, in the presence of both inhibitors Fmax was not significantly different between the two diet groups (WK-B: 46.91 ± 1.84 vs. WK-C: 43.70 ± 1.84), (p = 0.25).

Table 4.1. Effect of Diet on the Fmax* in the Absence or Presence of Inhibitors in the WK Rats

		Fmax Ach	Fmax Ach	Fmax Ach
Diet group	Fmax Ach	MFA	L-NMMA	MFA + L-NMMA
WK-C	97.92 ± 1.78	95.60 ± 1.20 [♭]	50.36 ± 1.91 ^b	43.70 ± 1.84 ^b
WK-B	97.40 ± 1.78	98.44 ± 1.20	49.41 ± 1.91 ^b	46.91 ± 1.84 ^b

* Mean ± SEM

^b Statistically significant compared to Ach treatment within the same diet group, $p \le 0.05$ (n = 9)

No differences were detected among diet groups for any of the drug treatments. WK-C: control group, (n = 9); WK-B: blueberry group, (n = 9); Ach: acetylcholine; MFA: mefenamic acid; L-NMMA: $L-N^{G}$ -monomethyl arginine

Figure 4.2. Effect of Diet on the Fmax* in the Absence or Presence of Inhibitors in the WK Rats



* Mean ± SEM

WK-C: control group, (n = 9); WK-B: blueberry group, (n = 9); Ach: acetylcholine; MFA: mefenamic acid; L-NMMA: L-N^G-monomethyl arginine No differences were detected among diet groups for any of the drug treatments.

4.1.3. Effect of Inhibitors on Maximum Vasodilation Force (Fmax)

Figure 4.3 presents the changes in the Fmax due to the addition of inhibitors within the same diet group. The changes were calculated by subtracting the Fmax in the presence of the inhibitors from the Fmax in the absence of inhibitors. Inhibition of the COX pathway with MFA elicited a statistically significant reduction of maximum vasodilation by 2% in the WK-C group, (p≤0.05). In the WK-B group, the maximum vasodilation was increased by 1% in the presence of MFA, but this increase was not statistically significant, (p = 0.46). Inhibition of NOS with L-NMMA reduced maximum vasodilation by 48% in both diet groups. The difference in Fmax elicited by L-NMMA was statistically significant compared with the Fmax in the absence of the inhibitor, (p≤0.05).

The presence of both inhibitors, MFA and L-NMMA, triggered a statistically significant reduction in maximum vasodilation force by 54% in the WK-C group and 51% in the WK-B group, $p \le 0.05$.



Figure 4.3. Fmax* in the Absence or Presence of Inhibitors in the WK Rats

* Mean ± SEM

^b Statistically significant compared to Ach treatment, $p \le 0.05$ (n = 9) WK-C: control group, (n = 9); WK-B: blueberry group, (n = 9); Ach: acetylcholirie; MFA: mefenamic acid; L-NMMA: L-N^G-monomethyl arginine

4.1.4. Effect of Diet on Vasodilation Force, Ach Dose-Response Curves

Figures 4.4, 4.5, 4.6 and 4.7 display the dose-response curves of the Achinduced vasodilation in the aortic rings in the absence or presence of MFA, L-NMMA or both MFA and L-NMMA. In the absence of inhibitors the vasodilation force was not significantly different between the two diet groups (Figure 4.4). In the presence of COX inhibitor MFA, the aortic rings of the WK-B group tended to develop higher vasodilation than the WK-C group throughout the dose-response curve, which was significant only for the 2nd, 3rd and 4th Ach doses (3×10⁻⁹, 10⁻⁸ and 3×10⁻⁸M), (p≤0.05) (Figure 4.5).

Figure 4.4. Ach Dose-Response Curve in the Absence of Inhibitors in the WK Rat Aorta



WK-C: control group, (n = 9); WK-B: blueberry group (n = 9); Ach: acetylcholine





* Statistically significant compared to WK-C group, p≤0.05 WK-C: control group, (n = 9); WK-B: blueberry group, (n = 9); Ach: acetylcholine; MFA: mefenamic acid In the presence of NOS inhibitor L-NMMA, the aortic rings from the WK-B group tended to develop lower vasodilation force throughout the dose-response curve, which was significantly lower for the 3rd and 4th Ach dose (10⁻⁸ and 3×10⁻⁸M), (p≤0.05) (Figure 4.6). When both inhibitors were added, the vasodilation force was almost identical between the two diet groups for the first four Ach doses, but the WK-B group exhibited significantly higher vasodilation force at the 5th and 6th Ach dose (10⁻⁷ and 3×10⁻⁷M), (p≤0.05) (Figure 4.7).



Figure 4.6. Ach Dose-Response Curve in the Presence of L-NMMA in the WK Rat Aorta

* Statistically significant compared to WK-C group, p≤0.05 WK-C: control group, (n = 9); WK-B: blueberry group, (n = 9); Ach: acetylcholine; L-NMMA: L-N^G-monomethyl arginine

Figure 4.7. Ach Dose-Response Curve in the Presence of both MFA and L-NMMA in the WK Rat Aorta



* Statistically significant compared to WK-C group, p≤0.05 WK-C: control group, (n = 9); WK-B: blueberry group, (n = 9); Ach: acetylcholine; MFA: mefenamic acid; L-NMMA: L-N^G-monomethyl arginine

4.1.5. Effect of Diet on Vessel Sensitivity (pD₂)

The vessel sensitivity expressed as pD₂ values for the aortic rings of WK rats fed control and wild blueberry-enriched diet is displayed in Table 4.2 and Figure 4.8. The pD₂ in the absence of inhibitors was significantly lower in the WK-B group (7.41 \pm 0.02) than the WK-C group (7.49 \pm 0.02), (p≤0.05). The pD₂ in the WK-B group (7.51 \pm 0.03) in the presence of MFA was not different than the pD₂ of the WK-C group (7.56 \pm 0.03), (p = 0.21). The addition of L-NMMA did not elicit any difference among diet groups, WK-B (6.81 \pm 0.10) and WK-C (6.65 \pm 0.10), (p = 0.28). Similarly, the pD₂ in the presence of both MFA and L-NMMA was not different among diet groups, WK-B group (6.65 \pm 0.13) vs. WK-C group (6.56 \pm 0.13), (p = 0.63).

Diet group	Ach	MFA	L-NMMA	MFA + L-NMMA
WK-C	7.49 ± 0.02	7.56 ± 0.03	6.65 ± 0.10	6.56 ± 0.13
WK-B	7.41 ± 0.02^{a}	7.51 ± 0.03	6.81 ± 0.10	6.65 ± 0.13

Table 4.2. Effect of Diet on the pD_2^* of WK Rat Aorta in the Absence or Presence of Inhibitors

* Mean ± SEM

^a Statistically significant compared to WK-C, p≤0.05

WK-C: control group, (n = 9); WK-B: blueberry group, (n = 9); Ach: acetylcholine; MFA: mefenamic acid; L-NMMA: $L-N^{G}$ -monomethyl arginine

Figure 4.8. Effect of Diet on the pD_2^* of WK Rat Aorta in the Absence or Presence of Inhibitors



* Mean ± SEM

^a Statistically significant compared to WK-C, p≤0.05

WK-C: control group, (n = 9); WK-B: blueberry group (n = 9); Ach: acetylcholine; MFA: mefenamic acid; L-NMMA: L-N^G-monomethyl arginine

4.2. Spontaneously Hypertensive Rats

4.2.1. Rat Growth and Weight

Figure 4.9 represents the growth rate of SHRs fed control (SHR-C) and wild blueberry-enriched (SHR-B) diet from 12 to 21 weeks of age. The rate of growth during the nine week time period was not significantly different between the two diet groups. The final mean body weights at the end of the diet study were $343 \pm$ 2.70 g and 353 ± 5.34 g for the SHR-C and SHR-B group respectively, which were not statistically significant, (p = 0.13). Also, no statistically significant difference was found for food intake of the two diet groups, 20 ± 0.36 g in the SHR-C group and 20 ± 0.36 g in the SHR-B group, (p = 0.45).







4.2.2. Effect of Diet on Maximum Vasodilation Force (Fmax)

The effect of diet on the Fmax in response to Ach a) in the absence of inhibitors or in the presence of b) the COX-pathway inhibitor mefenamic acid (MFA) or c) the NO-pathway inhibitor L-N^G-monomethyl arginine (L-NMMA) or d) both inhibitors added simultaneously, is presented in Table 4.3 and Figure 4.10. The Fmax in response to Ach observed in the SHR-B group (92.13 ± 0.56) was significantly lower than the Fmax observed in the SHR-C group (94.63 ± 0.56), (p≤0.05), while the Fmax observed for the SHR-B group (102.17 ± 0.57) in the presence of MFA was significantly higher than in the SHR-C group ((97.76 ± 0.57), (p≤0.05). In presence of L-NMMA, Fmax, did not differ significantly among diet groups (SHR-B group: 46.45 ± 0.49 vs. SHR-C group: 45.36 ± 0.49), (p = 0.16). Finally, when both inhibitors were present, Fmax was similar in the two diet groups (SHR-B group: 53.60 ± 0.89 vs. SHR-C group: 53.49 ± 0.89), (p = 0.93).

Table 4.3. Effect of Diet on the Fmax* in the Absence or Presence of Inhibitors in the SHRs

		Fmax Ach	Fmax Ach	Fmax Ach
Diet group	Fmax Ach	MFA	L-NMMA	MFA + L-NMMA
SHR-C	94.63 ± 0.56	97.76 ± 0.57 ^b	45.39 ± 0.49 ^b	53.49 ± 0.89 ^b
SHR-B	92.13 ± 0.56 ^a	102.17 ± 0.57 ^{a,b}	46.45 ± 0.49 ^b	53.60 ± 0.89^{b}

* Mean ± SEM

^a Statistically significant compared to SHR-C group, p≤0.05

^b Statistically significant compared to Ach without the presence of inhibitors within the same diet group, $p \le 0.05$ (n = 10)

SHR-C: control group, (n = 10); SHR-B: blueberry group, (n = 10); Ach: acetylcholine; MFA: mefenamic acid; L-NMMA: L-N^G-monomethyl arginine

Figure 4.10. Effect of Diet on the Fmax* in the Absence or Presence of Inhibitors in the SHRs



* Mean ± SEM

^a Statistically significant compared to SHR-C, p≤0.05 SHR-C: control group, (n = 10); SHR-B: blueberry group, (n = 10); Ach:

acetylcholine; MFA: mefenamic acid; L-NMMA: L-N^G-monomethyl arginine

4.2.3. Effect of Inhibitors on Maximum Vasodilation Force (Fmax)

Figure 4.11 presents the changes in the Fmax due to the addition of inhibitors within the same diet group. The changes were calculated by subtracting the Fmax in the presence of the inhibitors from the Fmax in the absence of inhibitors. Inhibition of the COX pathway with MFA resulted in a significant increase of maximum vasodilation by 3% in the SHR-C group, while in the SHR-B group, the presence of MFA triggered a 10% increase in the Fmax, (p≤0.05). Inhibition of the NOS with L-NMMA reduced maximum vasodilation by 49% in the SHR-C group and by 46% in the SHR-B group. The change in Fmax induced by L-NMMA was statistically significant in both diet groups, (p≤0.05). The presence of both inhibitors, MFA and L-NMMA, caused a significant reduction in maximum

vasodilation force by 41% in the SHR-C group and 39% in the SHR-B group, $(p \le 0.05)$.



Figure 4.11. Fmax* in the Absence or Presence of Inhibitors in the SHRs

* Mean ± SEM

^a Statistically significant compared to SHR-C, p≤0.05

^b Statistically significant compared to Ach treatment, $p \le 0.05$ (n = 10) SHR-C: control group, (n = 10); SHR-B: blueberry group, (n = 10); Ach: acetylcholine; MFA: mefenamic acid; L-NMMA: L-N^G-monomethyl arginine

4.2.4. Effect of Diet on Vasodilation Force, Ach Dose-Response Curves

Figures 4.12, 4.13, 4.14 and 4.15 display the dose-response curves of the Achinduced vasodilation in the aortic rings in the absence or presence of MFA, L-NMMA or both MFA and L-NMMA. In the absence of inhibitors, the vasodilation force was significantly greater in the SHR-B group for the 2nd and 3rd Ach dose $(3\times10^{-9} \text{ and } 10^{-8}\text{M})$, but significantly lower for the 4th, 5th and 6th Ach dose $(10^{-7}, 3\times10^{-7} \text{ and } 3\times10^{-6}\text{M})$, (p≤0.05) (Figure 4.12).

Figure 4.12. Ach Dose-Response Curve in the Absence of Inhibitors in the SHR Aorta



* Statistically significant compared to SHR-C, $p \le 0.05$ SHR-C: control group, (n = 10); SHR-B: blueberry group, (n = 10); Ach: acetylcholine

In the presence of COX inhibitor MFA, the aortic rings from the SHR-B developed significantly greater vasodilation for all Ach doses ($p\leq0.05$) (Figure 4.13), while in the presence of NOS inhibitor L-NMMA, the aortic rings from the SHR-B group developed significantly greater vasodilation at the 3rd, 4th and 7th Ach doses only (10^{-8} , 3×10^{-8} and 10^{-6} M), ($p\leq0.05$) (Figure 4.14). When both inhibitors were added, the SHR-B aortic rings exhibited significantly higher vasodilation response than the SHR-C rings, at the first four Ach doses (10^{-9} , 3×10^{-9} , 10^{-8} and 3×10^{-8} M), ($p\leq0.05$) (Figure 4.15).

Figure 4.13. Ach Dose-Response Curve in the Presence of MFA in the SHR Aorta



* Statistically significant compared to SHR-C group, $p \le 0.05$ SHR-C: control group, (n = 10); SHR-B: blueberry group, (n = 10); Ach: acetylcholine; MFA: mefenamic acid

Figure 4.14. Ach Dose-Response Curve in the Presence of L-NMMA in the SHR Aorta



* Statistically significant compared to SHR-C group, p≤0.05 SHR-C: control group, (n = 10); SHR-B: blueberry group, (n = 10); Ach: acetylcholine; L-NMMA: L-N^G-monomethyl arginine

Figure 4.15. Ach Dose-Response Curve in the Presence of both MFA and L-NMMA in SHR Aorta



* Statistically significant compared to control group, $p \le 0.05$ SHR-C: control group, (n = 10); SHR-B: blueberry group, (n = 10); Ach: acetylcholine; MFA: mefenamic acid; L-NMMA: L-N^G-monomethyl arginine

4.2.5. Effect of Diet on Vessel Sensitivity (pD₂)

The vessel sensitivity expressed as pD₂ values for the aortic rings of SHRs fed control and wild blueberry-enriched diet is displayed in Table 4.4 and Figure 4.16. The pD₂ in the absence of inhibitors did not differ among diet groups (SHR-B group: 7.54 ± 0.02 vs. SHR-C group: 7.59 ± 0.02), (p = 0.11). In the presence of MFA the pD₂ in the SHR-B group (7.72 ± 0.02) was significantly greater than the SHR-C group (7.63 ± 0.02), (p≤0.05). The pD₂ was also found to differ significantly among diet groups in the presence of L-NMMA, SHR-B: 7.17 ± 0.02 vs. SHR-C: 7.04 ± 0.02 , (p≤0.05). Finally, the pD₂ in the presence of both MFA and L-NMMA was not different between diet groups (SHR-B: 7.20 ± 0.04 and SHR-C: 7.25 ± 0.04), (p = 0.38).

Table 4.4. Effect of Diet on the pD_2^* of SHR Aorta in the Absence or Presence of Inhibitors

Diet group	Ach	MFA	LNMMA	MFA + L-NMMA
SHR-C	7.59 ± 0.02	7.63 ± 0.02	7.04 ± 0.02	7.25 ± 0.04
SHR-B	7.54 ± 0.02	7.72 ± 0.02^{a}	7.17 ± 0.02^{a}	7.20 ± 0.04

* Mean ± SEM

^a Statistically significant compared to SHR-C, p≤0.05

SHR-C: control group, (n = 10); SHR-B: blueberry group, (n = 10); Ach: acetylcholine; MFA: mefenamic acid; L-NMMA: $L-N^{G}$ -monomethyl arginine

Figure 4.16. Effect of Diet on the pD_2^* of SHR Aorta in the Absence or Presence of Inhibitors



* Mean ± SEM

^a Statistically significant compared to SHR-C, p≤0.05

SHR-C: control group, (n = 10); SHR-B: blueberry group, (n = 10); Ach: acetylcholine; MFA: mefenamic acid; L-NMMA: $L-N^{G}$ -monomethyl arginine

4.3. Blood pressure (BP)

Blood pressure was measured in WK rats and SHRs fed a control or wild blueberry-enriched diet for nine weeks. Measurements of systolic, diastolic and mean arterial BP were taken. Even though systolic, diastolic and mean BP was significantly different between rat strains (p≤0.05), no significant difference was detected between dietary treatments (Figure 4.17, 4.18). Table 4.5 presents the mean systolic, diastolic and mean arterial BP in the WK rats. The mean systolic BP in the WK-B group $(136 \pm 1.55 \text{ mmHg})$ was not significantly different from the WK-C group (133 \pm 1.55 mmHg), (p = 0.29). Similarly, the mean diastolic BP in the WK-B group (100 ± 1.95 mmHg) did not differ significantly from the WK-C group (94 \pm 1.95 mmHg), (p = 0.52). Finally, no significant difference was observed in the mean arterial BP in the WK-B group (117 ± 1.78 mmHg) vs. the WK-C group (112 \pm 1.78 mmHg), (p = 0.08). Table 4.6 presents the mean systolic, diastolic and mean arterial BP in the SHRs. No significant differences were detected between diet groups in the mean systolic BP (SHR-B group: 224 \pm 3.66 mmHg vs. SHR-C group: 221 ± 3.66 mmHg, p =0.56), the mean diastolic BP (SHR-B group: 151 ± 1.43 mmHg vs. SHR-C group: 150 ± 1.43 mmHg, p = 0.52) and the mean arterial BP (SHR-B group: 183 ± 2.10 mmHg vs. SHR-C group: $180 \pm 2.09 \text{ mmHg}, p = 0.47$).



Figure 4.17. Systolic, Diastolic and Mean Arterial BP¹ in WK-C and SHR-C

¹Mean ± SEM (mmHg)

* Statistically significant compared to WK-C, $p \le 0.05$

WK-C: control group (n = 10); SHR-C: control group (n = 10)





¹Mean ± SEM (mmHg)

* Statistically significant compared to WK-B, $p \le 0.05$

WK-B: blueberry group (n = 10); SHR-B: blueberry group (n = 10)

Table 4. 5. Effect of Diet on the Systolic, Diastolic and Mean Arterial BP¹ in the WK Rats

Diet group	Systolic BP	Diastolic BP	Mean BP
WK-C	133 ± 1.55	94 ± 1.95	112 ± 1.77
WK-B	136 ± 1.55	100 ± 1.95	117 ± 1.77

¹ Mean ± SEM (mmHg)

WK-C: control group, (n = 10); WK-B: blueberry group, (n = 10); BP: blood pressure

No significant differences were detected among WK-C and WK-B.

Table 4.6. Effect of Diet on the Systolic, Diastolic and Mean Arterial BP¹ in the SHRs

Diet group	Systolic BP	Diastolic BP	Mean BP
SHR-C	221 ± 3.66	150 ± 1.43	180 ± 2.09
SHR-B	224 ± 3.66	151 ± 1.43	183 ± 2.09

¹ Mean ± SEM (mmHg)

SHR-C: control group, (n=10); SHR-B: blueberry group (n = 10); BP: blood pressure

No significant differences were detected among SHR-C and SHR-B.

CHAPTER 5

DISCUSSION

5.1. Summary of Results

The aim of the present study was to evaluate the ex vivo effect of nine week dietary treatment with wild blueberries (Vaccinum angustifolium) on the arterial functional properties of the hypertensive and normotensive young adult rat. Wild blueberries were provided at 8% (w/w) of total diet content, which is equivalent to daily human consumption of a half cup of fresh-wild blueberries (Norton et al., 2005). To our knowledge there are no feeding studies on the effect of wild blueberries on vasomotion besides the studies conducted in this laboratory (Kalea et al., 2005; Norton et al., 2005; Clark, 2007). Previous studies conducted in our laboratory reported that wild blueberries can reduce vasoconstriction induced by phenylephrine (Phe) in the aorta of young normotensive young Sprague-Dawley (SD) rats, an action that requires an intact and functional endothelium. In SD rats of this age, wild blueberries do not seem to exert their effect on vasoconstriction in response to Phe through cell membrane receptoragonist interactions (Norton et al., 2005). Additionally, wild blueberries were shown to affect the endothelium dependent-vasodilation via the NO pathway in young normotensive SD and by modulating the production and/or the activity of COX-derived products in the young hypertensive SHR aorta (Clark, 2007). The same study confirmed that in the normotensive SD rat, the endotheliumdependent vasodilation is primarily mediated by NO. Additionally, wild

blueberries exert their effect on acetylcholine (Ach)-induced vasodilation by modulating cell membrane receptor-agonist interactions (Clark, 2007).

The objectives of the current study were to examine the possible effect of wild blueberries on endothelium-dependent vasodilation in aortas with dysfunctional endothelium from young adult SHRs with full-blown hypertension, and their controls, the normotensive WK rats with functional endothelium, in an attempt to dissect the biochemical mechanism that wild blueberries may employ on vasodilation in the young adult hypertensive rat and normotensive rat.

We documented that in the young adult normotensive WK, wild blueberries do not affect maximum endothelium-dependent vasodilation in response to Ach. However, wild blueberries seem to modulate the cell membrane receptor-agonist interactions in response to Ach in the above strain. In the young adult SHR, wild blueberries reduce the maximum vasodilation force in response to Ach, an effect which is mediated by the COX pathway, as shown by the increased maximum vasodilation force in response to Ach with the COX-pathway inhibition. Furthermore, the SHR-B aortic rings exhibited greater Ach-induced vasodilation at lower Ach doses (3x10⁻⁹ and 10⁻⁸M) compared to SHR-C. Additionally, wild blueberries seem to have an effect on the receptor-agonist interactions in response to Ach in the young adult SHR when either NO or COX pathway is inhibited. Finally, wild blueberries did not have a significant effect on the systolic, diastolic and mean arterial blood pressure (BP) in either strain of rats. Hence, the effect of wild blueberries on vasodilation may be strain-dependent and/ or depend on the physiological state of the aorta (functional vs. dysfunctional

endothelium) as shown by the differential effect upon the functional endothelium of WK and dysfunctional endothelium of SHR. Additionally, the effect of wild blueberries on vasodilation does not seem to be associated with regulation of BP in the young adult SHR and WK rat.

5.2. Wistar Kyoto Rats

5.2.1. Effect of Wild blueberries on Endothelium-Dependent Vasodilation in Response to Ach

In the present study, the Ach-induced vasodilation in the aortas between diet groups was similar in the young adult WK rats. In agreement with these findings a recent study conducted in our laboratory on young SD rats did not reveal any significant effect of wild blueberry-enriched diet on Ach-induced vasodilation (Clark, 2007). It can be therefore suggested that wild blueberries do not seem to influence the muscarinic receptor in smooth muscle cells. However, wild blueberry diets affect the arterial biomechanical properties by suppressing the α_1 -adrenergic receptor-agonist vasoconstriction induced by Phe, as documented by an earlier dietary study on young normotensive SD rats conducted in our laboratory (Norton *et al.*, 2005). Thus, wild blueberries have differential effects on different receptors of vascular cells.

The involvement of NO and COX pathways in endothelium-mediated vasodilation in response to Ach was evaluated by their inhibition with L-NMMA and MFA respectively. Additionally, both inhibitors were used simultaneously to examine the potential role of NO-COX interaction on vasodilation. The presence of any of

the inhibitors, either separately or simultaneously, did not have any significant effect on the vasodilation between the two diet groups. These findings suggest that wild blueberries do not affect to a great extend the NO or COX-mediated pathways in the young adult normotensive WK when provided at 8% of total diet composition and for the period of nine weeks. The inhibitory effect of L-NMMA on vasodilation was more pronounced in young SD rats fed wild blueberries versus SD rats fed a control diet (Clark, 2007), implying that wild blueberries show potential in enhancing or preserving NO bioavailability in animals with functional endothelium. However, in the present study, utilizing a different strain of normotensive rat, the WK, did not seem to affect the vasodilation pathways studied.

It is not clear why wild blueberries seem to be involved in the NO pathway in the SD but not in the WK rats, since both strains have a functional endothelium. Interspecies variability in the type, density and conformation of agonist receptors, as well as in the structure of the vascular wall itself, may explain the above observations. Additionally, the age difference, i.e. young SD vs. young adult WK, may also contribute to the above phenomenon. A study by Vizioli *et al.* (2005), indicated that vasodilation of the thoracic aorta of 12 to 14 week-old WK rats in response to Ach, besides NO, involves COX-derived prostanoids as indicated by inhibition with indomethacin (Vizioli *et al.*, 2005). Another study by Heymes *et al.* (2000), documented that in old WK rats (24 vs. 4 months of age) vasoconstrictor prostanoids may reduce Ach-induced vasodilation (Heymes *et al.*, 2000). Hence,

it is possible that in the WK rats the action of prostanoids may shift from vasodilatory in younger age to vasoconstrictor in older aged rats.

Rapoport and Williams (1996) proposed prostacyclin (PGI₂) as the endotheliumderived contracting factor responsible for Ach induced contractions in 7 to12 months-old WK rats (Rapoport and Williams, 1996). Moreover, in the aorta of WK rat older than 15 weeks, PGI₂ receptor (IP) agonist cannot evoke IP receptormediated relaxations (Levy, 1980; Rapoport and Williams, 1996).

In the present study, the maximum vasodilation was not different between diet groups after COX pathway inhibition in the WK rat. Similarly, wild blueberries did not have a significant effect on maximum vasodilation under the COX inhibition in the SD rat (Clark, 2007). The inhibition of the COX pathway significantly reduced vasodilation in the WK-C group, possibly by preventing the generation of COXderived vasoconstrictors. However, COX-inhibition did not alter significantly the maximum vasodilation in the WK-B group, suggesting that wild blueberries may cancel out the vasoconstrictor effect of COX through an unknown as yet mechanism.

The inhibition of NO pathway did not elicit a different response in the maximum vasodilation force between diet groups in the young adult WK rat. However, the possibility that wild blueberries may protect NO bioavailability in the WK rat, cannot be excluded in the view of previous findings that wild blueberry exhibited the potential to preserve NO in the SD rat (Clark, 2007).

The vasorelaxant and the NO-protective effect of isolated flavonoid compounds in normotensive animal models with functional endothelium, has been

demonstrated by several studies (Andriambeloson et al., 1998; Zenebe et al., 2003; Benito et al., 2002; Chung et al., 1993; Nakamura et al., 2002). Delphinidin was shown to elicit an endothelium-dependent vasodilatory effect in WK rat aorta, which was completely mediated by NO activity (Andriambeloson et al., 1998). Additionally, incubation of WK femoral artery with red wine polyphenol powder, particularly rich in proanthocyanidins, increased NO bioactivity and vasorelaxation (Zenebe et al., 2003). Quercetin and structurally related compounds showed vasorelaxant activity in the thoracic WK rat aorta by suppressing the Ca²⁺- and Phe-induced contractions (Chung et al., 1993). In SD rats, black currant concentrate, rich in delphinidin and cyanidin (Nakamura et al., 2002) as well as a diet rich in dealcoholated red wine, guercetin or catechin (Benito et al., 2002), elicited a vasodilatory effect mediated by the NO pathway. Similarly, incubation of SD rat aortic rings with the flavonoid-rich artichoke leaf organic subfraction was shown to enhance the NO mediated vasodilator response to Ach (Li et al., 2004).

Our observations from the inhibition of the NO and COX pathway are in agreement with the work of Vizioli *et al.* (2005), which showed that in the thoracic aorta of 12 to 14 week-old WK, the Ach-induced vasodilation was inhibited by L-NMMA treatment and was partially reduced by the non-selective COX-inhibitor indomethacin. Additionally, treatment of rings with both L-NMMA and indomethacin also reduced the vasodilation response to Ach (Vizioli *et al.*, 2005). The only difference is that in our study, the inhibition of the COX-pathway in the WK fed wild blueberry, did not significantly alter the Ach-induce vasodilation

force. Vassale *et al.* (2003) indicated that a pronounced release of NO is expected when COX is inhibited in order to compensate for the reduced PGI₂ levels, whereas the vasodilator prostaglandins seem to have no capacity to modulate NO release in the endothelial cells when NO synthase is inhibited (Vassale *et al.*, 2003). This finding further supports the role of wild blueberries on preserving NO, since wild blueberry treatment may potentiate a greater NO bioavailability, in comparison to the control. Fundamentally, in both human subjects and animal models with functional endothelium, NO is the primary mediator of the Ach-induced vasodilation (Taddei and Salvetti, 2002). Our study confirmed that inhibition of NO synthase by L-NMMA leads to a far greater attenuation of vasodilation force than the inhibition of COX.

Overall, although the wild blueberry treatment did not elicit any significant change in the vasodilation force in the normotensive WK rat aorta, the possibility that it may act on preserving the NO bioavailability in the WK rat, cannot be excluded.

5.2.2. Vessel Reactivity

Vessel reactivity or sensitivity, pD_2 , is an index of cell membrane-receptor agonist interactions. Vessel reactivity is the negative log of the concentration of the agonist required to inhibit 50% of the vessel response, EC₅₀. In our study, pD_2 is used as an indication of whether wild blueberries can affect the cell membrane-receptor agonist interactions. In the WK rat, Ach induced a significant difference on the pD_2 values among the two diet groups. The WK-B group showed a decrease in the vessel sensitivity as compared to the control. This

finding suggests a possible interaction between membrane receptors and the muscarinic agonist Ach in the WK-B group. Our observations on vessel sensitivity on the WK rat agree with Clark (2007), who also reported an effect of wild blueberries on the vessel sensitivity of the SD rats (Clark, 2007).

Previous work in Dr. Klimis-Zacas' laboratory reported that blueberries can modulate the structure of the extracellular matrix (EC) of young male SD rat aortas by increasing the concentration of glycosaminoglycans (GAGs) and decreasing the sulfation of all GAG-type molecules (Kalea et al., 2005). Glycosaminoglycans are structural components of the glycocalyx, which coats the luminal surface of the vascular endothelial cells. The glycocalyx is considered a first line of protection against atherogenic damage of the endothelium (van den Berg et al., 2006). Glycosaminoglycans participate in the structural organization of the EC and in the regulation of several vascular functions. A possible role in signal transduction pathways has been attributed to the effect of GAG sulfation, in Ach-receptor clustering and therefore sensitivity (Mc. Donnell and Grow, 2000). Furthermore, several enzymes such as eNOS, superoxide dismutase (SOD) or angiotensin converting enzyme (ACE), growth factors and chemokines, all with a principal role in plasma and vessel wall homeostasis are present in the vascular environment. Therefore the glycocalyx is a vital player of endothelial function and homeostasis (van den Berg et al., 2006). Based on the findings that wild blueberries were shown to alter the structure of the EC, a possible effect of blueberries on endothelial and vascular smooth muscle signal transduction pathways in the WK rat can be implied.

5.3. Spontaneously Hypertensive Rats

5.3.1. Effect of Wild Blueberries on Endothelium-Dependent Vasodilation in Response to Ach

This study was aimed at clarifying the possible effect of wild blueberries on endothelium-dependent vasodilation in the aorta of young adult SHR with a dysfunctional endothelium. The SHRs develop hypertension without exception between the age of 7 to 15 weeks (Yamori, 1984). The present study on arterial functional properties was conducted on 21 week-old SHRs after 9 weeks of dietary treatment in order to investigate the role of wild blueberries in fullydeveloped hypertension.

Acetylcholine dose-response curves in the absence and in the presence of NO and COX inhibitors were constructed to study the effect of wild blueberries on vasodilation pathways in the SHR aorta. In the absence of inhibitors, the dose-response curve revealed that the vasodilation force was higher in the SHR-B group at the lower Ach doses but lower at the higher Ach doses (Figure 4.12). Overall, a significantly lower vasodilation force in response to Ach in the SHR-B group versus the SHR-C group was observed. Hence, wild blueberries act to increase the vasodilatory response to Ach at lower doses, whereas this effect is reversed at the higher Ach doses. In the SHR, higher Ach doses than those required for vasodilation, can induce vasoconstriction due to EDCF release, but also due to a direct effect on VSMC (Boulanger *et al.*, 1994; Luscher and Vanhoutte, 1986). However, in the young SHR wild blueberries did not alter the endothelium-dependent vasodilation in response to Ach in the absence of

inhibitors. The same study indicated that the vasodilation force developed in the young SHR fed wild blueberry was higher at the Ach doses 10^{-8} and 3×10^{-8} M but not different at any other Ach dose (Clark, 2007). Hence, the vasodilatory effect of wild blueberries at lower Ach doses in young and young adult SHR is similar. However, at higher Ach doses, the wild blueberry diet seems to have a different and probably age-dependent effect on vasodilation.

In SHRs younger than 14 weeks old, the endothelium-mediated vasorelaxation seems to be similar to normotensive rats of the same age and therefore young SHRs may be considered as normotensive before full development of hypertension (Cappelli-Bigazzi et al., 1997). Acetylcholine-mediated vascular relaxation, even after treatment with the COX inhibitor indomethacin, did not differ significantly among normotensive and young SHR, while the release of COX-dependent vasoconstrictors occurred only in vessels of aged normotensive or SHR animals and in response to higher concentrations of Ach (10⁻⁵ and 10⁻⁶M) (Koga et al., 1989). Hence, it is possible that a greater release of COX-derived vasoconstrictors occurs at higher Ach doses in the young adult SHR vs. the young SHR, which can mask any possible effect of wild blueberries on vasodilation. Cyclooxygenase-derived vasoconstrictors generated in response to higher Ach doses may be responsible for the observed decline in the wild blueberry effect on vasodilation occurring in higher Ach doses (3x10⁻⁸ to 3x10⁻¹ ⁶M). It has been reported that in the 12 to 14 week-old SHR, endoperoxides (PGH₂) account for the reduced endothelium dependent contraction, whereas in the 72 week-old rat impaired NO formation and/ or increased NO inactivation

seem to be involved as well (Kung and Luscher, 1995). Furthermore, in one year old SHR, PGI₂ induced by Ach was shown to act as a contracting and not a relaxing factor (Gluais et al., 2005), probably due to a decreased response of the IP receptor. In the aorta of older than 15 weeks WK or SHR, IP receptor agonists cannot evoke relaxations (Levy, 1980; Rapoport and Williams, 1996). The expression of the IP receptor gene decreases with age in the SHR and WK rat as well (Numaguchi et al., 1999). Hence the aging process, by favoring a vasoconstrictor state in the aorta, may contribute to the decreased vasodilation observed in the young adult SHR fed wild blueberry, possibly due to the interaction of wild blueberry with one or more factors that induce age-dependent changes such as prostaglandins or their receptors. Furthermore, it can be suggested that the greater vasodilation observed at the lower Ach doses in the SHR may reflect a potential effect of blueberries on initial precontraction rather than an effect on vasodilation. As observed by Norton et al. (2005), wild blueberries were shown to suppress the α_1 -adrenergic receptor-agonist vasoconstriction induced by Phe in the SD rat (Norton et al, 2005). This possibility cannot be ignored, even though the effect of wild blueberries may be different among strains. Studies on the effect of wild blueberries on the vasoconstriction in the SHR are not currently available to clarify this possibility. The inhibition of the COX pathway produced higher vasodilation in the SHR-B aorta versus the SHR-C, suggesting a possible effect of wild blueberries on the

hand, the inhibition of NO synthesis with L-NMMA did not induce any difference

COX-derived vasodilatory prostanoids in the young adult SHR. On the other

in the vasodilation among the diet groups, implying that wild blueberries do not affect NO bioavailability in the young adult SHR aorta. Wild blueberries have been shown to preserve NO bioavailability in the young normotensive SD rats (Clark, 2007). However, the endothelial dysfunction in the SHR seems to limit the wild blueberry potential in preserving NO bioavailability. In the SHR the endothelium-dependent vasodilation seems to be impaired due to a reduced availability of NO (Kerr *et al.*, 1999; Xiao and Pang, 1994). Besides the reduced NO release, the increased release of EDCF(s) also accounts for the blunted endothelium-dependent relaxations to Ach in the SHR aorta (Luscher and Vanhoutte, 1986).

In our study, when the release of the COX-derived vasodilators such as PGI₂ and vasoconstrictors such as TXA₂, was inhibited by MFA, wild blueberries exhibited a vasorelaxant effect. An enhanced release of NO may occur with the inhibition of PGI₂ generation (Vassale *et al.*, 2003). Wild blueberries may further aid this compensatory mechanism by preserving NO bioavailability due to their antioxidant properties (Mazza *et al.*, 2002; Kay and Holub, 2002). In the present study, when vascular rings were treated with MFA, the vasodilation force was increased in both diet groups, confirming the finding by Taddei *et al.* (1998) that COX inhibition can increase or normalize the blunted Ach-induced vasodilation of dysfunctional endothelium (Taddei *et al.*, 1998). When both NO and COX pathways were inhibited, vasodilation was decreased in both diet groups, but there was no difference in the vasodilatory response between them. The NO and COX pathways constantly interact and therefore manipulation of one pathway

may have an effect on both (Mollace *et al.*, 2005). As previously mentioned, in our study, when both NO and COX pathways were operating, the vasodilation force was decreased in the SHR-B group, but it cannot be determined whether this effect is due to a direct influence of wild bueberries on COX derived vasoconstrictors; or to an indirect adverse effect of COX-derived vasoconstrictors on NO bioavailability.

Cyclooxygenase is overexpressed in the SHR, resulting in an increased production of vasoconstrictor prostanoids (Vanhoutte et al., 2005), as well as an increased ROS levels (Katusic, 1996). The excessive production of superoxide anion results in the increased oxidative stress in the vascular walls of SHR, which has been postulated to mediate endothelial dysfunction (Kerr et al., 1999; Yang et al., 2002; Cuzocrea et al., 2004). Antioxidant dietary treatment has been shown to improve the endothelial function in the SHR (Maccha and Mustafa, 2005). The endothelium-dependent vasodilator response to Ach and overall endothelial function can be restored in SHR treated with y-tocotrienol (Newaz et al., 2003) or in hypertensive humans treated with vitamin C (Taddei et al., 1998), as a result of the antioxidant and free radical scavenging activity of the vitamins. Besides antioxidant vitamins, several flavonoid compounds have demonstrated a protective activity against oxidative stress. The antioxidant activity of cyanidin-3 galactoside and several quercetin glycosides isolated from cranberry was comparable to vitamin E (Yan et al., 2002). By scavenging peroxynitrite (ONOO) cyanidin-3-O-glucoside from blackberry juice had a protective in vitro effect against endothelial dysfunction and vascular failure (Serraino et al., 2003). Red

wine polyphenols, delphinidin and cyanidin can directly scavenge ROS and prevent the ROS platelet derived growth factor_{AB} (PDGF_{AB})-induced formation in cultured vascular smooth muscle cell (VSMC). Additionally malvidin and peonidin although they did not scavenge ROS, prevented their cellular formation (Oak *et al.*, 2006).

Wild blueberries have been endowed with antioxidant properties (Mazza et al., 2002; Kay and Holub, 2002); therefore they may protect endothelium function through ROS scavenging. Besides free radical scavenging, wild blueberry components can modulate other mechanisms towards a vasoprotective result. The inhibition of protein kinase C and cAMP release, inhibition of cyclic nucleotide phosphodiesterase or decreased Ca²⁺ may also contribute to the vasodilatory effect of flavonoids in a manner related to the flavonoid structure (Duarte et al., 1993). Wine, grape juice, grape skin extracts and several plant extracts were shown to produce endothelium-dependent relaxation in vitro mediated by the NO and through an increase in cGMP levels (Fitzpatrick et al., 1993; Fitzptrick *et al.*, 1995). Quercetin was shown to reduce the α_1 -adrenergic receptor mediated contractile response (Ajay et al., 2006) and to enhance eNOS activity, besides decreasing NADPH oxidase mediated superoxide generation (Sanchez et al., 2006). Cyanidin-3-glucoside was shown to increase eNOS expression and NO release in bovine vascular endothelial cells (Xu et al., 2004a) and to regulate phosphorylation of eNOS and the protein kinase Akt (Xu et al., 2004b). Delphinidin and cyanidin suppressed in vitro lipopolysacharide-induced COX-2 expression in murine macrophages (Hou et al., 2005). Cyanidin, cyanidin

3-galactoside and cyanidin 3-glucoside from *Amelanchier* fruits were shown to inhibit *in vitro* COX-1 and -2 in a dose-dependent manner (Adhikari *et al.*, 2005). Therefore, a wild blueberry-enriched diet potentially has a positive effect on endothelium-dependent vasodilation in the young adult SHR, via promoting NOmediated vasodilation in an antioxidant-dependent or -independent manner. However, the beneficial effect of wild blueberries on Ach-induced vasodilation in the young adult SHR seems to be masked by the high activity of COX-derived vasoconstrictor factors on this genetic model of endothelial dysfunction. A longer dietary treatment and/or a higher concentration of wild blueberries in the diet may be necessary to elicit a beneficial effect. Furthermore, in the SHR model, a strong genetic predisposition underlies endothelial dysfunction and therefore, a protective role of wild blueberries on vasodilation may be observed in a preventive, rather than a therapeutic dietary treatment.

5.3.2. Vessel Reactivity

No significant differences in vessel sensitivity among diet groups were observed in the young adult SHR in the absence of the inhibitors or in the presence of both inhibitors. However, when either L-NMMA or MFA were added separately, the vessel sensitivity in the blueberry group was higher than in the control diet group. These findings strengthen further the hypothesis that, wild blueberries act on the agonist receptor interactions possibly through modification of EC at the GAG level, as previously reported (Kalea *et al.*, 2005). Components of the EC matrix are protected by antioxidant activity, as EC SOD has been shown to protect

heparin/heparan sulfate (Kliment *et al.*, 2008) and hyaluronan (Gao *et al.*, 2008) from oxidative fragmentation. These studies provide an explanatory link between the antioxidant effect of wild blueberries and EC protection. It is not clear, however, why wild blueberries exhibit this effect only when NO and COX pathways are inhibited separately, but not simultaneously.

In comparison with age matched WK rats, the SHR aortic tissue has an increased total GAG concentration as well as different GAG composition and sulfation pattern, changes that have been implicated in the development of hypertension (Risler *et al.*, 2003). Provided the potential of wild blueberries to alter the GAG profile in the normotensive rat to a less atherogenic one (Kalea *et al.*, 2005), it is possible that wild blueberries show a similar potential in the SHR.

5.4. Blood Pressure

To our knowledge this is the first attempt to study the effect of wild blueberries on the arterial blood pressure (BP) of the young adult normotensive WK rat and SHR. Blood pressure was directly measured in WK rats and SHR, fed a control or blueberry-enriched diet (8% w/w) for nine weeks. Measurements of systolic, diastolic and mean arterial BP were taken. No significant difference between the diet groups was found in either strain of rats. Our study reveals that at the level of 8% of diet for nine weeks, wild blueberries do not have any significant effect on the BP of young adult WK and SHR. The amount of 8% wild blueberries in the animal diet is equivalent to half a cup of blueberries or 120 g of human daily consumption. Several studies (Mizutani *et al.*, 1999; Shindo *et al.*, 2007; Duarte

et al., 2001; Sanchez *et al.*, 2006; Sakaida *et al.*, 2007; Liu *et al.*, 2003) have revealed the hypotensive effect of isolated flavonoid components, also found in wild blueberries, but in our study we proposed to document the effect of the wild blueberries on BP and therefore we utilized the whole fruit.

Red wine polyphenols induced a decrease in the BP of 12 week old WK rats, after a short term oral administration (Diebolt et al., 2001). Extract of wine phenolics were shown to reduce BP elevation in Stroke Prone Spontaneously Hypertensive Rat (SHRSP) after an eight-week treatment with phenolic-enriched diet (Mizutani et al., 1999). Anthocyanins from purple corn, sweet potato and red radish administered at the level of 1% of diet for 15 weeks starting at the age of 5 weeks were shown to reduce BP in SHR (Shindo et al., 2007). Quercetin administration for five weeks reduced BP and enhanced the endotheliumdependent vasodilation in response to Ach by reducing oxidative stress in the 17 week-old SHR, but not in the WK rat (Duarte et al., 2001). In addition to lowering BP and heart rate of SHR, and enhancing endothelium-dependent vasodilation, quercetin increased eNOS activity and decreased NADPH oxidase-mediated superoxide generation (Sanchez et al., 2006). Blood pressure of SHR was reduced after treatment with blueberry leaf extract, which contained 18.7% tannins (Sakaida et al., 2007). Various tannins were shown to reduce BP in SHR, via non-specific inhibition of angiotensin converting enzyme (ACE) (Liu et al., 2003). In addition, polyphenolic compounds, such as flavan-3-ols and procyanidins, isolated from cocoa were found to reduce significantly ACE activity

in vitro due to competition for enzyme-active sites with synthetic substrates rather than a direct antioxidant effect on ACE (Actis-Gorretta *et al.*, 2003).

Similarly to animal studies, the observations from human studies as related to BP reduction, vary depending upon the bioactive compounds, their source, as well as the administration dose, method and duration (McAnulty et al., 2005; Grassi et al., 2005; Aviram et al., 2001; Aviram et al., 2004). Daily consumption of 250 g of blueberries for three weeks did not elicit any change in the BP of chronic smokers, although an alleviation of oxidative stress was observed (McAnulty et al., 2005). A 15-day daily consumption of 100 g flavanol-rich dark chocolate (88mg flavonols/100g of dark chocolate) decreased BP and improved endothelium-dependent relaxation in patients with essential hypertension (Grassi et al., 2005). In hypertensive patients, daily consumption for a two week period of 50 ml pomegranate juice, containing 1.5 mmol of total polyphenols, resulted in a 36% decrease in serum ACE and a 5% reduction in systolic BP (Aviram et al., 2001). A reduction in BP was also observed after long term (3 years) consumption of pomegranate juice by patients with carotid artery stenosis (Aviram et al., 2004). The beneficial effect of pomegranate juice in BP and ACE is attributed to their antioxidant properties.

The oxidative stress in SHR can be reduced with antihypertensive treatment (Lazaro *et al.*, 2005). On the other hand, the reduction of antioxidant stress can regulate high BP. Seven-month dietary treatment of young weanling SHR with an antioxidant diet rich in vitamins E and C, Zn and Se, reduced BP and renal interstitial inflammation (Rodriguez-Iturbe *et al.*, 2003). Additionally, antioxidant
drug treatment for three weeks was found to regulate BP and improve eNOS and iNOS in vascular, renal and cardiac tissues of SHR, but not of WK rat, indicating the contribution of oxidative stress in experimental hypertension and the compensatory upregulation of eNOS and iNOS in SHR (Vaziri *et al.*, 2000). In 20 to 22 week-old SHR a three-month dietary treatment with γ -tocotrienol resulted in increased NO activity and reduced BP (Newaz *et al.*, 2003). The antihypertensive effect of γ -tocotrienol in the above study was attributed to its antioxidant-radical scavenging properties.

Beyond any improvement in the oxidative stress, the restoration of endothelial dysfunction does not necessarily lead to normalization of BP. The thromboxane receptor (TP) agonist ifetroban, was shown to normalize Ach-induced relaxations in the 16-week old SHR, however, it did not have any effect on blood pressure (Tesfamariam and Ogletree, 1995). A 12-week treatment with 1 or 2 mg/kg/day simvastatin, a cholesterol biosynthesis inhibitor, administered orally improved Ach-induced endothelium-dependent vasodilation, but did not elicit any significant effect on the systolic BP in the 20 week-old SHR (de Sotomayor *et al.*, 1999). Similarly, an 8–week treatment with 200 mg/kg/day L-carnitine and propionyl-L-carnitine improved carbachol-induced relaxation, without preventing the development of hypertension of the 12-week old SHR (Bueno *et al.*, 2005). Additionally, resveratrol dosage mimicking moderate red wine consumption, was shown to improve endothelium-dependent relaxations to Ach in SHR after a 4-week administration due to improved NO bioavailability, but did not affect systolic BP in the SHR (Rush *et al.*, 2007). These studies indicate that the improvement

in endothelial-dependent vasodilation does not necessarily ensure a reduction in BP in the SHR.

Endothelial dysfunction is not specific to essential hypertension, but instead commonly observed in connection with the major cardiovascular risk factors (Vita et al., 1990; Taddei and Salvetti, 2002). Dissociation between the degree of endothelial dysfunction and arterial BP values was indicated for human hypertension (John and Schmieder, 2000). Moreover no correlation was detected between BP values and endothelium-dependent vasodilation (Panza et al., 1993). Finally, BP reduction per se is not associated with improvement of endothelium-dependent vasodilation (Panza et al., 1993; Taddei and Salvetti, 2002). Hence, it is plausible that wild blueberries, despite their potential in affecting endothelial function, do not have the ability to reduce BP in the SHR and WK rats, at least after an 8% w/w wild blueberry enriched diet for 9 weeks. Wild blueberries are unable to compensate for the reported impairment of the endothelium of the SHR, which is characterized by an imbalance between vasoconstrictors and vasodilators (Mombuli and Vanhoutte, 1999), an increased superoxide production (Kerr et al., 1999) and other ROS, as well as COX-1 derived endoperoxides (Yang et al., 2003). Furthermore, taking into consideration that bioactive compounds, also found in blueberries have shown a positive effect on BP when studied individually or in high concentrations, the possibility cannot be excluded that a competition of bioactive compounds in the complex matrix of the whole wild blueberry fruit may account for the lack of any effect on BP. A diet enriched with higher amounts of wild blueberries fed for

longer time may be necessary to document a significant effect on blood pressure of SHR. This hypothesis needs to be examined with future studies.

5.5. Limitations and Future Recommendations

In the present study, we investigated the effect of a wild blueberry-enriched diet on major vasodilation pathways and arterial blood pressure in the young adult (21 week old) SHR and WK rat. The SHR is a model of endothelial dysfunction and hypertension, widely used in other organ system experimental settings, but presenting multiple metabolic defects. Their vasculature is structurally altered due to genetically predetermined impairments, increased release and activity of vasoconstrictors, as well as increased oxidative stress.

The dietary effect of wild blueberries was observed on the COX pathway of the SHR, resulting in enhanced vasodilation and implying that wild blueberries exhibit the potential to maintain arterial functional properties in this strain. Their positive effect(s) are limited by the multiple impairments of the SHR vascular system. Thus, these positive effects cannot extend to the level of BP either, at least at the level of 8% of diet for a nine week period. Hence, higher wild blueberry content in the diet or longer treatment periods can be suggested for future work. On the other hand, studies on the effect of wild blueberries on the vasoconstrictor pathways, would be useful in providing a complete picture of the interactions of wild blueberry treatment with the vascular tone and the balance of vasodilatory and vasoconstrictor substances on endothelial functions. In the same vein, biochemical measurements of major vasodilators, NO and prostacyclin, as well

vasoconstrictors, TXA₂ and endoperoxides, can offer more insight into the mechanism(s) that wild blueberries employ to affect vascular tone.

5.6. Significance

Considering the magnitude of the health and financial consequences of CVD, scientific search for more effective and at the same time more affordable means of tackling CVD has become more than a necessity. The endothelium, being the primary site of dysfunction in all types of CVD, appears to be the ideal target for a preventive approach. Diet is among the lifestyle modifications, along with exercise and smoking cessation, which present the potential to maintain and/ or restore endothelial function. Various dietary bioactive compounds have attracted an increasing research interest over the last decade due to their acclaimed health benefits. Among these compounds, flavonoids in particular, have been positively associated with cardiovascular health protection. Accumulating evidence has documented a positive link between consumption of foods containing bioactive compounds, also described as functional foods, and their effect on health beyond nutrition. Wild blueberries rank high among functional foods due to their high antioxidant capacity, as well as the plethora of bioactive compounds they contain, which may have multiple effects on health beyond antioxidant protection.

Our laboratory has been the first to investigate the potential role of a wild blueberry-enriched diet on the arterial functional properties *ex vivo* and specifically vasodilation, as well as the arterial blood pressure of the young adult

SHR and its normotensive control, the WK rat. Results of the present study demonstrate that wild blueberries can enhance vasodilation in the SHR via a COX-pathway shift towards a reduced vasoconstrictor or increased vasodilator profile. Wild blueberries also produced a differential activity between the two strains, implying that their role in vasodilation depends on the state of the endothelium, functional vs. dysfunctional. These observations are of significant practical importance for pathological conditions with endothelial dysfunction and may have further implications for the prevention and treatment of CVD.

BIBLIOGRAPHY

Adams N, Blizard DA. Genetic and maternal influences in rat models of spontaneous and salt-induced hypertension. Dev Psychobiol. 1991 Nov;24(7):507-19.

Adhikari DP, Francis JA, Schutzki RE, Chandra A, Nair MG. Quantification and characterisation of cyclo-oxygenase and lipid peroxidation inhibitory anthocyanins in fruits of Amelanchier. Phytochem Anal. 2005 May-Jun;16(3):175-80.

Ajay M, Achike FI, Mustafa AM, Mustafa MR. Direct effects of quercetin on impaired reactivity of spontaneously hypertensive rat aortae: comparative study with ascorbic acid. Clin Exp Pharmacol Physiol. 2006 Apr;33(4):345-50.

Andres-Lacueva C, Shukitt-Hale B, Galli RL, Jauregui O, Lamuela-Raventos RM, Joseph JA. Anthocyanins in aged blueberry-fed rats are found centrally and may enhance memory. Nutr Neurosci. 2005 Apr;8(2):111-20.

Andriambeloson E, Magnier C, Haan-Archipoff G, Lobstein A, Anton R, Beretz A, Stoclet JC, Andriantsitohaina R. Natural dietary polyphenolic compounds cause endothelium-dependent vasorelaxation in rat thoracic aorta. J Nutr. 1998 Dec;128(12):2324-33.

Aura AM, Martin-Lopez P, O'Leary KA, Williamson G, Oksman-Caldentey KM, Poutanen K, Santos-Buelga C. In vitro metabolism of anthocyanins by human gut microflora. Eur J Nutr. 2005 Mar;44(3):133-42.

Aviram M, Dornfeld L. Pomegranate juice consumption inhibits serum angiotensin converting enzyme activity and reduces systolic blood pressure. Atherosclerosis. 2001 Sep;158(1):195-8.

Aviram M, Rosenblat M, Gaitini D, Nitecki S, Hoffman A, Dornfeld L, Volkova N, Presser D, Attias J, Liker H, Hayek T. Pomegranate juice consumption for 3 years by patients with carotid artery stenosis reduces common carotid intimamedia thickness, blood pressure and LDL oxidation. Clin Nutr. 2004 Jun;23(3):423-33.

Bagchi D, Sen CK, Bagchi M, Atalay M. Anti-angiogenic, antioxidant, and anticarcinogenic properties of a novel anthocyanin-rich berry extract formula. Biochemistry (Mosc). 2004 Jan;69(1):75-80.

Beach PK, Spain DA, Kawabe T, Harris PD, Garrison RN. Sepsis increases NOS-2 activity and decreases non-NOS-mediated acetylcholine-induced dilation in rat aorta. J Surg Res. 2001 Mar;96(1):17-22.

Beecher GR. Overview of dietary flavonoids: nomenclature, occurrence and intake. J Nutr. 2003 Oct;133(10):3248S-3254S.

Bell DR, Gochenaur K. Direct vasoactive and vasoprotective properties of anthocyanin-rich extracts. J Appl Physiol. 2006 Apr;100(4):1164-70.

Benito S, Lopez D, Sáiz MP, Buxaderas S, Sánchez J, Puig-Parellada P, Mitjavila MT. A flavonoid-rich diet increases nitric oxide production in rat aorta. Br J Pharmacol. 2002 Feb;135(4):910-6.

Blanco-Rivero J, Cachofeiro V, Lahera V, Aras-Lopez R, Márquez-Rodas I, Salaices M, Xavier FE, Ferrer M, Balfagón G. Participation of prostacyclin in endothelial dysfunction induced by aldosterone in normotensive and hypertensive rats. Hypertension. 2005 Jul;46(1):107-12.

Bonetti PO, Lerman LO, Lerman A. Endothelial dysfunction: a marker of atherosclerotic risk. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol. 2003 Feb 1;23(2):168-75.

Boulanger CM, Morrison KJ, Vanhoutte PM. Mediation by M3-muscarinic receptors of both endothelium-dependent contraction and relaxation to acetylcholine in the aorta of the spontaneously hypertensive rat. Br J Pharmacol. 1994 Jun;112(2):519-24.

Bravo L.Polyphenols: chemistry, dietary sources, metabolism, and nutritional significance. Nutr Rev. 1998 Nov;56(11):317-33.

Brown AA, Hu FB. Dietary modulation of endothelial function: implications for cardiovascular disease. Am J Clin Nutr. 2001 Apr;73(4):673-86.

Bueno R, Alvarez de Sotomayor M, Perez-Guerrero C, Gomez-Amores L, Vazquez CM, Herrera MD. L-carnitine and propionyl-L-carnitine improve endothelial dysfunction in spontaneously hypertensive rats: different participation of NO and COX-products. Life Sci. 2005 Sep 9;77(17):2082-97.

Burda S, Oleszek W. Antioxidant and antiradical activities of flavonoids. J Agric Food Chem. 2001 Jun;49(6):2774-9.

Bushway, R. B.; McGann, D. F.; Cook, W. P.; Bushway, A. A. Mineral and vitamin content of lowbush blueberries (Vaccinium angustifolium). J. Food Sci. 1983, 48 (6), 1878-78.

Cai H, Harrison DG Endothelial dysfunction in cardiovascular diseases: the role of oxidant stress. Circ Res. 2000 Nov 10;87(10):840-4.

Cao G, Alessio HM, Cutler RG. Oxygen-radical absorbance capacity assay for antioxidants. Free Radic Biol Med. 1993 Mar;14(3):303-11.

Cao G, Booth SL, Sadowski JA, Prior RL. Increases in human plasma antioxidant capacity after consumption of controlled diets high in fruit and vegetables. Am J Clin Nutr. 1998 Nov;68(5):1081-7.

Cao G, Muccitelli HU, Sánchez-Moreno C, Prior RL. Anthocyanins are absorbed in glycated forms in elderly women: a pharmacokinetic study. Am J Clin Nutr. 2001 May;73(5):920-6.

Cappelli-Bigazzi M, Rubattu S, Battaglia C, Russo R, Enea I, Ambrosio G, Chiariello M, Volpe M. Effects of high-cholesterol and atherogenic diets on vascular relaxation in spontaneously hypertensive rats. Am J Physiol. 1997 Aug;273(2 Pt 2):H647-54.

Cermak R, Landgraf S, Wolffram S. The bioavailability of quercetin in pigs depends on the glycoside moiety and on dietary factors. J Nutr. 2003 Sep;133(9):2802-7.

Charron CS, Clevidence BA, Britz SJ, Novotny JA. Effect of dose size on bioavailability of acylated and nonacylated anthocyanins from red cabbage (Brassica oleracea L. Var. capitata). : J Agric Food Chem. 2007 Jun 27;55(13):5354-62.

Chen CY, Milbury PE, Lapsley K, Blumberg JB. Flavonoids from almond skins are bioavailable and act synergistically with vitamins C and E to enhance hamster and human LDL resistance to oxidation. J Nutr. 2005 Jun;135(6):1366-73.

Chou EJ, Keevil JG, Aeschlimann S, Wiebe DA, Folts JD, Stein JH. Effect of ingestion of purple grape juice on endothelial function in patients with coronary heart disease. Am J Cardiol. 2001 Sep 1;88(5):553-5.

Chun OK, Chung SJ, Song WO. Estimated dietary flavonoid intake and major food sources of U.S. adults. J Nutr. 2007 May;137(5):1244-52.

Chung MI, Gan KH, Lin CN, Ko FN, Teng CM Antiplatelet effects and vasorelaxing action of some constituents of Formosan plants. J Nat Prod. 1993 Jun;56(6):929-34.

Clark K. Wild blueberries affect endothelium-dependent vasodilation in Sprague-Dawley and Spontaneously Hypertensive rats, 2007 May, Master Thesis, University of Maine.

Cook NC, Samman S. Flavonoids-chemistry, metabolism, cardioprotective effects, and dietary sources. J Nutr Biochem1996 Feb;7(2):66-76.

Cordova AC, Jackson LS, Berke-Schlessel DW, Sumpio BE. The cardiovascular protective effect of red wine. J Am Coll Surg. 2005 Mar;200(3):428-39.

Cuzzocrea S, Mazzon E, Dugo L, Di Paola R, Caputi AP, Salvemini D. Superoxide: a key player in hypertension. FASEB J. 2004 Jan;18(1):94-101.

Delpy E, Coste H, Gouville AC. Effects of cyclic GMP elevation on isoprenalineinduced increase in cyclic AMP and relaxation in rat aortic smooth muscle: role of phosphodiesterase 3. Br J Pharmacol. 1996 Oct;119(3):471-8.

De Mey JG, Vanhoutte PM Heterogeneous behavior of the canine arterial and venous wall. Importance of the endothelium. Circ Res. 1982 Oct;51(4):439-47.

Demrow HS, Slane PR, Folts JD. Administration of wine and grape juice inhibits in vivo platelet activity and thrombosis in stenosed canine coronary arteries. Circulation. 1995 Feb 15;91(4):1182-8.

de Sotomayor MA, Pérez-Guerrero C, Herrrera MD, Jimenez L, Marín R, Marhuenda E, Andriantsitohaina R. Improvement of age-related endothelial dysfunction by simvastatin: effect on NO and COX pathways. Br J Pharmacol. 2005 Dec;146(8):1130-8.

Diebolt M, Bucher B, Andriantsitohaina R. Wine polyphenols decrease blood pressure, improve NO vasodilatation, and induce gene expression. Hypertension. 2001 Aug; 38(2): 159-65.

Dietz R, Schömig A, Dart AM, Mayer E, Kübler W. Modulation of sympathetic vasoconstriction by potassium. J Cardiovasc Pharmacol. 1984;6 Suppl 1:S230-5.

Dohi Y, Thiel MA, Bühler FR, Lüscher TF. Activation of endothelial L-arginine pathway in resistance arteries. Effect of age and hypertension. Hypertension. 1990 Aug;16(2):170-9.

Duarte J, Pérez Vizcaíno F, Utrilla P, Jiménez J, Tamargo J, Zarzuelo A. Vasodilatory effects of flavonoids in rat aortic smooth muscle. Structure-activity relationships. Gen Pharmacol. 1993 Jul;24(4):857-62.

Duarte J, Pérez-Palencia R, Vargas F, Ocete MA, Pérez-Vizcaino F, Zarzuelo A, Tamargo J. Antihypertensive effects of the flavonoid quercetin in spontaneously hypertensive rats. Br J Pharmacol. 2001 May;133(1):117-24.

Duffy SJ, Keaney JF Jr, Holbrook M, Gokce N, Swerdloff PL, Frei B, Vita JA. Short- and long-term black tea consumption reverses endothelial dysfunction in patients with coronary artery disease. Circulation. 2001 Jul 10;104(2):151-6.

Endemann DH, Schiffrin EL. Endothelial dysfunction. J Am Soc Nephrol. 2004 Aug;15(8):1983-92.

Engler MB, Engler MM, Chen CY, Malloy MJ, Browne A, Chiu EY, Kwak HK, Milbury P, Paul SM, Blumberg J, Mietus-Snyder ML. Flavonoid-rich dark chocolate improves endothelial function and increases plasma epicatechin concentrations in healthy adults. J Am Coll Nutr. 2004 Jun;23(3):197-204.

Erdman JW Jr, Balentine D, Arab L, Beecher G, Dwyer JT, Folts J, Harnly J, Hollman P, Keen CL, Mazza G, Messina M, Scalbert A, Vita J, Williamson G, Burrowes J. Flavonoids and heart health: proceedings of the ILSI North America Flavonoids Workshop, May 31-June 1, 2005, Washington, DC.J Nutr. 2007 Mar;137(3 Suppl 1):718S-737S.

Félétou M, Vanhoutte PM. Endothelium-dependent hyperpolarization of vascular smooth muscle cells. Acta Pharmacol Sin. 2000 Jan;21(1):1-18.

Felgines C, Talavéra S, Texier O, Besson C, Fogliano V, Lamaison JL, la Fauci L, Galvano G, Rémésy C, Galvano F. Absorption and metabolism of red orange juice anthocyanins in rats. Br J Nutr. 2006;95:898-904.

Fitzpatrick DF, Hirschfield SL, Coffey RG. Endothelium-dependent vasorelaxing activity of wine and other grape products. Am J Physiol. 1993 Aug;265(2 Pt 2):H774-8.

Fitzpatrick DF, Hirschfield SL, Ricci T, Jantzen P, Coffey RG Endotheliumdependent vasorelaxation caused by various plant extracts. J Cardiovasc Pharmacol. 1995 Jul;26(1):90-5.

Freedman JE, Parker C 3rd, Li L, Perlman JA, Frei B, Ivanov V, Deak LR, Iafrati MD, Folts JDSelect flavonoids and whole juice from purple grapes inhibit platelet function and enhance nitric oxide release. Circulation. 2001 Jun 12;103(23):2792-8.

Fuhrman B, Volkova N, Aviram M. Pomegranate juice inhibits oxidized LDL uptake and cholesterol biosynthesis in macrophages. J Nutr Biochem. 2005 Sep;16(9):570-6.

Fulton D, Gratton JP, Sessa WC. Post-translational control of endothelial nitric oxide synthase: why isn't calcium/calmodulin enough? J Pharmacol Exp Ther. 2001 Dec;299(3):818-24.

Furchgott RF, Vanhoutte PM. Endothelium-derived relaxing and contracting factors. FASEB J. 1989 Jul;3(9):2007-18.

Furchgott RF, Zawadzki JV. The obligatory role of endothelial cells in the relaxation of arterial smooth muscle by acetylcholine. Nature. 1980 Nov 27;288(5789):373-6.

Gao F, Koenitzer JR, Tobolewski JM, Jiang D, Liang J, Noble PW, Oury TD. Extracellular superoxide dismutase inhibits inflammation by preventing oxidative fragmentation of hyaluronan. J Biol Chem. 2008 Mar 7;283(10):6058-66.

Gao, L. & Mazza, G. Characterization of acetylated anthocyanins in lowbush blueberries. J. Liquid Chromatogr. 1995;18:245-259.

Ge T, Hughes H, Junquero DC, Wu KK, Vanhoutte PM, Boulanger CM. Endothelium-dependent contractions are associated with both augmented expression of prostaglandin H synthase-1 and hypersensitivity to prostaglandin H2 in the SHR aorta. Circ Res. 1995 Jun;76(6):1003-10.

Ge T, Vanhoutte PM, Boulanger CM. Increased response to prostaglandin H2 precedes changes in PGH synthase-1 expression in the SHR aorta. Acta Pharmacol. Sinica 1999 Dec;20(12):1087-92.

Gluais P, Lonchampt M, Morrow JD, Vanhoutte PM, Feletou M. Acetylcholineinduced endothelium-dependent contractions in the SHR aorta: the Janus face of prostacyclin. Br J Pharmacol. 2005 Nov;146(6):834-45.

Grassi D, Lippi C, Necozione S, Desideri G, Ferri C. Short-term administration of dark chocolate is followed by a significant increase in insulin sensitivity and a decrease in blood pressure in healthy persons. Am J Clin Nutr. 2005 Mar;81(3):611-4.

Greenacre SA, Ischiropoulos H. Tyrosine nitration: localisation, quantification, consequences for protein function and signal transduction. Free Radic Res. 2001 Jun;34(6):541-81.

Grobecker G, Roizen MF, Weise V, Saavedra JM, Kopin IJ. Letter: Sympathoadrenal medullary activity in young, spontaneously hypertensive rats. Nature. 1975 Nov 20;258(5532):267-8.

Gryglewski RJ, Korbut R, Robak J, Swies J. On the mechanism of antithrombotic action of flavonoids. Biochem Pharmacol. 1987 Feb 1;36(3):317-22.

Gu L, Kelm MA, Hammerstone JF, Beecher G, Holden J, Haytowitz D, Gebhardt S, Prior RL. Concentrations of proanthocyanidins in common foods and estimations of normal consumption. J Nutr. 2004 Mar;134(3):613-7.

Häkkinen SH, Kärenlampi SO, Heinonen IM, Mykkänen HM, Törrönen AR. Content of the flavonols quercetin, myricetin, and kaempferol in 25 edible berries. J Agric Food Chem. 1999 Jun;47(6):2274-9.

Harborne JB, Williams CA. Anthocyanins and other flavonoids. Nat Prod Rep. 2001 Jun;18(3):310-33.

Heim KE, Tagliaferro AR, Bobilya DJ. Flavonoid antioxidants: chemistry, metabolism and structure-activity relationships. J Nutr Biochem. 2002 Oct;13(10):572-584

Heymes C, Habib A, Yang D, Mathieu E, Marotte F, Samuel J, Boulanger CM. Cyclo-oxygenase-1 and -2 contribution to endothelial dysfunction in ageing. Br J Pharmacol. 2000 Oct;131(4):804-10.

Heiss C, Dejam A, Kleinbongard P, Schewe T, Sies H, Kelm M. Vascular effects of cocoa rich in flavan-3-ols. JAMA. 2003 Aug 27;290(8):1030-1.

Hertog MG, Feskens EJ, Hollman PC, Katan MB, Kromhout D. Dietary antioxidant flavonoids and risk of coronary heart disease: the Zutphen Elderly Study. Lancet. 1993 Oct 23;342(8878):1007-11.

Hodgson JM, Puddey IB, Burke V, Watts GF, Beilin LJ Regular ingestion of black tea improves brachial artery vasodilator function. Clin Sci (Lond). 2002 Feb;102(2):195-201.

Hoffmann J, Haendeler J, Aicher A, Rössig L, Vasa M, Zeiher AM, Dimmeler S. Aging enhances the sensitivity of endothelial cells toward apoptotic stimuli: important role of nitric oxide. Circ Res. 2001 Oct 12;89(8):709-15.

Hollman PC, Katan MB. Health effects and bioavailability of dietary flavonols. Free Radic Res. 1999 Dec;31 Suppl:S75-80.

Holt RR, Actis-Goretta L, Momma TY, Keen CL. Dietary flavanols and platelet reactivity. J Cardiovasc Pharmacol. 2006;47 Suppl 2:S187-96; discussion S206-9.

Hou DX, Yanagita T, Uto T, Masuzaki S, Fujii M. Anthocyanidins inhibit cyclooxygenase-2 expression in LPS-evoked macrophages: structure-activity relationship and molecular mechanisms involved. Biochem Pharmacol. 2005 Aug 1;70(3):417-25.

Ichiyanagi T, Rahman MM, Kashiwada Y, Ikeshiro Y, Shida Y, Hatano Y, Matsumoto H, Hirayama M, Konishi T. Absorption and metabolism of delphinidin 3-O-beta-D-glucoside in rats. Biofactors. 2004;21(1-4):411-3.

Ichiyanagi T, Shida Y, Rahman MM, Hatano Y, Konishi T. Bioavailability and tissue distribution of anthocyanins in bilberry (Vaccinium myrtillus L.) extract in rats. J Agric Food Chem. 2006 Sep 6;54(18):6578-87.

Ignarro LJ, Byrns RE, Buga GM, Wood KS. Endothelium-derived relaxing factor from pulmonary artery and vein possesses pharmacologic and chemical properties identical to those of nitric oxide radical. Circ Res. 1987 Dec;61(6):866-79.

lijima K, Yoshizumi M, Hashimoto M, Akishita M, Kozaki K, Ako J, Watanabe T, Ohike Y, Son B, Yu J, Nakahara K, Ouchi Y. Red wine polyphenols inhibit vascular smooth muscle cell migration through two distinct signaling pathways. Circulation. 2002 May 21;105(20):2404-10.

Ito T, Kato T, Iwama Y, Muramatsu M, Shimizu K, Asano H, Okumura K, Hashimoto H, Satake T. Prostaglandin H2 as an endothelium-derived contracting factor and its interaction with nitric oxide. J Hypertens. 1991 Aug;9(8):729-36.

John S, Schmieder RE. Impaired endothelial function in arterial hypertension and hypercholesterolemia: potential mechanisms and differences. J Hypertens. 2000 Apr;18(4):363-74.

Kähkönen MP, Heinonen M. Antioxidant activity of anthocyanins and their aglycons. J Agric Food Chem. 2003 Jan 29;51(3):628-33.

Kalea AZ, Lamari FN, Theocharis AD, Cordopatis P, Schuschke DA, Karamanos NK, Klimis-Zacas DJ. Wild blueberry (Vaccinium angustifolium) consumption affects the composition and structure of glycosaminoglycans in Sprague-Dawley rat aorta. J Nutr Biochem. 2006 Feb;17(2):109-16.

Kalt W, Forney CF, Martin A, Prior RL. Antioxidant capacity, vitamin C, phenolics, and anthocyanins after fresh storage of small fruits. J Agric Food Chem. 1999 Nov;47(11):4638-44.

Kalt, W, McDonald, J.E. Chemical composition of lowbush blueberry cultivars. *J. Amer. Soc. Hort. Sci.* 1996 121:142-146.

Kalt W, Ryan DA, Duy JC, Prior RL, Ehlenfeldt MK, Vander Kloet SP. Interspecific variation in anthocyanins, phenolics, and antioxidant capacity among genotypes of highbush and lowbush blueberries (Vaccinium section cyanococcus spp.). J Agric Food Chem. 2001 Oct;49(10):4761-7

Kandaswami C, Middleton E Jr. Free radical scavenging and antioxidant activity of plant flavonoids. Adv Exp Med Biol. 1994;366:351-76.

Katusic ZS. Superoxide anion and endothelial regulation of arterial tone. Free Radic Biol Med. 1996;20(3):443-8.

Katusic ZS, Shepherd JT, Vanhoutte PM. Endothelium-dependent contractions to calcium ionophore A23187, arachidonic acid, and acetylcholine in canine basilar arteries. Stroke. 1988 Apr;19(4):476-9.

Katusic ZS, Vanhoutte PM. Superoxide anion is an endothelium-derived contracting factor. Am J Physiol. 1989 Jul;257(1 Pt 2):H33-7.

Kay CD, Holub BJ. The effect of wild blueberry (Vaccinium angustifolium) consumption on postprandial serum antioxidant status in human subjects. Br J Nutr. 2002 Oct;88(4):389-98.

Keaney JF Jr, Vita JA. Atherosclerosis, oxidative stress, and antioxidant protection in endothelium-derived relaxing factor action. Prog Cardiovasc Dis. 1995 Sep Oct; 38(2):129-54.

Keppler K, Humpf HU. Metabolism of anthocyanins and their phenolic degradation products by the intestinal microflora. Bioorg Med Chem. 2005 Sep 1;13(17):5195-205.

Kerr S, Brosnan MJ, McIntyre M, Reid JL, Dominiczak AF, Hamilton CA. Superoxide anion production is increased in a model of genetic hypertension: role of the endothelium. Hypertension. 1999 Jun;33(6):1353-8.

Kliment CR, Tobolewski JM, Manni ML, Tan RJ, Enghild J, Oury TD. Extracellular superoxide dismutase protects against matrix degradation of heparan sulfate in the lung. Antioxid Redox Signal. 2008 Feb;10(2):261-8.

Knekt P, Jarvinen R, Reunanen A, Maatela J. Flavonoid intake and coronary mortality in Finland: a cohort study. BMJ. 1996 Feb 24;312(7029):478-81.

Koga T, Takata Y, Kobayashi K, Takishita S, Yamashita Y, Fujishima M. Age and hypertension promote endothelium-dependent contractions to acetylcholine in the aorta of the rat. Hypertension. 1989 Nov;14(5):542-8.

Kong JM, Chia LS, Goh NK, Chia TF, Brouillard R. Analysis and biological activities of anthocyanins. Phytochemistry. 2003 Nov;64(5):923-33.

Kris-Etherton PM, Lichtenstein AH, Howard BV, Steinberg D, Witztum JL; Nutrition Committee of the American Heart Association Council on Nutrition, Physical Activity, and Metabolism. Antioxidant vitamin supplements and cardiovascular disease. Circulation. 2004 Aug 3;110(5):637-41. Kühnau J. The flavonoids. A class of semi-essential food components: their role in human nutrition. World Rev Nutr Diet. 1976;24:117-91.

Kukreja RC, Hess ML. The oxygen free radical system: from equations through membrane-protein interactions to cardiovascular injury and protection. Cardiovasc Res. 1992 Jul;26(7):641-55.

Küng CF, Lüscher TF. Different mechanisms of endothelial dysfunction with aging and hypertension in rat aorta. Hypertension. 1995 Feb;25(2):194-200.

Lamy S, Blanchette M, Michaud-Levesque J, Lafleur R, Durocher Y, Moghrabi A, Barrette S, Gingras D, Béliveau R. Delphinidin, a dietary anthocyanidin, inhibits vascular endothelial growth factor receptor-2 phosphorylation. Carcinogenesis. 2006 May;27(5):989-96.

Landmesser U, Dikalov S, Price SR, McCann L, Fukai T, Holland SM, Mitch WE, Harrison DG. Oxidation of tetrahydrobiopterin leads to uncoupling of endothelial cell nitric oxide synthase in hypertension. J Clin Invest. 2003 Apr;111(8):1201-9.

Landmesser U, Hornig B, Drexler H. Endothelial function: a critical determinant in atherosclerosis? Circulation. 2004 Jun 1;109(21 Suppl 1):II27-33.

Lazaro A, Gallego-Delgado J, Justo P, Esteban V, Osende J, Mezzano S, Ortiz A, Egido J. Long-term blood pressure control prevents oxidative renal injury. Antioxid Redox Signal. 2005 Sep-Oct;7(9-10):1285-93.

Lazzè MC, Pizzala R, Perucca P, Cazzalini O, Savio M, Forti L, Vannini V, Bianchi L. Anthocyanidins decrease endothelin-1 production and increase endothelial nitric oxide synthase in human endothelial cells. Mol Nutr Food Res. 2006 Jan;50(1):44-51.

Levy JV. Prostacyclin-induced contraction of isolated aortic strips from normal and spontaneously hypertensive rats (SHR). Prostaglandins. 1980 Apr;19(4):517-25.

Li H, Xia N, Brausch I, Yao Y, Förstermann U. Flavonoids from artichoke (Cynara scolymus L.) up-regulate endothelial-type nitric-oxide synthase gene expression in human endothelial cells. J Pharmacol Exp Ther. 2004 Sep;310(3):926-32.

Lincoln TM, Cornwell TL, Taylor AE. cGMP-dependent protein kinase mediates the reduction of Ca2+ by cAMP in vascular smooth muscle cells. Am J Physiol. 1990 Mar;258(3 Pt 1):C399-407.

Lincoln TM, Komalavilas P, Cornwell TL. Pleiotropic regulation of vascular smooth muscle tone by cyclic GMP-dependent protein kinase. Hypertension. 1994 Jun;23(6 Pt 2):1141-7.

Linseisen J, Radtke J, Wolfram G. [Flavonoid intake of adults in a Bavarian subgroup of the national food consumption survey] Z Ernahrungswiss. 1997 Dec;36(4):403-12.

Liu JC, Hsu FL, Tsai JC, Chan P, Liu JY, Thomas GN, Tomlinson B, Lo MY, Lin JY. Antihypertensive effects of tannins isolated from traditional Chinese herbs as non-specific inhibitors of angiontensin converting enzyme. Life Sci. 2003 Aug 8;73(12):1543-55.

Liu S, Manson JE, Lee IM, Cole SR, Hennekens CH, Willett WC, Buring JE. Fruit and vegetable intake and risk of cardiovascular disease: the Women's Health Study. Am J Clin Nutr. 2000 Oct;72(4):922-8.

Loke WM, Proudfoot JM, Stewart S, McKinley AJ, Needs PW, Kroon PA, Hodgson JM, Croft KD. Metabolic transformation has a profound effect on antiinflammatory activity of flavonoids such as quercetin: lack of association between antioxidant and lipoxygenase inhibitory activity. Biochem Pharmacol. 2008 Mar 1;75(5):1045-53.

Lotito SB, Frei B. Dietary flavonoids attenuate tumor necrosis factor alphainduced adhesion molecule expression in human aortic endothelial cells. Structure-function relationships and activity after first pass metabolism. J Biol Chem. 2006 Dec 1;281(48):37102-10.

Lüscher TF, Vanhoutte PM. Endothelium-dependent contractions to acetylcholine in the aorta of the spontaneously hypertensive rat. Hypertension. 1986 Apr;8(4):344-8.

Machha A, Mustafa MR. Chronic treatment with flavonoids prevents endothelial dysfunction in spontaneously hypertensive rat aorta. J Cardiovasc Pharmacol. 2005 Jul;46(1):36-40.

Manach C, Scalbert A, Morand C, Rémésy C, Jiménez L. Polyphenols: food sources and bioavailability. Am J Clin Nutr. 2004 May;79(5):727-47.

Manach C, Williamson G, Morand C, Scalbert A, Rémésy C. Bioavailability and bioefficacy of polyphenols in humans. I. Review of 97 bioavailability studies. Am J Clin Nutr. 2005 Jan;81(1 Suppl):230S-242S.

Marasciulo FL, Montagnani M, Potenza MA. Endothelin-1: the yin and yang on vascular function. Curr Med Chem. 2006;13(14):1655-65.

Matz RL, Andriantsitohaina R. Age-related endothelial dysfunction: potential implications for pharmacotherapy. Drugs Aging. 2003;20(7):527-50.

Maurice DH, Crankshaw D, Haslam RJ. Synergistic actions of nitrovasodilators and isoprenaline on rat aortic smooth muscle. Eur J Pharmacol. 1991 Jan 10;192(2):235-42.

Maurice DH, Haslam RJ. Nitroprusside enhances isoprenaline-induced increases in cAMP in rat aortic smooth muscle. Eur J Pharmacol. 1990 Dec 4;191(3):471-5.

Mazza G, Kay CD, Cottrell T, Holub BJ. Absorption of anthocyanins from blueberries and serum antioxidant status in human subjects. J Agric Food Chem. 2002 Dec 18;50(26):7731-7.

McAnulty SR, McAnulty LS, Morrow JD, Khardouni D, Shooter L, Monk J, Gross S, Brown V. Effect of daily fruit ingestion on angiotensin converting enzyme activity, blood pressure, and oxidative stress in chronic smokers. Free Radic Res. 2005 Nov;39(11):1241-8.

McDonnell KM, Grow WA. Reduced glycosaminoglycan sulfation diminishes the agrin signal transduction pathway. Dev Neurosci. 2004 Jan-Feb;26(1):1-10.

Meng X, Maliakal P, Lu H, Lee MJ, Yang CS. Urinary and plasma levels of resveratrol and quercetin in humans, mice, and rats after ingestion of pure compounds and grape juice. J Agric Food Chem. 2004 Feb 25;52(4):935-42.

Middleton E Jr, Kandaswami C, Theoharides TC. The effects of plant flavonoids on mammalian cells: implications for inflammation, heart disease, and cancer. Pharmacol Rev. 2000 Dec;52(4):673-751.

Miller VM, Vanhoutte PM. Endothelium-dependent contractions to arachidonic acid are mediated by products of cyclooxygenase. Am J Physiol. 1985 Apr;248(4 Pt 2):H432-7.

Miyamoto A, Ishiguro S, Nishio A. Stimulation of bradykinin B2-receptors on endothelial cells induces relaxation and contraction in porcine basilar artery in vitro. Br J Pharmacol. 1999 Sep;128(1):241-7.

Mizutani K, Ikeda K, Kawai Y, Yamori Y. Extract of wine phenolics improves aortic biomechanical properties in stroke-prone spontaneously hypertensive rats (SHRSP). J Nutr Sci Vitaminol (Tokyo). 1999 Jan;45(1):95-106.

Mollace V, Muscoli C, Masini E, Cuzzocrea S, Salvemini D. Modulation of prostaglandin biosynthesis by nitric oxide and nitric oxide donors. Pharmacol Rev. 2005 Jun;57(2):217-52.

Mombouli JV, Vanhoutte PM. Endothelial dysfunction: from physiology to therapy. J Mol Cell Cardiol. 1999 Jan;31(1):61-74.

Moncada S, Gryglewski R, Bunting S, Vane JR. An enzyme isolated from arteries transforms prostaglandin endoperoxides to an unstable substance that inhibits platelet aggregation. Nature. 1976 Oct 21;263(5579):663-5.

Moncada S, Higgs EA. Prostaglandins in the pathogenesis and prevention of vascular disease. Blood Rev. 1987 Jun;1(2):141-5.

Moncada S, Higgs EA. The discovery of nitric oxide and its role in vascular biology. Br J Pharmacol. 2006 Jan;147 Suppl 1:S193-201.

Moncada S, Mullane KM, Vane JR. Prostacyclin-release by bradykinin in vivo. Br J Pharmacol. 1979 May;66(1):96P-97P.

Murphy KJ, Chronopoulos AK, Singh I, Francis MA, Moriarty H, Pike MJ, Turner AH, Mann NJ, Sinclair AJ. Dietary flavanols and procyanidin oligomers from cocoa (Theobroma cacao) inhibit platelet function. Am J Clin Nutr. 2003 Jun;77(6):1466-73.

Nakamura Y, Matsumoto H, Todoki K. Endothelium-dependent vasorelaxation induced by black currant concentrate in rat thoracic aorta. Jpn J Pharmacol. 2002 May;89(1):29-35.

Narumiya S, Sugimoto Y, Ushikubi F. Prostanoid receptors: structures, properties, and functions. Physiol Rev. 1999 Oct; 79(4):1193-226.

Nathan C. Nitric oxide as a secretory product of mammalian cells. FASEB J. 1992 Sep;6(12):3051-64.

Newaz MA, Yousefipour Z, Nawal N, Adeeb N. Nitric oxide synthase activity in blood vessels of spontaneously hypertensive rats: antioxidant protection by gamma-tocotrienol. J Physiol Pharmacol. 2003 Sep;54(3):319-27.

Norton C, Kalea AZ, Harris PD, Klimis-Zacas DJ. Wild blueberry-rich diets affect the contractile machinery of the vascular smooth muscle in the Sprague-Dawley rat. J Med Food. 2005 Spring;8(1):8-13.

Numaguchi Y, Harada M, Osanai H, Hayashi K, Toki Y, Okumura K, Ito T, Hayakawa T. Altered gene expression of prostacyclin synthase and prostacyclin receptor in the thoracic aorta of spontaneously hypertensive rats. Cardiovasc Res. 1999 Mar;41(3):682-8.

Oak MH, Bedoui JE, Madeira SV, Chałupsky K, Schini-Kerth VB. Delphinidin and cyanidin inhibit PDGF(AB)-induced VEGF release in vascular smooth muscle cells by preventing activation of p38 MAPK and JNK. Br J Pharmacol. 2006 Oct;149(3):283-90.

Okamoto K, Aoki K. Development of a strain of spontaneously hypertensive rats. Jpn Circ J. 1963 Mar;27:282-93.

5

Paganga G, Rice-Evans CA. The identification of flavonoids as glycosides in human plasma. FEBS Lett. 1997 Jan 13;401(1):78-82.

Palmer RM, Ferrige AG, Moncada S. Nitric oxide release accounts for the biological activity of endothelium-derived relaxing factor. Nature. 1987 Jun 11-17;327(6122):5246.

Panza JA, García CE, Kilcoyne CM, Quyyumi AA, Cannon RO 3rd. Impaired endothelium-dependent vasodilation in patients with essential hypertension. Evidence that nitric oxide abnormality is not localized to a single signal transduction pathway. Circulation. 1995 Mar 15;91(6):1732-8.

Panza JA, Quyyumi AA, Callahan TS, Epstein SE. Effect of antihypertensive treatment on endothelium-dependent vascular relaxation in patients with essential hypertension. J Am Coll Cardiol. 1993 Apr;21(5):1145-51.

Payne JA, Reckelhoff JF, Khalil RA. Role of oxidative stress in age-related reduction of NO-cGMP-mediated vascular relaxation in SHR. Am J Physiol Regul Integr Comp Physiol. 2003 Sep;285(3):R542-51.

Pearson DA, Tan CH, German JB, Davis PA, Gershwin ME.Apple juice inhibits human low density lipoprotein oxidation. Life Sci. 1999;64(21):1913-20.

Prior, R.L., Cao, G., Martin, A., Sofic, E., McEwen, J., O'Brien, C., Lischner, N., Ehlenfeldt, M., Kalt, W., Krewer, G., and Mainland, C.M. Antioxidant Capacity As Influenced by Total Phenolic and Anthocyanin Content, Maturity, and Variety of *Vaccinium* Species. *J. Agric. Food Chem.*, 1998; 46, 7, 2686-93.

Prior RL, Wu X. Anthocyanins: structural characteristics that result in unique metabolic patterns and biological activities. Free Radic Res. 2006 Oct;40(10):1014-28.

Rapoport RM, Williams SP. Role of prostaglandins in acetylcholine-induced contraction of aorta from spontaneously hypertensive and Wistar-Kyoto rats. Hypertension. 1996 Jul;28(1):64-75.

Rechner AR, Kroner C. Anthocyanins and colonic metabolites of dietary polyphenols inhibit platelet function. Thromb Res. 2005;116(4):327-34.

Rees DD, Palmer RM, Hodson HF, Moncada S. A specific inhibitor of nitric oxide formation from L-arginine attenuates endothelium-dependent relaxation. Br J Pharmacol. 1989 Feb;96(2):418-24.

Renaud S, de Lorgeril M. Wine, alcohol, platelets, and the French paradox for coronary heart disease. Lancet. 1992 Jun 20;339(8808):1523-6.

Rimando AM, Kalt W, Magee JB, Dewey J, Ballington JR. Resveratrol, pterostilbene, and piceatannol in vaccinium berries. J Agric Food Chem. 2004 Jul 28;52(15):4713-9.

Risler N, Castro C, Cruzado M, González S, Miatello R. Proteoglycans production by aortic vascular smooth muscle cells from hypertensive rats. Biocell. 2003 Aug;27(2):189-96.

Rissanen TH, Voutilainen S, Virtanen JK, Venho B, Vanharanta M, Mursu J, Salonen JT. Low intake of fruits, berries and vegetables is associated with excess mortality in men: the Kuopio Ischaemic Heart Disease Risk Factor (KIHD) Study. J Nutr. 2003 Jan;133(1):199-204.

Rodriguez-Iturbe B, Zhan CD, Quiroz Y, Sindhu RK, Vaziri ND. Antioxidant-rich diet relieves hypertension and reduces renal immune infiltration in spontaneously hypertensive rats. Hypertension. 2003 Feb;41(2):341-6.

Rosamond W, Flegal K, Friday G, Furie K, Go A, Greenlund K, Haase N, Ho M, Howard V, Kissela B, Kittner S, Lloyd-Jones D, McDermott M, Meigs J, Moy C, Nichol G, O'Donnell CJ, Roger V, Rumsfeld J, Sorlie P, Steinberger J, Thom T, Wasserthiel-Smoller S, Hong Y; American Heart Association Statistics Committee and Stroke Statistics Subcommittee. Heart disease and stroke statistics-2007 update: a report from the American Heart Association Statistics Committee and Stroke Statistics Subcommittee. Circulation. 2007 Feb 6;115(5):e69-171.

Rossi GP, Taddei S, Virdis A, Cavallin M, Ghiadoni L, Favilla S, Versari D, Sudano I, Pessina AC, Salvetti A. The T-786C and Glu298Asp polymorphisms of the endothelial nitric oxide gene affect the forearm blood flow responses of Caucasian hypertensive patients. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2003 Mar 19;41(6):938-45.

Rush JW, Quadrilatero J, Levy AS, Ford RJ. Chronic resveratrol enhances endothelium-dependent relaxation but does not alter eNOS levels in aorta of spontaneously hypertensive rats. Exp Biol Med (Maywood). 2007 Jun;232(6):814-22.

Sakaida H, Nagao K, Higa K, Shirouchi B, Inoue N, Hidaka F, Kai T, Yanagita T. Effect of Vaccinium ashei reade leaves on angiotensin converting enzyme activity in vitro and on systolic blood pressure of spontaneously hypertensive rats in vivo. Biosci Biotechnol Biochem. 2007 Sep;71(9):2335-7.

Salvemini D, Currie MG, Mollace V. Nitric oxide-mediated cyclooxygenase activation. A key event in the antiplatelet effects of nitrovasodilators. J Clin Invest. 1996 Jun 1;97(11):2562-8.

Sánchez M, Galisteo M, Vera R, Villar IC, Zarzuelo A, Tamargo J, Pérez-Vizcaíno F, Duarte J. Quercetin downregulates NADPH oxidase, increases eNOS activity and prevents endothelial dysfunction in spontaneously hypertensive rats. J Hypertens. 2006 Jan;24(1):75-84.

Scalbert A, Williamson G. Dietary intake and bioavailability of polyphenols. J Nutr. 2000 Aug;130(8S Suppl):2073S-85S.

Schroeter H, Heiss C, Balzer J, Kleinbongard P, Keen CL, Hollenberg NK, Sies H, Kwik-Uribe C, Schmitz HH, Kelm M. (-)-Epicatechin mediates beneficial effects of flavanol-rich cocoa on vascular function in humans. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2006 Jan 24;103(4):1024-9.

Serraino I, Dugo L, Dugo P, Mondello L, Mazzon E, Dugo G, Caputi AP, Cuzzocrea S. Protective effects of cyanidin-3-O-glucoside from blackberry extract against peroxynitrite-induced endothelial dysfunction and vascular failure. Life Sci. 2003 Jul 18;73(9):1097-114.

Sherman DL, Keaney JF Jr, Biegelsen ES, Duffy SJ, Coffman JD, Vita JA. Pharmacological concentrations of ascorbic acid are required for the beneficial effect on endothelial vasomotor function in hypertension. Hypertension. 2000 Apr;35(4):936-41.

Shimokawa H. Primary endothelial dysfunction: atherosclerosis. J Mol Cell Cardiol. 1999 Jan;31(1):23-37.

Shindo M, Kasai T, Abe A, Kondo Y. Effects of dietary administration of plantderived anthocyanin-rich colors to spontaneously hypertensive rats. J Nutr Sci Vitaminol. 2007 Feb;53(1):90-3.

Smith MA, Marley KA, Seigler D, Singletary KW, Meline B: Bioactive properties of wild blueberry fruits. J Food Sci 2000 Mar;65(2):352-356.

Stein JH, Keevil JG, Wiebe DA, Aeschlimann S, Folts JD. Purple grape juice improves endothelial function and reduces the susceptibility of LDL cholesterol to oxidation in patients with coronary artery disease. Circulation. 1999 Sep 7;100(10):1050-5.

Taddei S, Ghiadoni L, Virdis A, Buralli S, Salvetti A. Vasodilation to bradykinin is mediated by an ouabain-sensitive pathway as a compensatory mechanism for impaired nitric oxide availability in essential hypertensive patients. Circulation. 1999 Sep 28;100(13):1400-5.

Taddei S, Ghiadoni L, Virdis A, Versari D, Salvetti A. Mechanisms of endothelial dysfunction: clinical significance and preventive non-pharmacological therapeutic strategies. Curr Pharm Des. 2003;9(29):2385-402.

Taddei S, Virdis A, Ghiadoni L, Magagna A, Salvetti A. Cyclooxygenase inhibition restores nitric oxide activity in essential hypertension. Hypertension. 1997 Jan;29(1 Pt 2):274-9.

Taddei S, Virdis A, Ghiadoni L, Magagna A, Salvetti A. Vitamin C improves endothelium-dependent vasodilation by restoring nitric oxide activity in essential hypertension. Circulation. 1998 Jun 9;97(22):2222-9.

Taddei S, Virdis A, Ghiadoni L, Salvetti G, Bernini G, Magagna A, Salvetti A. Age-related reduction of NO availability and oxidative stress in humans. Hypertension. 2001 Aug;38(2):274-9.

Taddei S, Salvetti A. Endothelial dysfunction in essential hypertension: clinical implications. J Hypertens. 2002 Sep;20(9):1671-4.

Talavéra S, Felgines C, Texier O, Besson C, Gil-Izquierdo A, Lamaison JL, Rémésy C.Anthocyanin metabolism in rats and their distribution to digestive area, kidney, and brain. J Agric Food Chem. 2005 May 18;53(10):3902-8.

Tanase H, Suzuki Y, Ooshima A, Yamori Y, Okamoto K. Genetic analysis of blood pressure in spontaneously hypertensive rats. Jpn Circ J. 1970 Dec;34(12):1197-212.

Tanase H, Yamori Y, Hansen CT, Lovenberg W. Heart size in inbred strains of rats. Part 1. Genetic determination of the development of cardiovascular enlargement in rats. Hypertension. 1982 Nov-Dec;4(6):864-72.

Tapiero H, Tew KD, Ba GN, Mathé G. Polyphenols: do they play a role in the prevention of human pathologies? Biomed Pharmacother. 2002 Jun;56(4):200-7.

Tesfamariam B, Ogletree ML. Dissociation of endothelial cell dysfunction and blood pressure in SHR. Am J Physiol. 1995 Jul;269(1 Pt 2):H189-94.

Tsuda T, Horio F, Osawa T. Absorption and metabolism of cyanidin 3-O-beta-D-glucoside in rats. FEBS Lett. 1999 Apr 23;449(2-3):179-82.

Ulker S, McKeown PP, Bayraktutan U. Vitamins reverse endothelial dysfunction through regulation of eNOS and NAD(P)H oxidase activities. Hypertension. 2003 Mar;41(3):534-9.

Vallance P, Collier J, Moncada S. Nitric oxide synthesised from L-arginine mediates endothelium dependent dilatation in human veins in vivo. Cardiovasc Res. 1989 Dec;23(12):1053-7.

van den Berg BM, Nieuwdorp M, Stroes ES, Vink H. Glycocalyx and endothelial (dys) function: from mice to men. Pharmacol Rep. 2006;58 Suppl:75-80.

Vanhoutte PM. How to assess endothelial function in human blood vessels. J Hypertens. 1999 Aug;17(8):1047-58.

Vanhoutte PM. Endothelial control of vasomotor function: from health to coronary disease. Circ J. 2003 Jul;67(7):572-5.

Vanhoutte PM, Feletou M, Taddei S. Endothelium-dependent contractions in hypertension. Br J Pharmacol. 2005 Feb;144(4):449-58.

Vassalle C, Domenici C, Lubrano V, L'Abbate A. Interaction between nitric oxide and cyclooxygenase pathways in endothelial cells. J Vasc Res. 2003 Sep-Oct;40(5):491-9.

Vaziri ND, Ni Z, Oveisi F, Trnavsky-Hobbs DL. Effect of antioxidant therapy on blood pressure and NO synthase expression in hypertensive rats. Hypertension. 2000 Dec;36(6):957-64.

Verma S, Anderson TJ. Fundamentals of endothelial function for the clinical cardiologist. Circulation. 2002 Feb 5;105(5):546-9.

Vita JA, Keaney JF Jr. Endothelial function: a barometer for cardiovascular risk? Circulation. 2002 Aug 6;106(6):640-2.

Vita JA, Treasure CB, Nabel EG, McLenachan JM, Fish RD, Yeung AC, Vekshtein VI, Selwyn AP, Ganz P. Coronary vasomotor response to acetylcholine relates to risk factors for coronary artery disease. Circulation. 1990 Feb;81(2):491-7.

Vitaglione P, Donnarumma G, Napolitano A, Galvano F, Gallo A, Scalfi L, Fogliano V. Protocatechuic acid is the major human metabolite of cyanidinglucosides. J Nutr. 2007 Sep;137(9):2043-8.

Vizioli EO, Spadin MD, Corrêa FM, Viaro F, Evora PR, Chies AB. Acetylcholineinduced aortic relaxation studied in salbutamol treated rats. J Smooth Muscle Res. 2005 Oct;41(5):271-81.

Xiao J, Pang PK. Does a general alteration in nitric oxide synthesis system occur in spontaneously hypertensive rats? Am J Physiol. 1994 Jan;266(1 Pt 2):H272-8.

Wang J, Mazza G. Inhibitory effects of anthocyanins and other phenolic compounds on nitric oxide production in LPS/IFN-gamma-activated RAW 264.7 macrophages. J Agric Food Chem. 2002 Feb 13;50(4):850-7.

Whitesall SE, Hoff JB, Vollmer AP, D'Alecy LG. Comparison of simultaneous measurement of mouse systolic arterial blood pressure by radiotelemetry and tail-cuff methods. Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol. 2004 Jun;286(6):H2408-15.

Wu X, Beecher GR, Holden JM, Haytowitz DB, Gebhardt SE, Prior RL. Concentrations of anthocyanins in common foods in the United States and estimation of normal consumption. J Agric Food Chem. 2006 May 31;54(11):4069-75.

Wu X, Cao G, Prior RL. Absorption and metabolism of anthocyanins in elderly women after consumption of elderberry or blueberry. J Nutr. 2002 Jul;132(7):1865-71.

Xu JW, Ikeda K, Yamori Y. (a) Upregulation of endothelial nitric oxide synthase by cyanidin-3-glucoside, a typical anthocyanin pigment. Hypertension. 2004 Aug;44(2):217-22.

Xu JW, Ikeda K, Yamori Y. (b) Cyanidin-3-glucoside regulates phosphorylation of endothelial nitric oxide synthase. FEBS Lett. 2004 Sep 10;574(1-3):176-80.

Yamori Y. Development of the spontaneously hypertensive rat and of various spontaneous rat models and their implications. Jong WD. ed. Handbook of hypertension: experimental and genetic model of hypertension, Vol.4. 1984 Elsevier Science.

Yan X, Murphy BT, Hammond GB, Vinson JA, Neto CC. Antioxidant activities and antitumor screening of extracts from cranberry fruit (Vaccinium macrocarpon). J Agric Food Chem. 2002 Oct 9;50(21):5844-9.

Yang D, Félétou M, Boulanger CM, Wu HF, Levens N, Zhang JN, Vanhoutte PM. Oxygen-derived free radicals mediate endothelium-dependent contractions to acetylcholine in aortas from spontaneously hypertensive rats. Br J Pharmacol. 2002 May;136(1):104-10.

Yang D, Félétou M, Levens N, Zhang JN, Vanhoutte PM. A diffusible substance(s) mediates endothelium-dependent contractions in the aorta of SHR. Hypertension. 2003 Jan;41(1):143-8.

Yen TT, Yu PL, Roeder H, Willard PW. A genetic study of hypertension in Okamoto-Aoki spontaneously hypertensive rats. Heredity. 1974 Dec;33(3):309-16.

Yi W, Akoh CC, Fischer J, Krewer G. Absorption of anthocyanins from blueberry extracts by caco-2 human intestinal cell monolayers. J Agric Food Chem. 2006 Jul 26;54(15):5651-8.

Youdim KA, McDonald J, Kalt W, Joseph JA. Potential role of dietary flavonoids in reducing microvascular endothelium vulnerability to oxidative and inflammatory insults. J Nutr Biochem. 2002 May;13(5):282-288.

Youdim KA, Shukitt-Hale B, MacKinnon S, Kalt W, Joseph JA. Polyphenolics enhance red blood cell resistance to oxidative stress: in vitro and in vivo. Biochim Biophys Acta. 2000 Sep 1;1523(1):117-22.

Young JB, Mullen D, Landsberg L. Caloric restriction lowers blood pressure in the spontaneously hypertensive rat. Metabolism. 1978 Dec;27(12):1711-4

Young JF, Nielsen SE, Haraldsdóttir J, Daneshvar B, Lauridsen ST, Knuthsen P, Crozier A, Sandström B, Dragsted LO. Effect of fruit juice intake on urinary quercetin excretion and biomarkers of antioxidative status. Am J Clin Nutr. 1999 Jan;69(1):87-94.

Zalba G, San José G, Moreno MU, Fortuño MA, Fortuño A, Beaumont FJ, Díez J. (a) Oxidative stress in arterial hypertension: role of NAD(P)H oxidase. Hypertension. 2001 Dec 1;38(6):1395-9.

Zalba G, Beaumont FJ, San José G, Fortuño A, Fortuño MA, Díez J. (b) Is the balance between nitric oxide and superoxide altered in spontaneously hypertensive rats with endothelial dysfunction? Nephrol Dial Transplant. 2001;16 Suppl 1:2-5.

Zenebe W, Pechánová O, Andriantsitohaina R. Red wine polyphenols induce vasorelaxation by increased nitric oxide bioactivity. Physiol Res. 2003;52(4):425-32.

APPENDIX

Arterial Functional Property Experiments

PROTOCOL: Two Ach dose-response curves

Preload application (1,5 g for 3mm arterial ring) **Preconditioning:** Ach 17 μ l 10⁻⁵M (10⁻⁸M in the tissue bath) Phe 17 μ l 10⁻⁵M (10⁻⁸M in the tissue bath)

Inhibitors: MFA 17 μ I 10⁻²M (10⁻⁵ in the tissue bath)



• Wash out 4-5x.

• Inhibitors: L-NMMA 17 μ l 10⁻¹M (10⁻⁴ in the tissue bath) MFA 17 μ l 10⁻²M (10⁻⁵ in the tissue bath)

L-NMMA 17 μl 10 ⁻¹ Μ	L-NMMA 17 μl 10 ⁻¹ Μ	L-NMMA 17 μΙ 10 ⁻¹ M MFA 17 μΙ 10 ⁻² M	L-NMMA 17 μl 10 ⁻¹ M MFA 17 μl 10 ⁻² M
• 25 min			

- <u>25 min</u>
- Readjust to 0 g.
- <u>5 min</u>

Precontraction: Phe 17 μ l 10⁻³M (10⁻⁶M in the tissue bath) ~10 min

2nd Ach curve

- 1. Ach 17 μ I 10⁻⁶M (10⁻⁹M in the tissue bath) –<u>6 min</u>
- 2. Ach 51 μ l 10⁻⁶M (3x10⁻⁹M in the tissue bath) –<u>6 min</u>
- 3. Ach 17 µl 10⁻⁵M (10⁻⁸M in the tissue bath) $-\underline{6 \text{ min}}$
- 4. Ach 51 µl 10⁻⁵M ($3x10^{-8}$ M in the tissue bath) <u>-6 min</u>
- 5. Ach 17 μ l 10⁻⁴M (10⁻⁷M in the tissue bath) <u>6 min</u>
- 6. Ach 51 µl 10⁻⁴M ($3x10^{-7}$ M in the tissue bath) –6 min

7. Ach 17 μ l 10⁻³M (10⁻⁶M in the tissue bath) –<u>6 min</u> 8. Ach 51 μ l 10⁻³M (3x10⁻⁶M in the tissue bath) –<u>6 min</u>

BIOGRAPHY OF THE AUTHOR

Aleksandra S. Kristo was born in Sarande, Albania on August 30, 1978. She was raised in Sarande, Albania and later on in Ioannina, Greece and graduated from Eleousa Ioanninon High School in 1996. She attended Harokopio University of Athens and graduated in 2004 with a Bachelor's degree in Human Nutrition and Dietetics. She entered the graduate program at the University of Maine in Summer 2006 with a scholarship from the Greek State Scholarship Foundation (IKY) and an International Student Award from the University of Maine. Aleksandra is a candidate for the Master of Science degree in Food Science and Human Nutrition from the University of Maine in August, 2008.